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WEB CHAPTER A: DISCLOSURE, 
ACCOUNTING, AND AUDIT 

 

A: DISCLOSURE 
 

I Introduction: The functions of disclosure 

1 Facilitating transactions 
 
In several Chapters of this book we have encountered specific requirements imposed upon 
companies to disclose information about themselves. For example, in our consideration of the 
landmark case of Salomon v Salomon in Chapter 2, we saw that, for both the Court of Appeal 
and House of Lords, the existence of a publicly available register of debentures containing 
information about the first priority debenture held by Mr Salomon was an important 
consideration.  For the House of Lords the public availability of this information allowed the 
trade creditors to incorporate the fact of the existence of the debenture into their decision as 
to whether or not to do business with the company and into their terms of trade. Today, 
section 743 of the Act provides for the public inspection of a register of debentures kept by a 
company

1
 and section 876 of the 2006 Act requires that companies maintain a register of 

charges. The registers are available for inspection to any person on the payment of a nominal 
fee.

2
  We saw in Chapters 3 and 4 that a company’s constitution, as well as any amendments 

to the constitution, are publicly available and that third parties entering into a relationship with 
the company may, depending on the nature and materiality of the transaction, wish to review 
the constitution to ensure that the person entering into the transaction on behalf of the 
company is authorized to do so.  These two examples highlight a primary function of 
corporate disclosure, namely to facilitate a third party’s assessment of the risks associated 
with entering into a transaction with the company and his determination of the terms upon 
which he would be willing to enter into the transaction. 

 
The importance of particular categories or types of information to third parties who contract 
with the company, as well as the extent to, and the direct and indirect ways in, which that 
information is relied upon, will vary depending on the nature of the contracting third party or 
investor in question. A bank considering making a large loan to the company will pay close 
and informed regard to the information provided to it. A trade creditor may elect to ignore the 
information given the transaction costs of gathering and digesting the information; preferring 
to make a general bad debt adjustment to its pricing for all its creditors.

3
 In relation to the 

capital markets, retail investors may not themselves gather and digest the available 

                                                 
1
  Note that debenture is defined in the Act to include also ‘debentures’ that do not 

involve a charge on the company’s assets (section 738 CA 2006). 
 
2
  Section 744 and Section 877 CA 2006. Members and existing creditors have access 

to the register without charge.  The rules on the registration of, and the priority given 
to, different charges are set forth in Part 25 Chapter 1 of the Act. We do not consider 
these rules in depth here. 

 
3
  On adjusting creditor processes see Chapter 18 pp 772-774. 
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information on a company. However, in relation to shares traded in efficient capital markets,
4
 

investors purchase shares at a price that incorporates the value implications of this disclosed 
information. It is, therefore, not necessary for each investor himself to gather and analyse this 
information: in an efficient capital market the buying and selling activities of smart investors 
will move the market price to the correct price to reflect the disclosed information. However, 
the efficiency of capital markets is at best only semi-strong efficient – that is they incorporate 
only the information that has been made publicly available about the company. The more 
demanding the market place and company law is about the extent to which companies must 
disclose information, the more accurate the market’s pricing of the shares will be.

5
   

                                                 
4
  In several instances in this book we have made reference to the idea that capital 

markets are efficient. This idea is that capital markets incorporate the information that 
is made available to them into the price of a company’s shares. Proponents of this 
idea argue that the markets are ‘semi-strong’ efficient; that is, they incorporate into 
the price of shares all publicly available information, but not privately-held information, 
about the company (See E. Fama, ‘Efficient Capital Markets: A Review of Theory and 
Empirical Work (1970) 25 Journal of Finance 383. E. Fama, ‘Efficient Capital Markets 
II’ (1991) 46 Journal of Finance 1575). This efficiency idea is known as the ‘efficient 
capital markets hypothesis’. The hypothesis does not assume that everyone buying 
and selling shares is aware of the available public information and that they assess 
the relevance of the information for the price of the shares, rather it assumes that 
there are enough market participants who are ‘smart enough’ and in control of 
sufficient wealth to move the shares in the right direction if uninformed traders move 
the share price in the wrong direction. If the price of the share is too high (according 
to an informed assessment of the publicly available information) then these smart 
participants will sell those shares or sell those shares ‘short’, which involves selling a 
share you have borrowed (and intend to return) in anticipation that its value will drop. 
If the price of the share is too low in light of the available information the smart 
investors will buy the shares, which in their view are trading cheaply. This selling and 
buying activity will over time move the share price towards a price which incorporates 
the publicly available information. Importantly, one might ask: who are these smart 
participants? There are several possibilities in this regard: highly informed and skilled 
investors investing their own money; highly informed and skilled investors investing 
other peoples' money, for example hedge funds; or investors (eg mutual funds or 
pension funds) who themselves are not very informed but rely on the analysis and 
reports produced by market professionals known as securities or research analysts. 
Securities or research analysts are individuals, trained in the art of financial and 
business analysis, who write reports on companies and make recommendations to 
investors about whether to buy or sell shares in those companies. There are two 
primary types of analysts: sell-side analysts and buy-side analysts. Sell-side analysts 
are typically employed by a broker – a person who executes trades in shares - 
investment banks often provide brokerage services. The brokers provide the research 
reports to their clients who may then buy the shares. Buy-side analysts are employed 
by fund managers, who manage the institutional investor funds, and they make 
recommendations to managers about which shares to buy. Analysis is expensive and 
analysts only cover a limited number of companies. This means not every listed 
company is subject to coverage by a research analyst.  

 
5
  This statement assumes that semi-strong efficiency is an empirical fact not simply a 

theoretical possibility. But are markets really semi-strong efficient? Certainly events in 
the financial markets over the past two decades would not appear to support the 
efficient markets idea. Both the technology bubble in the late 1990s and the recent 
credit crisis involved considerable volatility in stock prices and created a widely-held 
perception among sophisticated market participants and the financial press that 
markets were inaccurately pricing available information. However, the commitment of 
many scholars to this idea has weathered previous episodes of such volatility (see for 
example the stock market ‘crash’ of 1987 - R.J. Shiller, Market Volatility (MIT, 1990).  
Although it is important to note in this regard that such episodes have spawned 
significant nuances and adjustments to the hypothesis (For example, ‘noise theory’ 
on which see L. Summers, ‘Does the Market Rationally Reflect Fundamental Values? 



D. Kershaw: Company Law in Context: Text and Materials, 2
nd

 edition 

 

© Oxford University Press, 2013. All rights reserved. 

3 

 

2 Monitoring existing relationships 
 
The second primary function of disclosure of corporate information is to facilitate the 
monitoring of existing and ongoing relationships. Most importantly, and obviously, are a 
company’s relationships with its creditors and shareholders. Persons who have provided 
credit to the company, especially when such credit is provided over a long period of time, 
require information about the company’s performance and activities in order to assess the 
ongoing risks associated with their credit exposure to the company.  The creditors must also 
ensure that they are in a position to act quickly should they need to take any steps to secure 
their position, such as enforcing any security over the company’s assets or taking any steps 
to wind-up the company.  For shareholders, disclosure facilitates the shareholders’ 
assessment of company performance and the management’s stewardship of the company.  
This assessment, if unfavourable, could result in action by shareholders to change the 
membership of the board or the governance structure of the company.  However, in a widely-
held company with rationally apathetic shareholders, the shareholders may prefer to exit their 
investment rather than actively engage with and discipline management. For such 
shareholders, disclosure of information about the company is central to a shareholder’s 
decision to exit or hold the investment.   

 

3 ‘Sunlight is the best disinfectant’ 
 
Where business activities, which although potentially favourable to or neutral to the company, 
run a risk of damaging the company, requiring disclosure about the details of such activities 
may ensure that the risk of damage to the company is reduced. Consider, for example, self-
dealing

6
 or related party

7
 transactions which are inherently risky from a company’s 

perspective as the self-dealing director or controlling shareholder may have exercised 
influence to craft terms favourable to him and detrimental to the company. Requiring 
information disclosure about the terms of such transactions enables shareholders and market 
actors to assess whether or not such terms are favourable to the company. This information 
will enable shareholders to act to discipline managers if the self-serving behaviour of the 
directors is sufficiently egregious to enable rational apathy and collective action problems to 
be overcome. Such information will also affect investors’ assessment of the price of the 
shares – a discount will be made to take account of this transaction and the likelihood of such 
future transactions. Such information is, therefore, essential to enabling the markets in 
managerial services, the capital market and the market for corporate control to sanction and 
restrain managerial misbehaviour. Required disclosure, rather than the prohibition, of such 
activities is the best disinfectant

8
 as it allows beneficial transactions to proceed but facilitates 

governance and market mechanisms, which sanction misbehaviour. In relation to self-dealing, 
as we saw in Chapters 13 and 14, UK company law makes significant use of the disclosure 
mechanism both ex-ante and connected to specific corporate approval requirements, such as 

                                                                                                                                            
(1986) 41 Journal of Finance 601; B. De Long, A. Achleifer, L. Summers, R. 
Waldman, ‘Noise Trade Risks in Financial Markets (1990) 98 Journal of Political 
Economy 703). Economists themselves remain divided (A. Lo, ‘Efficient Markets 
Hypothesis’ in L. Blume and S. Durlauf, The New Palgrave: A Dictionary of 
Economics (2nd edn, Palgrave McMillan, 2007). 

 
6
  See Chapter 13. 

 
7
  See Chapter 16. 

 
8
  In his book Other People’s Money: and how the bankers use it (New York; FA 

Stokers, 1914) Louis Brandeis, who was subsequently a Justice of US Supreme 
Court, memorably observed that ‘publicity is justly commended as a remedy for social 
and industrial diseases. Sunlight is said to be the best of disinfectants’. 
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disinterested shareholder approval, to enable the transaction to proceed,
9
 but also on a stand 

alone ex-post basis unconnected to approval.
10

  

 

4 Social responsibility 
 
Company activities touch all aspects of our lives: at work, at study, and at home. Corporate 
activities and the products produced and marketed by corporations affect and form the social 
and physical environment within which we live: the quality of the air we breathe; the safety of 
our everyday activities; the extent and quality of our leisure time; many of our desires, our 
neuroses, our dreams.  As we discussed in detail in Chapter 10, pursuant to section 172 of 
the Companies Act 2006, directors of a commercial company when exercising corporate 
power must act in the interests of present and future shareholders.  Section 172 also provides 
for a set of interests and constituencies to which the directors must have regard, including 
employees and the environment, when so acting. However, such interests and constituencies 
should be considered only to the extent that having regard to them promotes shareholders’ 
interests.  UK company law does not adopt a multiple-interest or pluralist approach to 
corporate interest that we see in many US and European jurisdictions.

11
  

 
To assess whether corporate actions taken by management and the board are consistent with 
the board’s obligation to have regard to these other interests and constituencies when acting 
in the shareholders’ interests, shareholders require information about the effect of the 
company’s business activities on the affected interests and constituencies. For example, an 
alcoholic beverage company, aware of the threat to the sales of its products from government 
regulation responsive to the detrimental health and social effects of excessive drinking, needs 
to inform its shareholders of the steps it has taken to encourage socially responsible drinking 
in order to hold the threat of government intervention at bay. In this regard, information 
disclosure about the impact of the company’s activities on the social and physical 
environment is important to enabling the shareholders to assess the company’s performance 
and its managers’ stewardship of the company.   
 
Although UK company law has rejected the multiple-interest approach to corporate purpose 
that would place non-shareholder constituency interests on a par with shareholder interests, 
disclosure of the effects of corporate activities on employees and the social and physical 
environment need not be viewed through, and limited by, the lens of the enlightened 
shareholder value edict. The problems identified with multiple-interest models of corporate 
purpose that have found fertile soil in the UK debate

12
 do not apply where a separate broader 

disclosure obligation is coupled with an enlightened shareholder value corporate purpose - 
although, clearly a broader disclosure obligation would be more costly to the company as it 
would enhance the costs of information gathering and dissemination. But what would be the 
benefit of a broader disclosure obligation aimed not merely at shareholders but the broader 
public that interact with, and are affected in different ways by, corporate activity?   One could 
argue that such disclosure would facilitate the efficient allocation of resources by enabling 
individuals to more fully satisfy their preferences when they interact with the companies: when 
they choose to accept employment with a company; when they buy shares in a company; or 
when they buy a company’s products. The nature of the company - the way it treats its 

                                                 
9
  For example, the substantial property transaction regime set forth in sections 190 – 

195 of the 2006 Act; Listing Rule 11 for listed companies and the common law rules 
on the approving of conflicts arising out of self-dealing transaction and corporate 
opportunities – see further Chapters 13 and 14.  

 
10

  For example, the related party disclosures required by IAS 24 – see further Chapter 
13. 

 
11

  See Chapter 10 pp 381-385. 
 
12

  See pp 357-386. 
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employees, in the UK and abroad; its approach to reducing greenhouse gases; its sense of 
corporate social responsibility for the negative impact of its activities – may be valued aspects 
of some, although not all, suppliers, customers, creditors, and shareholder’s worldview, and 
the preferences of such market actors would be to transact with socially and environmentally 
more progressive companies. To enable the satisfaction of such preferences the companies 
would have to disclose adequate information to facilitate such assessments.Of course all the 
suppliers and customers who would view such information as relevant to the satisfaction of 
their preferences may not personally digest the information themselves. More accessible 
filters may be provided by non-governmental organizations, pressure groups, and commercial 
third party information processers who rate company performance according to specified 
social metrics, as well as by the media, both new and old. In this regard, the broader 
production of information about a company’s corporate social responsibility is merely one 
aspect of the role that disclosure plays in facilitating efficient transactions.  
 
Alternatively, a non-market based justification for the broader production of this information 
could rely on the rationales articulated by Professors Dodd and Parkinson to support a 
multiple-interest to corporate purpose,

13
 namely with power comes responsibility or that a 

precondition of wielding corporate power is socially responsible behaviour.  From this view the 
justification for requiring the production of this information is that those affected by the 
exercise of power must be in a position to determine whether companies are acting with the 
level of responsibility that as a society we expect from them, or to measure the reality of their 
actions against their claims to be socially responsible actors. From this perspective, sunlight 
is the best disinfectant for cleansing our society of corporate irresponsibility.

14
 

 

II  Mechanisms of disclosure 
 

Before we look in detail at the types of information that UK companies must disclose and the 
rules that require this disclosure, it is important for us to understand the different mechanisms 
through which this information is made available to existing shareholders, existing and 
potential contracting parties and investors, and the public at large. There are five different 
mechanisms that provide for the dissemination of, and access to, the information that we shall 
analyse in this chapter.   
 

1 The Registrar of Companies and ‘the register’ 
 
The Companies Act’s primary means of regulating the dissemination of the information which 
it requires to be made publicly available is by requiring that companies deliver

15
 such 

information to the Registrar of Companies
16

 in the form set forth in the Act
17

 as well as in 
accordance with any form and delivery requirements provided by the Registrar.

18
  

                                                 
13

  See pp 366-371. 
 
14

  For an excellent review of the issues surrounding social and environmental reporting 
see C. Villiers, Corporate Reporting and Company Law (CUP, 2006), 228-262. 

 
15

  A document is deemed delivered when it is ‘received by the Registrar’ (section 1071 
CA 2006). Delivery may be made in hard copy or electronically (see section 1070 CA 
2006). 

 
16

  The authority, and regulation of, the Registrar of Companies is set forth in Part 26 of 
the Companies Act 2006. There are separate Registrars of Companies for England 
and Wales, Scotland, and Northern Ireland. 

 
17

  The general delivery requirements are set forth in section 1072 CA 2006. 
 
18

  Section 1068 provides the Registrar with authority to make such requirements. 
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Such information delivered to the company, together with the company’s certificate of 
incorporation, is maintained by the Registrar of Companies in ‘the register’

19
 and, subject to 

certain limited exceptions,
20

 the documentation contained in the register is available for public 
inspection

21
 and copies of those documents may be taken by the person inspecting the 

register.
22

 Today the register can be searched and copies obtained electronically using 
Companies House’s WebCHeck facility.

23
 In addition to the public availability of the register, 

the Companies Registrar is required by the Act to notify the public of the receipt of certain 
documents specified in the Act

24
 by publishing a notice in the London Gazette relating to the 

receipt of such documentation. The London Gazette, the UK’s oldest news publication, is the 
official publication of record in the UK providing for statutory and regulatory notices and 
announcements.   
 
As we have seen at different junctures during the course of the book, and considered further 
in Section A.III below, the Act provides for the delivery of information following specific 
corporate events such as the change of director, the allotment of shares, a reduction of 
capital, or repurchase of shares.  In addition, the Act provides for an annual update of certain 
types of information by the requirement to deliver to the Companies Registrar an annual 
return. The annual return contains general information about the company, its activities, and 
its officers and directors, and more detailed information about a company’s share capital, the 
members of the company and their shareholdings.

25
 Most of this information is available from 

other public documents filed with the Registrar of Companies. The advantage of the annual 
return for any member or third party wishing to carry out due diligence on the company is 
that it brings together this information in one document which is up-to-date as of the date the 
return is made-up.

26
  

                                                 
19

  Section 1080 CA 2006. 
 
20

  Section 1087 CA 2006 provides a list of such excluded information. Regarding 
directors’ residential addresses in this regard see section A.III.1 below.  

 
21

  Section 1085 CA 2006. 
 
22

  Section 1086 CA 2006. To ensure that the cost of such copies does not deter the 
taking of the copies, section 1086(2) of the Act provides that the cost of the copies 
cannot exceed the administrative cost.   

 
23

 
http://wck2.companieshouse.gov.uk/73f22aec8dbeb254af94f33413e541eb/wcframe?
name=accessCompanyInfo  

 
24

  Section 1077 CA 2006. The documents requiring Gazette notification are set forth in 
section 1078(2) CA 2006 which implements the disclosure requirements set forth in 
Article 3 of the European Union’s First Company Law Directive (68/151/EEC). 

 
25

  Sections 855-857 CA 2006; The Companies Act 2006 (Annual Return and Service 
Addresses) Regulations 2008 no. 3000. 

 
26

  Pursuant to section 854 of the Act a company must deliver an annual return 
containing the prescribed information up to a date which is no later than the ‘return 
date’. The return date is either (i) the anniversary of the company’s date of 
incorporation or (ii) the anniversary of the date up to which the previous year’s annual 
report was made, provided that such annual return was delivered in accordance with 
the Act. The company must deliver the annual return within 28 days of the date it is 
made up to.  The failure to file a return can result in the commission of an offence 
(section 858). Furthermore, the failure to file an annual return may be a ground to 
strike the company off the Register. A persistent failure to deliver annual returns 
could also provide a ground to disqualify a person from acting as a director pursuant 
to section 3 of the Company Director’s Disqualification Act 1986 and is also relevant 
to the determination of ‘unfitness to act as a director’ pursuant to that Act (Schedule 

http://wck2.companieshouse.gov.uk/73f22aec8dbeb254af94f33413e541eb/wcframe?name=accessCompanyInfo
http://wck2.companieshouse.gov.uk/73f22aec8dbeb254af94f33413e541eb/wcframe?name=accessCompanyInfo
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2 Company registers 
  

The second means of making information available to both members and the public at large is 
through the Act's requirements that companies themselves keep registers of information, for 
example: a register of members;

27
 a register or charges;

28
 and a register of directors.

29
  These 

registers are updated by the company upon the occurrence of any relevant changes and are 
typically available for inspection by members and by any other person on the payment of a 
fee. If the register is not available for inspection at the company’s registered office then 
typically the Act requires that the company must inform the Companies Registrar where it is 
available for inspection.

30
  

 

3 The direct provision of information 
 
In relation to certain types of corporate information

31
 the Act requires that the information is 

provided directly by the company to the identified group. This is the case most importantly in 
the context of financial information and other reports produced annually by the company 
provided to members and debenture holders.

32
  

 

4 The web  
 
In relation to financial information and the reports produced annually by the company, 
discussed in section III and Part B below, section 430 of the 2006 Act provides for the 
dissemination and availability of the disclosed information by requiring quoted companies

33
 

                                                                                                                                            
1, Part 1, paragraph 4). For more detailed consideration of the annual return by this 
author see Oxford Annotated Companies Act (OUP 2011). 

 
27

  Section 113 CA 2006. 
 
28

  Section 876 CA 2006. 
 
29

  Section 162 CA 2006. 
 
30

  In relation to the register of members: section 114(2) CA 2006; in relation to the 
register of charges: section 877(3) CA 3006. Section 1136 authorizes the Secretary 
of State for Business to pass regulations on where the documents to be made 
available for inspection can be kept in addition to the registered office. Pursuant to 
this authority The Companies (Company Records) Regulations 2008/3006 were 
issued and provide that in addition to the registered office the documents may be 
available in a place in the part of the UK in which the company is registered provided 
that such alternative location has been notified to the Registrar. 

 
31

  Note here for the purposes of clarification that the disclosed information of concern to 
us in this Chapter is information about the company and its activities, not notifications 
provided by the company to shareholders about meetings and resolutions which are 
provided directly to the shareholders (or through website communication pursuant to 
Schedule 5 Part 4 CA 2006). 

 
32

  Section 431 CA 2006 (unquoted companies); section 432 CA 2006 (quoted 
companies). 

 
33

  Pursuant to section 385 CA 2006, a quoted company is a company admitted to the 
official list in the UK, listed in an EEA member state or listed or the New York Stock 
Exchange or traded on Nasdaq. 
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that provide access to the information on the company’s website.
34

  Note also that most 
companies far exceed the statutorily required web-disclosure requirements by including 
significant amounts of corporate information on their websites. Consider for example, 
Vodafone Plc’s website which in addition to the required financial information and reports 
contains significant amounts of governance and corporate social responsibility information as 
well as details of the corporate press releases made by Vodafone.

35
 

 

5 Regulated information services for listed companies 
 
Regulated Information Services, or RISs, are commercial organizations licensed by the 
Financial Services Authority to distribute information to the media and to the RIS’s subscriber 
base.  For Listed Companies the Listing Rules impose multiple disclosure obligations.  These 
disclosure obligations are satisfied by providing the information to a Regulated Information 
Service which then provides for the dissemination of that information to the media and its 
subscriber base. There are currently eight RISs which have been licensed by the FSA.

36
 For 

companies, Regulated Information Services provide a straightforward mechanism of 
complying with their disclosure obligations and a very rapid means of distributing this 
information to the market place. The Financial Conduct Authority (FCA)

37
 requires, as a 

condition of its licence, that RISs distribute 95% of the information provided to them within five 
minutes of electronic receipt.

38
  For subscribers, typically market professionals, required to sift 

and process significant amounts of corporate information, the companies licensed as RISs 
typically provide sophisticated tools to organize and manage this information.

39
 

 

 

III Corporate information categories 
 
For the purposes of organizing the types of information that a UK company must disclose, it is 
suggested that there are four categories of disclosed information: (i) core information about 
the nature and identity of the company, its members, and directors; (ii) historical financial 
information; (iii) narrative information about corporate performance and activities; and (iv) 
event and transaction specific information.  The purpose of this chapter is not to address 
every disclosure obligation made by the Companies Act, many of which have been addressed 

                                                 
34

  The FSA’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules also impose such an obligation: DTR 
6.3.5.  Specific web disclosure requirements are also imposed on listed companies by 
the Listing Rules: for example the announcement of a company’s annual and half-
yearly financial reports must indicate the web site from which the reports are available 
(DTR 6.3.5). 

 
35

  See http://www.vodafone.com/start/about_vodafone.html and 
http://www.vodafone.com/content/index/media/group_press_releases.html.  

 
36

  The system of multiple RISs was introduced in 2002 ending the prior monopoly 
position of the London Stock Exchange. For a list of the licensed RISs see  
http://fshandbook.info/FS/html/handbook/LR/App/3/1.  

 
37

  On April 1, 2013, the responsibilities of the former Financial Services Authority (FSA) 
were transferred to two separate bodies: the newly formed Financial Conduct 
Authority (FCA) and the Prudential Regulatory Authority (PRA). 

 
38

  Financial Services Authority, Criteria for Regulated Information Services (FSA, March 
20010) para. 3.14 available at: http://www.fca.org.uk/static/documents/ukla/fsa-
criteria-for-regulated-information-services.pdf  

 
39

  For an example of the services provided by the companies licensed as RISs see 
http://www.marketwire.com/.  

http://www.vodafone.com/start/about_vodafone.html
http://www.vodafone.com/content/index/media/group_press_releases.html
http://fshandbook.info/FS/html/handbook/LR/App/3/1
http://www.fca.org.uk/static/documents/ukla/fsa-criteria-for-regulated-information-services.pdf
http://www.fca.org.uk/static/documents/ukla/fsa-criteria-for-regulated-information-services.pdf
http://www.marketwire.com/
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elsewhere in the book. Rather the objective is to understand the nature of this information 
and, in relation to certain categories, to consider in detail the disclosure requirements and the 
regulation of the production of this information.  

 

1 The nature and identity of the company 
 
A first category of information is core information about the company itself. This would include 
the public availability of the company’s constitution;

40
 its name or a change of name;

41
 its 

corporate status as a company limited by shares or guarantee, or its status as a limited or 
unlimited liability company as set forth in a company’s certificate of incorporation.

42
 It would 

also include the address of its registered office.
43

  
 
In this category of information one would also include information about the company’s 
membership and the number and nature of the shares held by each member. As we observed 
in Chapter 17, following the allotment of shares, a company must file a return of allotment 
containing a statement of capital to the Registrar of Companies detailing the number of 
allotted shares as well as the rights attached to such shares.

44
 Pursuant to section 113 CA 

2006 the company is required to maintain a register of members containing the identity of the 
members, their addresses, and the number of shares held by the members. The register is 
available for inspection by members and by non-members on the payment of a fee

45
 following 

the procedure specified in section 116 CA 2006 which requires details of the purpose for 
which the requesting member/person intends to use the information.

46
 Details of a company’s 

share capital and membership is also contained in a company’s Annual Return.
47

 

                                                 
 
40

  Section 18(2) and section 26 CA 2006 requiring registration of non Model Articles and 
delivery of amended articles following amendment, respectively. 

 
41

  Sections 9 and 78 CA 2006. 
 
42

  Section 15(2) CA 2006. 
 
43

  Sections 9 and 87 CA 2006. 
 
44

  Section 555 CA 2006. 
 
45

  The fees payable are set forth in The Companies (Fees for Inspection and Copying of 
Company Records) Regulations 2007 N0 2612. 

 
46

  Pursuant to section 117, the Act also provides for a procedure to allow the company 
to refuse to provide access to the register where the company suspects that access 
to the register may not be for a ‘proper purpose’, for example, if the person seeking 
access wishes to access addresses of the shareholders in order to harass them for 
having purchased shares in the company as in that person’s view the company’s 
activities are immoral. Pursuant to section 119, the Act provides that it is an offence 
to ‘knowingly or recklessly’ provide misleading or false information in the request and 
an offence to provide the information to anyone where that person knows, or has 
reason to suspect, that the other person will use the information for an improper 
purpose. The offences are punishable by up to two years imprisonment and fines.
  

47
  The Companies Act 2006 (Annual Return and Service Addresses) Regulations 

2008/3000 and the Companies Act 2006 (Annual Returns) Regulations 2011/1487 
amended the Act by inserting sections 856A and B which provide for the disclosure of 
membership information.  The Act, as amended, distinguishes between traded and 
non-traded companies. If the company is not a traded company then, pursuant to 
Section 856A, all details of every member and, amongst others, information on the 
number of shares held by each member must be included in the Return. If the 
company is a traded company then, pursuant to Section 856B, the Annual return 
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Pursuant to section 162, companies are required to keep a register of directors containing 
prescribed particulars of all directors. This register is available for inspection by any member 
or any other person on the payment of a fee. Section 163 provides for the prescribed details 
of the directors including name and service address.  The Act also provides for the disclosure 
of the details set forth in the register of directors in the Company’s Annual Return.

48
  Pursuant 

to section 165, companies are also required to keep a register of directors’ residential 
addresses.  Previously under the Companies Act 1985 directors’ residential addresses were 
included in the Register of Directors and available for public inspection.

49
 In response to 

directors’ concerns about possible intimidation from individuals and groups that object to the 
company’s activities the Act now places residential addresses in a separate register that is 
not available for public inspection.

50
   

 
In addition to these disclosure obligations set forth in the Act, for listed companies the Listing 
Rules’ continuing obligations require listed companies to disclose information about the 
company’s directors and share and securities structure

51
 to a Regulatory Information Service. 

Consider for example, information about changes to the board of directors. Listing Rule 9.6.13 
requires notification to a RIS within five days of the appointment of a director and that the 
notification must include, amongst others: details of such appointed directors and other 
directorships; and details of any companies that entered receivership, compulsory liquidation, 
or administration

52
 whilst the director was an executive director of such company or within 

twelve months of being a director. Any such events which occur in relation to an existing 
director must also be notified to an RIS.

53
 

 

                                                                                                                                            
must contain details of only those members who own more than 5% of the issued 
shares of any class of the company’s shares, together with information on the number 
of shares held by such 5% members.  

 
48

  Section 855A CA 2006 inserted by The Companies Act 2006 (Annual Return and 
Service Addresses) Regulations 2008 which cross-reference sections 163 and 164 
CA 2006 (but not section 165). 

 
49

  Section 364 CA 1985.  
 
50

  Chapter 8 of Part 10 of the 2006 Act regulates the use of director residential address 
information which it defines as ‘protected information’ (section 240 CA 2006).  Section 
241 prevents the use by the company of this information except in communications 
with the directors, compliance with the 2006 Act, or court order. Section 242 requires 
the Companies Registrar to omit this information from the register if it is provided to it 
in any document (see also section 1087(b) CA 2006). Section 243 permits certain 
uses by the Registrar of this information such as provision to another public authority 
or to a credit reference agency (defined in section 243(7) CA 2006); although 
directors may object to the Registrar’s provision of this information to a credit 
reference agency (section 243(4) CA 2006 and The Companies (Disclosure of 
Address) Regulations 2009/214 part 2).  

 
51

  On Companies Act disclosures following the allotment of shares see Chapter 17, p 
734 (section 55 CA 2006). Listing Rule disclosures in relation to capital structure are 
set forth in LR 9.6.4. 

 
52

  The list of such events set forth in LR 9.6.13(3) is much longer than set forth above 
including receiverships, creditors voluntary liquidations,  company voluntary 
arrangements, ‘or any composition or arrangement with its creditors generally or any 
class of its creditors’. 

 
53

  LR 9.6.14. 
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2 Historical financial information 
 
Our second category of information is historical financial information about the company’s 
performance and the extent to which its activities are funded by debt and equity. This 
information is set forth in the company’s financial statements: its profit and loss account (also 
referred to as an income statement) providing information on the company’s accrued income 
and expenditure; and a balance sheet providing information on the company’s assets, 
liabilities, and shareholder equity. This historical financial information informs shareholders 
and the market place about the company’s historical ability to generate cash and the growth 
and development of the company’s business.  For a creditor, for example, this information is 
central to an assessment of the likelihood that all amounts lent to the company and interest 
payable on those amounts will be repaid. For a potential equity investor or an existing 
shareholder this information is central to her assessment of the expected return on an equity 
investment. We shall defer our detailed examination of the nature, production, and regulation 
of this information to Parts B and C of this chapter. 

 

3 Narrative information about the company 
 
Historical financial information allows a potential investor or creditor to make judgments and 
draw inferences about the likely future performance of the company – notable increased 
profitability over the past three years may, depending on the causes of such increased 
profitability,

54
 bode well for the future. However, more information is needed for the investor or 

creditor to make an informed assessment about the reasons for past successes (or lack 
thereof) and to make an assessment about likely future performance.  This leads us to a 
fourth general category of information: narrative information about the company, which could 
include: information about the state and development of the markets in which the company 
operates; its strategy; and the identification of specific risks that might, if realized, negatively 
impact on the company’s performance.  This information is not available from financial 
numbers and must be separately provided by the company in narrative form.  
 
The nature of the narrative information provided by companies is, in particular amongst all our 
categories of information, dependent on the regulator’s view of the function of disclosure: 
whether narrative information is viewed as a supplement for enabling members, investors, 
and other contracting parties to assess the state of the company; the risks associated with 
entering into a contract with the company; and the stewardship of the company; or whether, in 
addition, this narrative information also functions directly to provide other non-shareholder 
constituencies and interest groups with information about the effects of company activity on 
those groups and interests. Our analysis of this information, the production and regulation of 
which is closely connected with the production and regulation of financial information, will be 
deferred to Part B of this chapter. 

 

4  Event and transaction-specific information 
 
A fourth category of information is information about specific events or transactions entered 
into by the company or its directors. This information may be provided ex-ante to obtain 
approval for a transaction in question or ex-post unconnected to any approval requirement. In 
relation to transactions this would include: information on the security interests granted over 
company assets as a result of credit transactions;

55
 details on transactions with the 

                                                 
54

  Accurate accounting information will allow the proximate causes of such increased 
profitability to be identified and analysed – for example, increased income or stable 
income but firmer control over the company’s costs. 

 
55

  Part 25 Chapter CA 2006. Section 860 CA 2006 requires registration of a charge and 
delivery of the instrument creating the charge to the Companies Registrar; section 
869 CA 2006 requires the Companies Registrar to keep a register of charges in 
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directors,
56

 including the terms of an executive director's employment;
57

 details of transactions 
with substantial shareholders;

58
 or information on the entering into significant transactions.

59
  

These ex-ante and ex-post transaction specific disclosures are dealt with throughout the book 
and we shall not provide an exhaustive list of these disclosure requirements here.  
 
In relation to listed companies, the FSA's Disclosure and Transparency Rules – which 
implement the Market Abuse

60
 and Transparency

61
 Directives – also require ‘real time’ 

disclosure of any events and information which ‘would be likely to be used by a reasonable 
investor as part of the basis of his investment decisions and would therefore be likely to have 
a significant effect on the price of’ the company’s shares and other securities. Such 
information where it is not generally available is classified by the Disclosure and 
Transparency Rules as ‘inside information’

62
 and must be disclosed to a RIS ‘as soon as 

possible’
63

 unless the company can demonstrate that the disclosure should be delayed to 
protect its ‘legitimate interests’ and provided that: the failure to disclose the information does 
not mislead the public; that any person in receipt of the information owes the company a duty 
of confidentiality to the company; and that the company can ensure the confidentiality of the 
information.

64
 Legitimate interests are not defined by the Listing Rules although non-

exhaustive examples are given,
65

 for example, where ongoing contractual negotiations would 
be detrimentally affected by the disclosure of the negotiations. 

                                                                                                                                            
relation to each company, which is open to inspection ‘by any person’ (section 869(7) 
CA 2006). 

 
56

  For ex-ante approval in relation to a substantial property transaction (190-195 CA 
2006) or Listing Rule 11 related Party Transactions. For ex-post disclosure see 
International Accounting Standard 24: Related Party Disclosures. See further Chapter 
13.  

 
57

  Part 15 CA 2006 and Schedule 8 of ‘The Large and Medium Sized Companies and 
Group (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008/410’. 

 
58

  LR 11 (ex-ante) Related Party Transactions or International Accounting Standard 24: 
Related Party Disclosures (ex post). 

 
59

  LR 10.  
 
60

  Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council of 28 January 2003 on 
insider dealing and market manipulation (market abuse) (No 2003/6/EC). 

 
61

  Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council on the harmonization of 
transparency requirements in relation to information about issuers whose securities 
are admitted to trading on a regulated market (No. 2004/109/EC). 

 
62

  DTR 2.2.4. DTR 2.2.6 provides further guidance on applying this test including a list 
of information types that are ‘likely to be considered relevant to a reasonable 
investor's decision’, including ‘information which affects: (1) the assets and liabilities 
of the issuer; (2) the performance, or the expectation of the performance, of the 
issuer’s business; (3) the financial condition of the issuer; (4) the course of the 
issuer’s business; (5) major new developments in the business of the issuer or 
(6) information previously disclosed to the market.’ 

 
63

  DTR 2.2.1 and 2.2.9. 
 
64

  DTR 2.5.1. Where confidentiality is breached disclosure must be made as soon as 
possible – DTR 2.6.2. If market rumours or press speculation have accurately 
identified the inside information, disclosure will typically have to be made – DTR 
2.7.2. 

 
65

  DTR 2.5.3. 
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With regard to directors, the Disclosure and Transparency Rules also require disclosure of the 
director’s dealing in the company’s securities and derivative instruments related to such 
instruments. The disclosure relates to a person ‘carrying out managerial responsibilities’, 
which is defined as a director or senior executive, and requires that within four business days 
of the transaction the company is informed of the transaction.

66
 The company is then required 

to provide an RIS with the details of the transaction no later than the business day following 
the receipt of the information.

67
 Such information provides a useful signal to the market place 

about the director’s views of the ‘appropriateness’ of the company’s share price and her 
confidence in the company – if she buys shares then arguably it signals that the price is too 
low; if she sells that it is too high. Of course, such a signal is very ‘noisy’ as the underlying 
reasons for the director’s actions do not have to be disclosed

68
 and may not be clear. For 

example, the director may be forced to sell shares to fund her personal activities.   

 

IV Should disclosure be mandatory or optional? 
 
As is now clear, UK company law imposes significant disclosure requirements on companies 
of all types, whether public or private, large or small.  It is also clear, however, that the 
disclosure obligations for listed companies are more onerous than for private companies or 
public companies that are not listed. Furthermore, as we shall see in Parts B and C of this 
chapter, the financial and narrative reporting obligations vary as a function both of whether 
the company is listed or not and of the size of non-listed companies. All the disclosure 
obligations we have encountered, and will encounter, in this chapter are mandatory disclosure 
requirements whether imposed by the Companies Act 2006, Listing Rules, or the Disclosure 
and Transparency Rules. UK company law evidently does not trust companies to decide for 
themselves which types of information they should disclose or the extent of the disclosures.  
But why is this? The production and dissemination of information is costly for companies. We 
need to be sure, therefore, that the information that companies are required to disclose is 
relevant and useful to the users of the information. But are regulators well placed to identify 
such useful or relevant information? 
 
As we have noted at several junctures, many market actors are unlikely to obtain, analyse, 
and rely upon corporate disclosure. The transaction costs for trade creditors and 
unsophisticated investors may be too high to incentivise information gathering and analysis. 
On the other hand, sophisticated creditors will not part with their money – a bank loan or a 
purchase of shares – without being provided with detailed information about the company in 
all of the categories outlined in section A.III above. These sophisticated creditors are capable 
of dictating to companies the form and content of company information needed to make 
investment decisions. Why then do we simply not leave it up to market interactions between 
the company and market participants who value information to determine the types, form, and 
content of information that the company needs to produce and make available? Why is 
disclosure regulation in the UK, and in most other jurisdictions, imposed primarily through 
mandatory obligations? Some commentators have forcefully argued that such mandatory 
requirements are misguided. It is important for us to understand the contours of this debate, 
which is introduced through the extracts from Easterbrook and Fischel, and Coffee below. It 
should be noted, however, that today this is a debate that appears to have run out of steam 
and has come to rest at a place where there is widespread support for mandatory regimes. 

 
F.H. Easterbrook and D.R. Fischel, ‘Mandatory Disclosure and the 
Protection of Investors’ (1984) 70 Virginia Law Review 699 
 

                                                 
66

  DTR 3.1.2. 
 
67

  DTR 3.1.4. 
 
68

  On the details which must be disclosed, including price and volume, see DTR 3.1.3. 
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If disclosure is worthwhile to investors, the firm can profit by providing it. The firm is 

in privity with its investors, and… that firm and investors can strike a mutually 

beneficial bargain. A decision by the firm effectively ‘coordinates’ the acts of many 

investors who could not bargain directly. 

 

To see how this works, take a simple example of a firm that wants to issue new 

securities. The firm has a project (say, the manufacture of a new computer) that it 

expects to be profitable. If the firm simply asked for money without disclosing the 

project and managers involved, however, it would get nothing. Investors would assume 

the worst, because, they would reason that if the firm had anything good to say for itself 

it would do so. Silence means bad news. A firm with a good project, seeking to 

distinguish itself from a firm with a mediocre project (or no project at all), would 

disclose the optimal amount of information. That is, it would disclose more and more so 

long as the cost of disclosure (both direct costs of dissemination and indirect costs of 

giving information to rivals) was worthwhile to investors as a whole. 

 

The firm deals with all actual and prospective investors. Unlike an investor who deals 

only in a portion of a firm’s [shares], and thus cannot capture the full value of 

information, the firm controls all of its investments and can appropriate the full value of 

information. The firm that discloses more can sell its [shares] for more, indeed for as 

much more as the full value of all information. 

 

The process works for bad news as well as for good. Once the firm starts disclosing it 

cannot stop short of making any critical revelation, because investors always assume 

the worst. It must disclose the bad with the good, lest investors assume that the bad is 

even worse than it is. And the firm cannot stand on its say-so alone. Mere disclosure 

would be enough if the rule against fraud [the rule against providing misleading or non-

truthful information] were perfectly enforced, but it is not. Thus the firm uses the 

verification and certification devices [such as requiring outside auditors to verify the 

financial statements and managers owning shares in the company or share options to 

buy shares]. Given these devices, a rule compelling disclosure seems redundant, and if 

the fraud penalty and verification devices do not work, a rule compelling disclosure is 

not apt to be enforceable either. 

 

The principle of self-induced disclosure… applies to trading in the secondary market
[69]

 

as well as to the initial issuance of [shares]. The firm’s investors always want to be able 

to sell their [shares] in the aftermarket for the highest price. Their ability to do so 

depends on a flow of believable information (otherwise potential buyers reduce the bid 

prices, assuming the worst). For most information about a firm, the firm itself can 

create and distribute the knowledge at less cost than the shareholders, and the firm’s 

decision, because it reflects the value to all shareholders, will be correct at the margin. 

A firm that wants the highest possible price when it issues [shares] must take all cost-

justified steps to make the [shares] valuable in the aftermarket, so it must make a 

believable pledge to continue disclosing.  

 

The evidence bears this out. Firms have been disclosing the most important facts about 

themselves – and certifying these facts through third parties – as long as there have 

been firms. It is possible to trace the use of auditors back to the beginning of the 

corporation, and at the time the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, which created the 

requirement of annual disclosure by listed companies [in the United States], became 

law, every firm traded on the national markets made voluminous public disclosures 

                                                 
69

  The secondary market is the market in the company’s shares following the initial 
public offering of the shares. 
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certified by independent auditors. Between 1934 and 1964, annual disclosure was 

required only of those firms traded on national exchanges. (In 1964 the statute was 

amended to cover all firms with more than a specified number of investors.) Firms 

could avoid disclosure by delisting or not listing initially. Nonetheless, firms eagerly 

listed themselves on an exchange and disclosed; firms that were not listed also 

disclosed substantial amounts of data, following the pattern set by those covered by the 

statute. Even today, the securities of state and local governments are exempt from the 

mandatory disclosure rules, yet these issuers routinely supply voluminous information 

to purchasers.
[70]

 
 

Disclosure for the purpose of stilling investors’ doubts also reduced (to the appropriate 

degree) investors’ incentives to search too much for trading information. The problem, 

as we described it above, is that knowing the future creates profit opportunities without 

making investors as a group better off. Because searching out such information is 

costly, investors as a group gain if firms disclose so as to minimize the opportunities 

and thus the incentives to search. The net return on a security is its gross return 

(dividends plus any liquidating distribution) less the cost of information and 

transactions in holding the security. A firm can increase this net return as easily by 

reducing the cost of holding the [shares] as well as by increasing its business profits. 

Firms that promise to make disclosures for this purpose will prosper relative to others, 

because their investors incur relatively lower costs and can be more passive with safety. 

The more convincing the promise, the more investors will pay for the [shares]. 

 

B. Limitations on the Self-Interest Model of Disclosure 

 

That information is a ‘public good’ [‘meaning that it can be used without being used up 

and that the producer of information cannot exclude others from receiving the benefits’] 

means that investors acting independently do the wrong amount of information-

gathering, but for reasons we have explained, the self-interest of firms’ managers lead 

them to supply roughly the amount of information investors as a group desire… 

 

The information produced by one firm for its investors may be valuable to investors in 

other firms. Firm A’s statements may reveal something about the industry in which 

Firm A operates – if only the size of Firm A’s anticipated production – that other 

participants in the industry can use in planning their own operations. There may be 

other collateral benefits to investors in rival firms. Yet Firm A cannot charge the 

investors in these other firms for the benefits, although they would be willing to pay for 

them. Because they cannot be charged, the information will be under-produced. 

 

The problem is related to the prisoners’ dilemma. The firms and investors, acting as a 

group, would want the firms to disclose information with both firm and industry-

specific components. Each firm acting individually will not do so, in part because the 

                                                 
70

  The value effects of the introduction of mandatory disclosure in the United States, 
that is whether it increased the value of shares traded on US stock exchanges, has 
been the subject of intense debate in the United States. The original study was 
carried out by Professor George Benston who argued that his findings showed that 
there was no positive value effect. These findings have been hotly disputed and are 
important elements of the broader debate in the Easterbrook and Fishel and Coffee 
articles extracted in this section. In relation to this debate see: G. Benston, ‘Required 
Disclosure and the Stock Market: An Evaluation of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934’ (1973) 63 American Economic Review 132; H. Manne, Insider Trading and the 
Stock Market (1966); I. Friend & R. Westerfield, Required Disclosure and the Stock 
Market, 65 Am. Econ. Rev. 467 (1975); M. Mendelson, Economics and the 
Assessment of Disclosure Requirements, (1978) 1 Journal of Comparative Corporate 
Law and Securities Regulation 49. 
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others would get a free ride and in part because some of the information (such as that 

pertaining to new products) may give a competitive advantage to rivals. Each firm 

would be willing to disclose, but only if all others were required to do likewise. Then 

the costs and any business risks would be distributed more evenly. In the absence of 

some requirement or strong inducement to disclose, each firm will want to be a holdout. 

 

There is a similar free riding problem in the disclosure of information that facilitates 

comparisons among firms. Firm C may know something that makes it attractive relative 

to D. It cannot convey this information effectively, however, without conveying 

information about D’s plans and prospects. The information about D will redound 

partly to the benefit of present or prospective investors in D, and Firm C cannot obtain 

compensation. Firm C could appropriate part of the gain by buying or selling D’s 

[shares], but this is a costly transaction, and Firm C could not appropriate the full gain 

without owning D, E, F, G, and so on, outright… 

 

Firm C also encounters difficulty in appropriating the value of information affecting 

risk-return characteristics. The less the degree of difference among firms, the more 

spill-over the disclosures of one firm will have, and the poorer this firm’s incentives to 

disclose. Many firms will have similar risk-return characteristics. Some form of 

collective action (whether or not through the government) could be beneficial in 

principle here. Which method of tackling the collective action problem has the lowest 

net costs is an empirical problem. 

 

Or suppose there is an optimal format for communicating information to investors. 

Some disclosures are easier to understand, verify, etc., than others, while some 

disclosures tend more to hide than to reveal information. If contracts among all 

investors in society could be written costlessly, the investors would require all firms to 

identify and use the optimal format of disclosure. The costs may be too high, though, 

for one firm acting on its own. The optimal form of disclosure may entail use of some 

specialized language (one can think of accounting principles, with their detailed 

definitions, as a specialized disclosure language), yet no one firm can obtain a large 

share of the benefits of inventing and employing this language; others will be able to 

use the format without charge. Sometimes, too, the ease of using a given method of 

disclosure will depend on other firms adopting the same format, so as to facilitate 

comparisons across investments. Other firms may not be anxious to cooperate. 

 

Mandatory disclosure rules promulgated by the government are one means to achieve 

standardization, but it does not follow that mandatory disclosure is necessary. Markets 

frequently devise ingenious solutions to problems of information. Indeed, the problems 

faced by sellers of securities are not much different from those involved in bringing 

new products to market. Mass sale of records and stereo systems was facilitated by the 

development of standard record speeds. Colour television was not feasible until 

manufacturers and broadcasters agreed on a standard method of transmission. The new 

laser compact disk players are greatly aided in competing against tapes and records by 

the standard promulgated by Phillips, the holder of an important patent. Sometimes 

trade associations may devise such standards, as the electronics industry and, in part, 

the accounting industry have done. Whether standardization may be achieved more 

cheaply by private or governmental responses is an empirical question. 
 
Considering in further depth the question of whether an optional disclosure system will 
produce the optimal level of disclosure, consider the following response to Easterbrook and 
Fischel’s case for an optional regime.  
 

J.C. Coffee, ‘Market Failure and the Economic Case for a Mandatory 
Disclosure System' (1984) 70 Virginia Law Review 717 
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[Proponents of an optional disclosure regime] do not deny that the separation of 

ownership and control in the modern public corporation implies a conflict between the 

interests of management and shareholders. They argue, however, that the burden of this 

conflict falls on the manager. To sell the firm’s securities initially or to maintain the 

price of the firm’s stock thereafter, the manager must convince the market that all 

relevant disclosures are being (and will continue to be) made; otherwise, he is the 

primary loser. As a result, according to these theorists, managers and shareholders have 

mutual incentives to structure the firm so that the market will be confident that all 

material information is being disclosed. 

 

The typical techniques to this end are summarized in the Easterbrook and Fischel 

article: firms will use auditors to give their statements credibility; firms will encourage 

managers, through stock options, to hold a substantial portion of their portfolio in the 

firm's stock; and the underwriters who sell the firm's stock will also retain a substantial 

block of stock in their own account. The reputational interests of managers also prevent 

behavior that would be injurious to shareholders. Clearly, to some extent these forces 

should inhibit opportunistic behavior by management, constrain their consumption of 

perquisites, and reduce any managerial tendency to shirk. The claim that they are 

sufficient, however, to render irrelevant the need for a mandatory disclosure system is a 

far stronger assertion, for which the evidence is much weaker. Agency costs should still 

persist, and a basic conflict of interests still remain to the extent that managers can 

acquire the firm from its shareholders. 

 

A. A Critique of the Theory 

 

The fallacy in concluding that a mandatory disclosure system is irrelevant lies not in the 

premise that if a manager's compensation is made a function of the firm’s performance, 

the manager is encouraged to act only to benefit the firm, but rather with the difficulties 

of systematically implementing such a compensation system so as to eliminate all 

occasions for opportunistic behavior. Typically, some economists simply assume these 

problems away. [Coffee then considers the problem of insider trading which results in 

non-alignment of managers’ and shareholders’ interests even where managers’ 

compensation arrangements – stock options and performance bonuses – are designed to 

align their interests with shareholders. Inside information that is not disclosed can be 

used by managers to make profits through share trading. Although such trading may be 

illegal effective enforcement is very difficult].  

 

Correct as it may be that shareholders would like to prevent insider trading by their 

management, it does not follow that they can do so as a practical matter… As a result, 

the bottom line is that insider trading will persist and the perquisites to… [the] theory of 

voluntary disclosure are therefore not satisfied… 

 

It is debatable whether [‘this lack of congruence between the interests of managers and 

shareholders’] demonstrates the need for a mandatory disclosure system. Because 

managers can trade almost instantaneously once they recognize the significance of 

undisclosed material information, a system of periodic quarterly filings-such as the ’34 

Act essentially imposes does little to inhibit such trading. Once management has traded, 

it has in fact a particularly strong incentive to release the positive or adverse 

information to hasten the desired market response. Any delay in the information’s 

release may thus be trivial.  

 

Even if the traditional form of insider trading supplies little justification for a 

mandatory disclosure system, a new phenomenon, which essentially poses the same 

dilemma, does suggest the utility of mandated disclosure. Within the last few years, 
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there has been an extraordinary increase in the frequency of ‘leveraged buyouts’. The 

leveraged buyout (LBO) is a technique for the purchase of the firm by its management 

(with possibly a few equity investors) by mortgaging the firm’s assets to secure 

financing for the purchase price
[71]

… The availability of the managerial buyout option 

greatly intensifies the conflict of interests that already exists between management and 

shareholders. In effect, it enables management to engage in insider trading not on a 

piecemeal scale in the stock market, but on the much larger scale of corporate control 

transactions. At present, LBO’s tend to occur at high premiums, and thus some will see 

them as a benign and desirable phenomenon. This tendency for the buyout to be 

effected at a high premium, however, may be more the consequence of our existing 

mandatory disclosure system than proof of its irrelevance. 
 

In the absence of a mandatory disclosure system, the popularity of the LBO would 

likely increase. This increase should exacerbate two distinct perverse incentives. First, 

the possibility of a low premium takeover might lead a management to withhold or 

underplay positive information to pre-empt the appreciation by buying the firm in an 

LBO. Second, this possibility might induce management to release false information of 

adverse developments. This second point has special relevance because the theory of 

voluntary disclosure as expounded by [proponents of an optional disclosure regime] 

posits that management must report all adverse information accurately because any 

suspension in the corporation's stream of disclosures released will lead the market to 

assume that a financial disaster had occurred. In effect, these theorists conclude that the 

market will over-respond unless the bad news is disclosed with full candour. Professors 

Easterbrook and Fischel accurately summarize this argument when they state: 

 

‘The process works for bad news as well as for good. Once the firm starts disclosing it 

cannot stop short of making any critical revelation, because investors always assume 

the worst. It must disclose the bad with the good, lest investors will assume that the bad 

is even worse than it is.’… 

 

[The] basic point is that any such market response is subject to obvious manipulation. 

Put simply, if non-disclosure did mean disaster, management could manipulate this 

pattern to its own self-interested ends. It could deliberately suspend disclosure to cause 

an economically unjustified decline in the stock price and then buy the stock at an 

artificially depressed price (or even sell short prior to the suspension of disclosure). 

Even better, it could use silence to scare the market and then offer an LBO. 

 

In time, investors would learn to anticipate these tactics, and they would no longer 

equate non-disclosure with disaster. As a result, however, there would be great 

uncertainty as to the meaning of a halt in the flow of disclosure, and the original 

premise that non-disclosure would lead the market to overcorrect would no longer be 

true. Hence, an incentive would again arise for management to withhold disclosure of 

adverse information. 

 

In short, one cannot have it both ways: if non-disclosure implies disaster, this equation 

can be exploited by management to facilitate its acquisition of either the firm’s stock or 

assets; if non-disclosure does not imply disaster, then management need not ordinarily 

                                                 
71

  In the United States there are no rules prohibiting financial assistance such as those 
set forth in section 678 CA 2006 and considered in Chapter 17 685-701. However, 
the use of the target assets to refinance funds borrowed to purchase the shares has 
long been common place in the UK through careful structuring of the transaction. 
Today the most straightforward method is the conversion of a public company into a 
private company prior to providing the assistance (under the 2006 Act the prohibition 
only applies to public companies). 
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disclose adverse information. How does this inconsistency in the theory of voluntary 

disclosure relate to the need for a mandatory disclosure system…? 

 

Under a mandatory disclosure system, an LBO at an inadequate price is likely to elicit a 

higher counter-bid from a third party. Such a counter-bid is the ideal remedy: it is self-

enforcing and costless to the investor… Bidders need information before they will 

invest millions (or billions) in an acquisition. A mandatory disclosure system responds 

to this need and so facilitates control contests… 

 

In the last analysis, the assertion that market forces will alone induce adequate 

disclosure rests upon the flawed premise that management should see itself as a ‘repeat 

player’ that can maximize its own interests over the long run only by maintaining the 

market's confidence. Often, this premise is accurate. In an environment increasingly 

characterized both by hostile takeovers and LBO’s, however, it is no longer safe to 

assume that management expects or intends to remain a ‘repeat player’. If management 

believes a stock decline will trigger a hostile takeover that will remove it from office, it 

does not have the luxury of taking a long-run view and may therefore seek to delay 

adverse news from reaching the market. Fearing a takeover, it may also decide to 

undertake an LBO (even though such a transaction forces it to hold an undiversified 

portfolio), and thus it will suppress or downplay positive information. Only in a static 

(and today nonexistent) world, where management is confident that it can remain in 

control of its firm, should we expect it to adopt the long-run perspective of the ‘repeat 

player’.
[72]

 

 
 
 
Discussion: 
 

 Easterbrook and Fischel argue convincingly that listed firms will produce and 
disseminate information that is valuable to investors because by doing so the value of 
the company’s shares is enhanced. This, they argue, is the case at both the 
company’s initial public offering of shares to maximize what investors are willing to 
pay for those shares, but also thereafter because the failure to provide information 
will result in a decline in the share price which both reduces managers’ - as 
shareholders - personal wealth, but may also expose the company to takeover.  It 
seems clear that companies will provide information to shareholders in the absence 
of any mandatory requirement to do so and that one of the primary drivers for 
producing and disseminating this information is the one described by Easterbrook 
and Fischel. However, the key question surrounding the mandatory/optional 
disclosure debate is not whether companies will disclose any information in an 
optional regime but whether they will disclose the optimal amount of information to 
enable disclosure to effectively perform the selected functions identified in Part A 
Section 1 of this Chapter. Here Easterbrook and Fischel recognize that there are 
some limitations on the effective functioning of the self-interested model of disclosure. 
But even in the face of the limitations identified in the above extract they remain 
suspicious that the appropriate response to these ‘market imperfections’ should be 
mandatory disclosure as specified by the regulator. They note in this regard: 

 

We have no desire to commit the Nirvana Fallacy of asserting that if markets are 

‘imperfect’ then regulation must be better. Detecting the ‘imperfections’ of markets 

may be no more helpful than observing that all good things have irreducible costs, 

                                                 
72

  On the mandatory optional disclosure debate see further: S. Bainbridge ‘Mandatory 
Disclosure: A Behavioural Analysis’ 68 (2000) University of Cincinnati Law Review 
1023; R. Roberta, ‘The Need for Competition in International Securities Regulation’, 
(2001) 2 Theoretical Inquiries in Law 1. 
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much as paying for steel is a cost of building a car rather than an ‘imperfection’ in the 

automobile market. Regulation is more failure-prone than markets, because there are 

few automatic forces that correct regulations gone awry. The regulatory system lacks 

a competitor, and the very fact of regulation often suppresses the information 

necessary to detect regulatory failure. 
 

They place their faith in the innovative capacity of the market to generate solutions to 
some of the problems they identify. So, for example, they recognize that mandatory 
rules generate a standardized way of transmitting information that enables users to 
easily understand the information and compare the information across companies. 
However, they argue that it is possible that the market could generate a solution to 
this problem in the same way that the market generated a standard method of 
transmission for colour televisions, or more recently, for high definition DVDs. 
However, it is not clear that these analogies are apposite. These standard formats 
were generated as a result of competitive processes from market participants with a 
clear and defined objective: maximization of profit by maximizing viewing numbers or 
sales. As Coffee points out, managers’ and shareholders’ interests in disclosure are 
not clearly aligned and, therefore, even where the company’s value could be 
enhanced by increased disclosure it may not be in the manager’s personal interests 
to accept a standardized approach to disclosure that would be preferred by 
shareholders and investors. One must also consider the costs of the market’s failure 
to produce a solution. If the market had failed to standardize broadcasting formats the 
costs would have been that fewer people would have had access to television. 
However, if an optional disclosure regime fails, the social cost may be significant in 
terms of an individual company’s cost of capital as well as the efficient allocation of 
capital in an economy.  It would, therefore, be a brave regulator who would be willing 
to take a bet on the self-interested model of regulation. Easterbrook and Fischel 
acknowledge this in the conclusion to their article where they observe that: ‘the 
proponent of change in the legal order bears a substantial burden.  Rules of law may 
be beneficial in ways we do not understand, and if all we can say is that we cannot 
identify either benefit or detriment from a given set of rules, the injunction to leave 
well enough alone has great force’. 
 

 This debate between Easterbrook and Fischel, and Coffee focuses on mandatory 
disclosure in the context of listed companies to whom the US securities laws apply 
(set forth in the Securities and Exchange Act 1934 and the Securities Act 1933). The 
problem in relation to such companies is how to ensure disclosure in the absence of a 
traditional contracting relationship where an investor before buying shares could insist 
on specific disclosures and contractual undertakings from the company regarding 
future disclosures. What Easterbrook and Fischel describe in their article is an implicit 
contractual process resulting in disclosure as a result of the self-interest of managers. 
This debate, therefore, has little to say about the disclosure requirements for small 
close companies where any contractual relationship – whether resulting from the 
provision of debt, suppliers, or the purchase of equity – involves a direct contractual 
interface between the company and the contracting third party. It is clear that in 
relation to such companies those third parties are in a position to request the 
corporate information that they value.  Disclosure in relation to such companies is 
driven not by managerial self-interest but by the desire of contracting parties to 
understand the risks associated with an investment in, or doing business with, the 
company. In relation to such companies is there any reason to impose mandatory 
disclosure obligations as opposed to allowing those contractual interactions to 
determine the nature of the information produced and disclosed?  As we have seen, 
and as we will see further in Part B of this chapter, in the United Kingdom many 
mandatory disclosure obligations are imposed on all companies, both private and 
public, listed and not-listed. It is important that such obligations serve a persuasive 
policy objective because both the information production and disclosure obligations 
are particularly costly for small companies compared to their income.  We shall see 
below that in relation to the production and audit of financial information that UK 
company law takes limited account of these concerns. 
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One possible objective in requiring disclosure in relation to non-listed companies 
could be the reduction of transaction costs for contracting parties. Information is 
available quickly and reliably through Companies House reducing the time that 
contracting parties need to spend in requesting and verifying the nature of the 
information produced.  It also ensures that there are no contracting delays that could 
arise if the information in question was not available. Furthermore, mandatory 
disclosure regimes can respond to some of the standardization problems identified by 
Easterbrook and Fischel for presenting information about the company. However, it 
remains unclear that there are significant advantages in any of these regards. 
Companies willing and prepared to do business would need to prepare this 
information in advance of negotiations in the expectation that they would be asked for 
it. Its provision could be made quickly available upon request.  
 
 

 Questions: 
 

1. What is the function of disclosure? 
  
2. What is the rationale for corporate disclosures that are not filtered by a shareholder 

value lens? Do you find this rationale persuasive? 
 

3. Should private companies be subject to any mandatory disclosure obligations?  
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B: FINANCIAL REPORTING  

 
 

I The nature of accounting and financial 
information 

 
 

Commercial companies are formed to produce and sell a product. Bob’s Electronics Ltd, as 
we saw in Chapter 1, can be viewed as a nexus of contracts between providers of finance, 
suppliers, employees, and customers. The company brings together various inputs to produce 
an output that is then sold in the marketplace for those products. Bob’s Electronic Ltd buys 
computer components, builds a factory in which to assemble those products, rents an office to 
set-up a call centre to take orders, buys delivery vans to deliver the computers, and employs 
several employees to take orders, to assemble computers, to deliver computers, and to 
manage and administer the company. When the orders are taken and the computers 
delivered the company takes payment from the customer for the sold product.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We see from the business cycle of Bob’s Electronics Ltd that the production process involves 
multiple costs, some of which are specific and direct whilst others are less tangible and 
indirect. To produce a deliverable computer Bob’s Electronics Ltd must pay, amongst others: 
suppliers for the components they deliver; the bank for the interest payable on any loans; and 
employees for their services. But in addition to these direct costs are the costs associated 
with the use of: the factory that had to be constructed in order to build the products; the 
computer and telephone systems necessary to take orders and administer the company; and 
the delivery vans etc. These assets get ‘used up’ in the process of making and delivering 
computers. The factory, the phone systems, and the delivery vans only have a limited amount 
of productive capability: the delivery vans can only drive ‘x’ number of miles; the factory and 
its equipment will become dated and, at some point, unsuitable for modern computer 
production. The extent to which each asset is ‘used-up’ in the course of producing products is 
a cost associated with the production of those products. As a result of all these costs and 
processes a product is produced that is sold. The price paid for the computer is revenue for 
the company.  

 
 

Take orders 

Deliver 
computers 

and  
receive 

payment  
 

payment 

 
 

Buy product  
inputs 

 
 

Build  
computers 
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All these costs and revenues for the company need to be calibrated in a way that enables the 
company itself, investors, and contracting third parties to assess the status and success of 
the company.  A company’s accounts or financial statements represent a standardized way of 
accounting

73
 for: (i) all the costs involved in producing the company’s products and revenues 

generated by the sale of those products; (ii) the financial state of the company at a particular 
point in time: the value of assets which it has purchased and generated through its activities; 
(iii) the extent to which those assets have been financed through borrowing (the company’s 
liabilities); and (iv) the size of the shareholders’ residual financial interest in the company – 
the extent to which assets exceed liabilities.  There are two financial statements which 
address (i) and (ii, iii, and iv) respectively: the profit and loss account – or as it is sometimes 
referred to ‘the income statement’ - and the balance sheet.  A third financial statement known 
as the cash flow statement is sometimes prepared which details changes in the company’s 
cash position over a specified time period. Our focus in this chapter is on the profit and loss 
account and the balance sheet. 

 
1.1 The profit and loss account / income statement  

 
The profit and loss account provides for an accounting of the costs, both direct and indirect, 
that are incurred in the production, sale, and distribution of the product in the financial year in 
question.

74
 As there are many types of cost – from the purchase of components, to the use of 

and reduction in value of capital assets such as the factory (this is known as ‘depreciation’), to 
the purchase of paper clips for administrators and the payment of electricity bills - a profit and 
loss account will not provide you line by line with every single expenditure but necessarily has 
to organize expenditure under certain umbrella headings or categories. Key examples of such 
categories include: ‘cost of sales’, which include all the materials that go into producing the 
products; ‘selling and marketing expenses’, which includes, amongst others, the costs of 
marketing and selling the product; and ‘depreciation’ in the company’s assets (discussed 
below).

75
 

 
Importantly, a profit and loss account records any costs incurred or revenues earned at the 
time the cost is incurred or a revenue entitlement is generated not at the time the liability 
created by the cost is paid off or at the time the customer pays for the product. In many 
instances there will be a time lag between cost incurrence and payment of the liability as 
there will be between the company’s entitlement to payment and actual payment. This is 
known as accrual accounting. In some instances items will, therefore, be recorded as costs 
and as revenues even though no cash has left the company’s bank account to pay for the 
cost or has been received to pay for the product.  
 
This also means that some cash payments for assets used in the company’s business will not 
be recorded in the company’s profit and loss account at the time of the purchase. When Bob’s 
Electronics purchases a new building in which it will assemble its computers it could record 
that purchase as an expense in the income statement at the time of the purchase. However, 
this would not make sense if the profit and loss account is designed to reflect the actual costs 
of producing products that generate revenue: the new building will not be ‘used-up’ in the year 
of its purchase. Accordingly, the profit and loss account will only record the amount, or an 
estimate of the amount, of the reduction in value of the asset in financial year in question. 

                                                 
73

  The verb ‘to account’ is defined in The Oxford English Dictionary as calculate or to 
render a reckoning.  

 
74

  On financial year see further note 88 below. 
 
75

  For the available organizational income and expense categories for UK accounts 
produced in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 see The Large and Medium-
sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 Schedule 1, 
Part 1, Section B. 
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This ‘depreciation amount’ will flow through the income statement as an expense on a yearly 
basis for the ‘life’ of the asset, which will in practice be a shorter period than the time the 
asset is actually used in the business. In such years there is no cash payment by the 
company in relation to such depreciated amounts. Hence such expenses are sometimes 
referred to as non-cash items. Consider the following hypothetical examples, to clarify this 
point. Please note that Hypotheticals A and B are designed to enable students to generate an 
understanding of the profit and loss account and the balance sheet and to see how the two 
statements interact. For the more informed, they do not correctly apply UK and International 
Accounting Standards considered in further depth in section B.III below. 
 

Hypothetical A 
 

Bob’s Electronics Ltd incurs the following costs, expenditure, and revenues in 

carrying out its business over the previous year between 31 July 2012 and 31 July 

2013.   

 

- £300,000 for the purchase of components to build computers. Suppliers give 

Bob’s Electronics Ltd 60 days to pay for the delivered components. At 31 

July 2013 £60,000 of the £300,000 remained outstanding. Note, however, 

that these purchases of components increase the company’s inventory and are 

not all used in production this financial year. This year £150,000 of inventory 

is used in production, which is recorded below as ‘cost of sales’.  

- £100,000 in employee costs, £10,000 remained outstanding as of 31 July 

2013.  

- £10,000 in utility bills and local taxes which were fully paid.  

- New delivery vehicles were purchased on 1 August 2012 costing £40,000. 

- On 31 July 2012 the company purchased a new factory building for £300,000 

financed 100% with a secured bank loan. The first payment of principle will 

take place after 31/7/13. 

- Total interest payable on loans is £20,000 

- The company has a policy of depreciating all assets ‘on a straight line basis’ 

over ten years, which means a depreciation cost of the value of each asset 

divided by 10 for ten years. 

- The company’s sales generate revenues of £600,000 although £100,000 

remains outstanding as of 31 July 2013. 

 

Bob’s Electronics Ltd could
76

 present its profit and loss account for the year to 31 

July 2013 as follows: 

 

Sales Revenue:   £600,000 

Cost of sales  £150,000 

(components used in production) 

Employee costs  £100,000 

Depreciation    £74,000
77

 

                                                 
76

  The structure and categories of a real life income statement would be very different 
from this one. This Hypothetical is used to explain accrual accounting. 

 
77

  Depreciation includes depreciation on the newly purchased assets (the building and 
the vans) but also the existing assets of the company (set forth in Hypothetical B 
below which considers the balance sheet: existing factory building depreciation of 
£30,000 per annum and plant (this factory was also purchased for £300,000 and is 
depreciated on a straight line basis over 10 years) and equipment depreciation of 
£10,000 per annum). Total = 30,000 (old building) + 30,000 (new building) + 10,000 
(plant and equipment) + 4000 (Vans)).  
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Loan interest    £20,000 

Other:     £10,000 

Total Expenses  £354,000 

Profit   £246,000 

 

There are three key observations in regard to this profit and loss account. First, even 

though certain amounts owed by the company for employee costs had not been paid 

(£10,000) as of the date the accounts were prepared (31 July 2013) the profit and loss 

account records the expense upon the incurrence – when the obligation to pay the 

expense arises rather than its actual payment. Secondly, even though the old factory 

(see footnote 75) was purchased in 2005, the costs of the purchase still affect later 

date income statements. This is because until ten years from the purchase of the 

building the depreciation in value of the factory represents a cost of production in 

each of those years.  Thirdly, even though the company incurred a cash expenditure 

during this year to buy the new building and the vehicles, only a proportion of that 

cash payment is taken account of in the costs of production this year - £30,000 and 

£4,000 respectively, which represents the depreciation allowance for this year. 

 

1.2   The balance sheet 
 
As we have seen, the company acquires assets which it uses to produce products to 
generate revenue. These assets include, amongst others, the components available for 
computer assembly, the factory where assembly takes place, and the delivery vehicles used 
to deliver the computers. It also includes the cash paid by customers for the computers 
placed in the company’s bank account. Many of these assets will have been funded originally 
by the issue of shares in the company; others will have been funded by the taking of a loan 
from a bank to purchase the factory or the credit given by a supplier who asks for payment in 
60 days from delivery of the components.  A balance sheet provides a ‘snapshot’, at the date 
it is prepared, of the company’s assets, its liabilities to third parties such as a bank or trade 
creditors, and the size of the shareholders’ residual interest in the company - the original 
equity investment plus any profits not distributed to shareholders, less any losses incurred by 
the company. A balance sheet, unsurprisingly, balances! That is, these separate accounting 
categories, although adjusted individually to take account of corporate activity, will balance 
whenever the ‘snapshot is taken’: assets = [liabilities plus shareholder equity]. 
 

Hypothetical B 
 

Prior to the activity described in Hypothetical A, as of 31 July 2012 Bob’s 

Electronics Ltd’s balance sheet provided as follows: 

 

Assets 

Cash in the bank      £500,000 

Inventory       £30,000 

Receivables
78

       £50,000 

Buildings     £150,000
79

 

                                                 
78

  Receivables are amounts owed but not yet paid by customers who have received the 
products. 

 
79

  Originally purchased for £300,000 five years ago with a bank loan of £240,000 
repayable over 24 years (annual bullet payments of £10,000 principal plus interest). 
Value in this balance sheet equals £300,000 less 5 x £30,000 annual depreciation.  
Note the time over which an asset is depreciated does not have to directly 
correspond with the time period over which a loan incurred to buy the asset is repaid. 
The asset must be depreciated over the period which is determined to be the asset’s 
‘useful economic life’ – see generally Financial Reporting Standard 15 Tangible Fixed 
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Plant and machinery      £50,000
80

 

Total assets     £780,000 

 

Liabilities 

Accounts payable
81

      £30,000 

Bank loan     £200,000 

Total liabilities      £230,000 

 

Shareholder equity 

Share capital     £450,000 

Retained profit     £100,000 

Shareholder equity    £550,000 

 

 

Following the business activities described in Hypothetical A as of 31 July 2013 

Bob’s Electronics Ltd’s balance sheet would be as follows. In contrast to how a 

normal balance sheet is normally presented, below we present the effect on each 

entry of the business activity in the year to 31 July 2013. 

 

Assets 

Cash in the bank at 31/7/12 was £500,000 

Plus £300,000 from bank loan 

Plus receivables paid of £40,000 

Plus amounts paid for sales of £500,000   

Less £240,000 for components 

Less £90,000 for employees 

Less £10,000 utility bills 

Less £30,000 of existing accounts payable which were paid in this year 

Less £40,000 for delivery vans 

Less £300,000 for new factory 

Less £10,000 for amortisation of existing bank loan 

Less £20,000 for interest payments 

Cash in bank at 31/7/13    £600,000 

 

Inventory as of 31/7/12 of £30,000 

Plus inventory purchased to 31/7/013 of £300,000 

Less inventory used to 31/7/13 of £150,000  

Inventory as of 31/07/13    £180,000 

 

Receivables as of 31/7/12 of £50,000 

Less receivables paid to 31/7/13 of £40,000 

Plus new receivables to 31/7/13 of £100,000
82

   

                                                                                                                                            
Assets (ASB, 1999) paras. 77–108. Note that for simplicities sake these accounts do 
not distinguish between land (which is not depreciated) and buildings which are. 

 
80

  The plant and machinery to build the computers were purchased five years ago for 
£100,000. Depreciation on a straight line basis is £10,000.  The value in this balance 
sheet equals £100,000 less 5 x £10,000. 

 
81

  Accounts payable are amounts owed by the company to suppliers of goods and 
services.  

 
82

  This is the difference between sales revenue of £600,000 in the financial year to 
31/7/09 and the £500,000 that was actually paid in this year. 
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Receivables as of 31/7/13   £110,000 

 

Buildings at 31/7/12 was £150,000 

Plus new factory building worth £300,000 

Less depreciation on old factory of £30,000 

Less depreciation on new factory of £30,000 

Buildings as of 31/7/13     £390,000 

  

Plant and machinery at 31/7/12 £50,000 

Plus delivery vans of £40,000 

Less depreciation on existing equipment of £10,000 

Less depreciation on the delivery vans of £4,000   

Plant and machinery as of 31/7/13   £76,000 
 

Total assets of 31/7/13     £1,356,000 

 

Liabilities 

Accounts payable as of 31/7/12 was £30,000 

Less accounts payable paid to 31/7/13 of £30,000   

Plus new accounts payable to 31/7/13 of £70,000
83

 

Accounts payable as of 31/7/13    £70,000 

 

Bank loans as of 31/7/12 of £200,000 

Plus new bank loan of £300,000 

Less repayment of principle on old loan of £10,000   

Bank loans as of 31/7/13    £490,000 

 

Total liabilities as of 31/7/13     £560,000 

 

Shareholder equity 

Share capital      £450,000 

Retained profit at 31/7/12 was £100,000 

Plus all profits for the year to 31/7/13
84

 of £246,000 

Shareholder equity as of 31/7/13    £796,000   

 
We see from this worked hypothetical that each of the revenue and expense items has an 
effect on the balance sheet. For example, revenue from sales increases the asset side of the 
balance sheet both by increasing cash in the bank for the amounts actually paid for Bob’s 
Electronics Ltd’s computers, and by increasing the ‘accounts receivable’ entry which consists 
of amounts owed to the company but not as yet paid for computers sold. Inventory consists of 
the components used to build the computers. In the year to 31 July 2013 the company spent 
£300,000 to buy components but did not use all of these in production in that year, rather it 
only used £150,000 worth of components. Accordingly, the inventory asset account is both 
increased by the newly purchased inventory and decreased by the inventory used to produce 
the computers which were sold in this year. We also see from the changes to the inventory 
account that not every change in the balance sheet goes through the profit and loss account. 
The £300,000 of inventory resulted in a reduction in the cash account and an increase in the 
inventory account, but until the inventory is used for production as an expense then there is 
no effect on the profit and loss account.  
 
Accounting information provided by the profit and loss account and the balance sheet 
provides historical information about the company: how it performed over the previous year 

                                                 
83

  We have included here the amounts not paid for components received and 
outstanding amounts owed to employees (see Hypothetical A). 

 
84

  The company pays no dividend. 
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and its net-asset (assets minus liabilities) position at the date the financial statements are 
produced. However, for the informed user of financial statements, accounting information 
provides a significant resource for making informed judgments about the future of the 
company. By comparing financial statements in multiple years the informed analyst can 
assess how well the company is doing in terms of selling more products, and the extent to 
which the revenue for each product exceeded the costs of production (‘the margin’).   
 
Whilst the financial numbers themselves provide essential information for investors and 
contracting parties they are, in many respects, very opaque. An increase in sales revenue, for 
example, could hide good and bad news. The good news is that there is more revenue, 
however, if this is because, due to external factors, the price of the product has increased, 
then this increase may only be a temporary blip. If on the other hand, increased sales 
revenue is being generated by the sale of more products and the company taking a greater 
market share then this may be positive news, unless the increase in sales is driven by 
aggressive price cutting. To have a more informed understanding of the company, financial 
accounting information alone is insufficient. The numbers must be accompanied by words of 
explanation (‘narrative’), explaining for example, the reasons behind the increased sales or an 
increase in costs etc. Narrative financial reporting is, therefore, a central part of the production 
of financial information. Narrative financial information may be provided generally in relation to 
the company’s position and performance as a whole (see section II.2 below) but also 
specifically in relation to particular accounting entries in the profit and loss and balance sheet 
accounts. Such additional specific narrative detail is usually set forth in the notes to the 
accounts.  
 

 

II The Companies Act's requirements to produce 
financial information  

 

1 Accounting records and accounts 
 
When it comes to the production of accounting information, the Companies Act 2006 leaves 
very few stones unturned.  As we shall see below, the extent to which the Act imposes 
requirements on companies to produce and file information is a function of both the size of the 
company and whether the company is a listed company. However, all companies, regardless 
of size, are required by the 2006 Act to keep and maintain accounting records.

85
 Failure to 

comply with these obligations is a criminal offence.
86

  
 

Section 386 Companies Act 2006 Duty to keep accounting records 
 

(1) Every company must keep adequate accounting records. 

 

(2) Adequate accounting records means records that are sufficient— 

(a) to show and explain the company’s transactions, 

(b) to disclose with reasonable accuracy, at any time, the financial position of the 

company at that time, and 

                                                 
 
85

  The Act also provides for how long the accounting records must be kept – three years 
for a private company; six years for a public company (section 388 CA 2006). 

 
86

  Sections 387 and 389 CA 2006. 
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(c) to enable the directors to ensure that any accounts required to be prepared comply 

with the requirements of this Act (and, where applicable, of Article 4 of the IAS 

Regulation
87

). 

 

(3) Accounting records must, in particular, contain— 

(a) entries from day to day of all sums of money received and expended by the 

company and the matters in respect of which the receipt and expenditure takes place, 

and 

(b) a record of the assets and liabilities of the company. 
 

Section 394 of the Act also requires ‘directors of every company’ to prepare ‘individual 
accounts’ for the company for every financial year.

88
 The ‘individual accounts’ are a balance 

sheet and a profit and loss account.
89

 The Act requires that the accounts be approved by the 
board of directors and signed by a director on behalf of the board.

90
 The Act also requires the 

directors of the parent company of the group to prepare group accounts.
91

 These group 
accounts are consolidated financial statements that consolidate the individual accounts (the 
balance sheet and the profit and loss account) of the parent company and the parent’s 
subsidiary companies.

92
   

 
In addition to the accounting information that is required by the 2006 Act, listed companies 
subject to the FCA’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules are required to produce an annual 
financial report consisting of, in relation to financial information, financial statements and a 
‘responsibility statement’ from a responsible person, for example a director, that the financial 
statements comply with the applicable accounting standards which we discuss in section B.III 
below.

93
 Such annual reporting requirements overlap with the Act’s requirements. However, 

going beyond the Companies Act’s requirements, these rules also require listed companies to 

                                                 
87

  Considered in section B.III below.  
 
88

  The company’s financial year is for all intents and purposes the calendar year 
following the date to which the last set of ‘individual accounts’ was prepared. The 
actual determination of the financial year is a more complex process involving the 
determination of accounting reference dates and accounting reference periods. 
Reference is made to relevant sections of the Act for further consideration: sections 
390-392 CA 2006. See further Oxford Annotated Companies Acts (2008).  

 
89

  Section 396 CA 2006. 
 
90

  Section 414 CA 2006. 
 
91

  Section 399(1) CA 2006. This requirement does not apply if the group of companies 
is a 'small group' (section 383(1) CA 2006). Small companies are discussed in II.2 
below in relation to narrative reporting.  

 
92

  ‘Parent company’ is defined in section 1173 as a ‘parent undertaking’, which is 
defined, along with subsidiary undertaking, in section 1162. The definition focuses on 
different forms of control exercised by the parent company over another entity, 
including holding a majority of shares in another company, the ability to appoint a 
majority of the board, or to exercise a dominant influence over a company (these and 
other control mechanisms are subject to more specific rules and definitions in 
Schedule 7 CA 2006).  See also FRS 2: Accounting for Subsidiary Undertakings and 
FRS 5: Accounting for the Substance of Transactions.  

 
93

  DTR 4.1. 
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produce half-yearly financial reports that contain ‘condensed financial statements’
94

 and a 
responsibility statement.

95
 

 

2 Narrative information 
 
In addition to UK company law’s requirement for companies to produce financial information, 
the Companies Act has increasingly focused on the production of supportive narrative 
financial information about the operations, condition, and risks associated with a company’s 
business.  The primary narrative reporting requirements are set forth in sections 415–419 of 
the Act, which require company directors to produce a ‘directors’ report’ and for directors of 
parent companies to produce a consolidated ‘group directors’ report’.

96
  

 
The Companies Act 1985 required a directors’ report and many of the specific disclosure 
requirements required by the 2006 Act in relation to the directors’ report, detailed below, were 
also required by the 1985 Act. The Company Law Review Steering Committee recommended 
enhancing narrative disclosure obligations for large public and listed companies.

97
 The 

Review recommended that this should take the form of an ‘operating and financial review’ or 
OFR,

98
 replacing the directors’ report for such companies. The Company Law Review viewed 

the OFR as complementing the duty to promote the success of the company by facilitating 
shareholder and other constituency monitoring of the extent to which directors had regard to 
other interests and constituencies when acting to promote shareholder value. They also 
viewed such narrative reporting as having positive competitive effects. 
 

[The inclusive duty to promote the success of the company and the OFR] both 

highlight the need to have due regard to the company’s business, and wider external, 

relationships. They are mutually reinforcing. The proposed statement of directors’ 

duties requires directors to act in the collective best interests of shareholders, but 

recognises that this can only be achieved by taking due account of wider interests. 

The transparency element provides the information needed to underpin this approach 

to governance. Just as importantly, we believe that this wider reporting requirement – 

particularly for large companies – will be an important contribution to 

competitiveness. Companies are increasingly reliant on qualitative and intangible, or 

‘soft’, assets such as the skills and knowledge of their employees and their corporate 

reputation. The reporting framework must recognise this and ensure that companies 

provide the markets and other interests with the information they need to understand 

companies’ business and assess performance.
99

 
 

                                                 
94

  DTR 4.2.3. 
 
95

  DTR 4.2.10. 
 
96

  The Act’s directors’ report requirements implement the EU’s modernization directive 
(2003/51/EC), article 1(14) of which amended article 46 of the EC Fourth Company 
Law Directive (78/660/EEC) to require this information.   

 
97

  Company Law Review Steering Committee, Modern Company Law for a Competitive 
Economy: Final Report, Chapters 3 and 8 (URN 01/942). 

 
98

  Note that at this time OFR was recommended but not required by the ASB and was 
provided by many companies. 

 
99

  Company Law Review Strategic Committee, Developing the Framework URN 00/656, 
para. 2.22. 
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This recommendation was accepted by the Government in relation to quoted companies and 
implemented through secondary legislation in 2005.

100
  These Regulations required, amongst 

others, that the OFR must state whether it had complied with the Reporting Standards 
produced by the FRC's Accounting Standards Board (ASB).

101
 The Accounting Standards 

Board accordingly produced a mandatory OFR Reporting Standard. However, at the eleventh 
hour before the OFR was required by law, the OFR became the victim of the Government’s 
claim to be reducing the burden of red tape for companies and it was abolished.

102
 However, 

the majority of the OFR’s substantive disclosure requirements made their way back into law 
through what became an enhanced Directors’ Report required by the 2006 Act. The ASB’s 
OFR accounting standard became a set of narrative reporting best practice guidelines which 
most listed companies continue to follow. Accordingly, although the legal disclosure 
requirements which we detail below relate to the directors’ report, listed companies in practice 
continue to produce an Operating and Financial Review. 
 
 
The primary function of the Directors’ Report is to provide narrative information about the 
development of the company’s business and its performance for the prior financial year. The 
extent of the information provided in the report varies depending on the type and size of the 
company. All companies must prepare a directors’ report Parent companies are required to 
produce a ‘group directors’ report’.

103
  

 
Section 416, which details the ‘contents of the directors’ report’, requires only the names of 
the company’s directors, a description of principle business activities, and a statement as to 
the recommended dividend.

104
 These disclosure obligations for the directors’ report set forth 

in the 2006 Act are supplemented by the detailed and specific requirements of, for small 
companies, The Small Companies and Groups (Accounts and Directors Report) Regulations 
2008 and, for medium-sized and large companies, The Large and Medium-sized Companies 
and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008.  For all companies these disclosure 
obligations require the disclosure of information on political donations. For medium-sized and 
large companies further information is required on, for example: the employment of disabled 
persons; and certain details on the company’s securities, ownership structure, and 
constitution that may operate to restrict the transfer in the company’s shares,

105
 many of 

which are already provided in other disclosure documents.
106

  
 
To determine whether companies are small or medium sized the Act deploys turnover, 
balance sheet total, and number of employees to categorize companies. For small companies 

                                                 
100

  The Companies Act 1985 (Operating and Financial Review and Directors' Report 
etc.) Regulations 2005. 

 
101

  On the Accounting Standards Board (ASB) and the recent reforms to the structure of 
the FRC see further below p 38. The ASB was designated as the body to produce 
such Reporting Standards by The OFR ('The Reporting Standards (Specified Body) 
Order 2005’) 692. 

  
102

  B. Hall, ‘Brown to scrap UK reporting rule’ (27 November 2005) Financial Times. 
 
103

  Section 415(2) CA 2006. 
 
104

  The dividend disclosure does not apply to companies that are ‘small companies’. 
Discussed below (section 416(3) CA 2006).  

 
105

  See The Small Companies and Groups (Accounts and Directors Report) Regulations 
2008, Schedule 5 and The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups 
(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 Schedule 7, Part 6.  The details on voting 
rights etc implements Article 10 of the Takeover Directive. 

 
106

  For example, details of voting rights would be available in a statement of capital filed 
with a return of allotment (section 555 CA 2006). 
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the thresholds are:
107

 £6.5M, £3.26M, and 50 employees, respectively.
108

 For medium-sized 
companies the thresholds are:

109
 £25.9M, £12.9M, and 250 employees, respectively.

110
 

Companies who comply with two out of the three criteria qualify as small or medium-sized, 
respectively. Note also that a company will not qualify as a small company or a small parent 
company if it or any member of the group is a public company.

111
 

 
The more substantive business narrative reporting obligation is currently contained in the part 
of the Directors’ Report called ‘the Business Review’. Companies that qualify for a ‘small 
companies’ exemption’

112
 do not have to produce the Business Review.

113
  However, the 

extent of the Business Review disclosure obligations varies depending on the size of the 
company. The Act excludes medium-sized companies from certain disclosure obligations and 
imposes more burdensome obligations on quoted companies.  
The Act provides for general categories of information which are to be provided by the 
Business Review. The Act requires that the Business Review provides a ‘fair review’ of the 
company’s business and that it identifies the ‘principle risks and uncertainties facing the 
company’.

114
 Companies must provide information on the ‘development and performance’ of 

the business during the financial year which must be ‘balanced and comprehensive’ and 
‘consistent with the size and complexity of the business.’

115
 Furthermore, the Act requires that 

the Business Review identify financial key performance indicators (KPIs)
116

 and, for 
companies other than medium-sized companies, non-financial KPIs.

117
 Financial KPIs would 

include, for example, important earnings information such as a company’s revenue and 
operating profit.

118
 Non-financial KPIs will vary considerably depending on the nature of the 

business. Marks and Spencer Plc, for example,  identify a generic ‘growth of core business’ 
KPI which is assessed by reference to, amongst others: market share; ‘footfall’ – the number 

                                                 
107

  Section 382 CA 2006. 
 
108

  Figures are also provided for small parent companies. Here the Act distinguishes 
between net and gross figures. The net figures, which are the same as for individual 
companies, have eliminated group transactions. The Act provides corresponding 
gross figures of £6.72M and £3.36M (section 383 CA 2006). 

 
109

  Section 465 CA 2006. 
 
110

  Figures are also provided for small parent companies. Here the Act distinguishes 
between net and gross figures. The net figures, which are the same as for individual 
companies, have eliminated group transactions. The Act provides corresponding 
gross figures of £27.36M and £13.68M (section 466 CA 2006). 

 
111

  Section 384 CA 2006. If any member of the group is a public company the group is 
an ‘ineligible group’ for the purposes of the small company exemption.  

 
112

  Note that the small company exemption for the business review continues to apply 
even when the company is a member of an ineligible group because, for example, a 
group member is a public company.  In relation to the business review, therefore, the 
exemption extends slightly beyond those companies that qualify for the small 
companies’ regime pursuant to section 383 CA 2006 (section 415A CA 2006). 

 
113

  Section 417 CA 2006. 
  
114

  Section 417(3) CA 2006. 
 
115

  Section 417(4) CA 2006.  
 
116

  Section 417(6) CA 2006. 
 
117

  Section 417(7) CA 2006. 
 
118

  See for example, Marks and Spencer PLC Annual Report 2009 at 18. 
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of customers walking into shops;  and its ‘UK mystery shopping programme’ which involves 
service quality assessment in its stores by a ‘mystery shopper’.

119
 Other KPIs identified in 

Marks and Spencer’s Annual Report include: expansion of the internet business; international 
sales as a proportion of group revenue; and certain indicators used to assess the company’s 
progress in becoming a carbon neutral company. 
 
For quoted companies, the Act’s Business Review disclosure requirements are more 
extensive. In addition to the identification of risks and uncertainties facing the company, the 
Act requires that quoted companies identify the main trends likely to affect the future 
performance and development of the business.

120
 Almost certainly some of the trends will 

overlap with the risk analysis required of all companies who produce a Business Review. In 
addition, quoted companies’ Business Reviews must provide information about environmental 
matters, company employees, social and community issues, and information about third 
parties with whom the company has ‘essential contractual relations’. Whereas such narrative 
reporting, as noted above in Part A, has the potential to facilitate non-shareholder monitoring 
of the company and its interaction with its social and geographical environment, it is important 
to note in relation to this type of information that the Act takes a clear enlightened shareholder 
value approach to the function of narrative disclosure. Section 417(2) provides that ‘the 
purpose of the business review is to inform members of the company and help them assess 
how the directors have performed their duty under section 172 (duty to promote the success 
of the company).’ As readers will recall, section 172 requires directors to promote the success 
of the company for the benefit of the members. In so doing the Act requires the directors to 
have regard to other interests and constituencies but such regard is subordinated to the 
primary goal of member benefit. Accordingly, the environmental, employee, and community 
disclosure required by the Act is filtered by a shareholder value lens.  
 
Following a consultation process

121
 the Government has announced its intention to "simplify" 

and restructure narrative reporting in Annual Reports by providing for a 'Strategic Report' in 
the Annual Report. The Strategic Report will, it is said, provide shareholders with a 'concise 
description of the company's strategy, risks and business model'.

122
 However, the strategic 

review is in large part simply a new label for exactly the same disclosure obligations. There 
will be some additional disclosure obligations for quoted companies on the gender breakdown 
of directors and senior managers (although such information is will more readily available by 
googling the relevant company's board of directors!!) and additional disclosure on the 
information about "human rights issues". The reforms were implemented in October 2013.

123
 

The reader will, perhaps indulge the author in making a sceptical observation. These 
proposals represent disclosure regulation as the illusion of government regulatory policy. The 
time, effort and money that has been spent on producing a set of proposals that are 
substantively meaningless - either because this information was already produced by the 
Business Review, or is available at the stroke of a google search – is breathtaking.  
 
For listed UK companies it is common to provide more expansive information about the 
company’s ‘corporate social responsibility’, which provides more information about the 

                                                 
119

  Ibid. 
 
120

  Section 417(5)(a) CA 2006. 
 
121

  The Future of Narrative Reporting: Consultation on a New Reporting Framework, 
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (2011), available at: 
http://www.bis.gov.uk/assets/biscore/business-law/docs/f/11-945-future-of-narrative-
reporting-consulting-new-framework.pdf; The Future of Narrative Reporting: The 
Governments Response, Department of Business, Innovation and Skills (2012), 
available at: http://www.bis.gov.uk/assets/biscore/business-law/docs/f/12-588-future-
of-narrative-reporting-government-response.pdf.  

 
122

  Ibid Consultation at [2.9]. 
 
123

  The Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and Directors’ Report) Regulations 2013. 
 

http://www.bis.gov.uk/assets/biscore/business-law/docs/f/11-945-future-of-narrative-reporting-consulting-new-framework.pdf
http://www.bis.gov.uk/assets/biscore/business-law/docs/f/11-945-future-of-narrative-reporting-consulting-new-framework.pdf
http://www.bis.gov.uk/assets/biscore/business-law/docs/f/12-588-future-of-narrative-reporting-government-response.pdf
http://www.bis.gov.uk/assets/biscore/business-law/docs/f/12-588-future-of-narrative-reporting-government-response.pdf
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company’s impact on its social and geographical environment which is not wholly filtered 
through a shareholder value lens. The Accounting Standards Board’s best practice guidelines 
on narrative reporting set forth in its Operating and Financial Review Reporting Statement,

124
 

whilst also structured by a shareholder value lens,
125

 encourages much more extensive 
‘social and community matters’ disclosure. The statement refers to, for example, issues for 
the company to consider in its narrative disclosures: public health issues, social risks such as 
the use of child labour and the payment of ‘fair wages’; employee diversity and indigenous 
and human rights issue.

126
 Some companies go further than this and produce corporate social 

responsibility or sustainability reports.
127

 It is important to observe, however, that such 
additional reporting is voluntarily provided and not mandated by the Act or any accounting 
standard.  
 
Finally, listed companies are not only subject to the narrative disclosure requirements of the 
Act but also to the narrative disclosure requirements set forth in the FSA’s Disclosure and 
Transparency Rules. In relation to the annual financial report this requires the production of a 
‘management report’ which in most respects replicates the requirements of the Act’s business 
review as applied to a listed company.

128
  However, the Disclosure and Transparency Rules 

also require a degree of narrative reporting on a half-yearly basis.
129

  This involves, amongst 
others,

130
 a half-yearly interim management report and quarterly interim management 

statements. The interim management reports consist of details of the important events in the 
previous six months, the effects of those events on the half-yearly condensed financial 
statements, and ‘a description of the principal risks and uncertainties for the remaining six 
months of the financial year’.

131
  The interim management statements consist of an 

explanation of the material events during the applicable six-monthperiod
132

 and ‘a general 
description of the financial position and performance’ of’ the company.

133
  

 
In addition to the DTR’s requirements to produce management statements and reports, DTR 
7.2 requires listed companies to produce a ‘corporate governance statement’. This statement 
provides, amongst others: information about the corporate governance code applicable to the 

                                                 
124

  ASB, Operating and Financial Review Reporting Statement (ASB, 2006). 
 
125

  Ibid IG 28. 
 
126

  Ibid IG 30. 
 
127

  See also Vodafone Sustainability Report 2012 
(http://www.vodafone.com/content/dam/vodafone/about/sustainability/reports/2011_1
2/vodafone_sustainability_report.pdf). 

 
128

  There are some additional specific disclosures required by the Disclosure and 
Transparency Rule’s management report: see DTR 4.1.11. 

 
129

  The Kay Review of UK Equity Markets and Long Term Decision Making (Final 
Report, 2012) recommended the abolition of quarterly reporting. The current 
Government's agreed with this proposal and supported moves at the European level 
to amend the Transparency Directive (2004/109/EC) to abolish quarterly reporting. 
This amendment to the Transparency Directive was approved on 13 June 2013. 

 
130

  Additional disclosures are required in relation to related party transactions (DTR 
4.2.8). 

 
131

  DTR 4.2.7. 
 
132

  The the statement must be made ten weeks after the beginning and six weeks before 
the end of the six month period – DTR 4.3.3. 

 
133

  DTR 4.3.5. 
 

http://www.vodafone.com/content/dam/vodafone/about/sustainability/reports/2011_12/vodafone_sustainability_report.pdf
http://www.vodafone.com/content/dam/vodafone/about/sustainability/reports/2011_12/vodafone_sustainability_report.pdf
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company and its compliance with the Code and an explanation of any non-compliance;
134

 a 
description of the company’s internal control and risk management systems;

135
 and a 

description of the company’s ‘administrative, management and supervisory bodies and their 
committees.’

136
  

 

3 Filing and distribution of accounts and reports 
 
Accounts and reports must be filed with the Companies Registrar within nine months from the 
accounting reference date for private companies

137
 - which for our purposes in this chapter 

we shall treat as the end of the company’s financial year – and within six months of that date 
for public companies.

138
 Whilst all companies – including companies that fall within the small 

companies regime - have to produce ‘individual accounts’, the obligations to file these 
accounts with the Companies Registrar, vary according to whether the company qualifies as a 
small company, a medium-sized company, a non-listed but neither small nor medium-sized 
company, or a quoted company.  The benefit of qualifying as small or medium-sized is that 
such companies are subject to less onerous requirements as to the accounts they have to file 
with Companies House. Small companies only have to file a balance sheet and do not have 
to, although they may elect to, file a profit and loss account.

139
 Also small companies may file 

an ‘abbreviated’ balance sheet and profit and loss account.
140

 Medium-sized companies must 
file a balance sheet and profit and loss account although they may file an ‘abbreviated’ profit 
and loss account.

141
 Such accounts must comply with the applicable regulations issued 

pursuant to the Act.
142

 The filing obligations for all companies set forth in the Act also require 
the filing of reports which includes for all companies, apart from companies that benefit from 
the small company exemption, the directors’ report and, for quoted companies, the directors’ 
remuneration report which we discussed in Chapter 8.

143
 

 

                                                 
134

  DTR 7.2.3. A UK company that complies with LR 9.8.6R(6) stating whether it has 
complied with the UK Corporate Governance Code or explained why it has not fulfils 
the requirements of DTR 7.2.3 (on comply or explain see further Chapter 7). 

 
135

  DTR 7.2.5. 
 
136

  DTR 7.2.7. 
 
137

  Section 442 CA 2006. The Act provides for an offence for failure to comply with the 
Act’s filing requirements: section 451 CA 2001. 

 
138

  Section 442 CA 2006. Failure to file in accordance with the Act’s provisions is a 
criminal offence. 

 
139

  Section 444(1) CA 2006. 
 
140

  Section 444(3) CA 2006. 
 
141

  Section 445(3) CA 2006. 
 
142

  See The Small Companies and Groups (Accounts and Directors’ Report) Regulations 
2008/409 Part 2 and Schedule 1; The Large and Medium-sized Companies and 
Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008/410 regulation 3, 4, and Schedule 
1.  

 
143

  Section 447 CA 2006. 
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The Act provides for the direct dissemination of the accounts
144

 and reports by the company 
to both members and debenture holders, as well as any other person who is entitled to 
receive notice of a general meeting, for example, a person who has been nominated to have 
information rights in accordance with section 146 of the Act.

145
 For private companies such 

accounts must be sent to these persons at the latest by the end of the date for filing accounts 
with the Companies Registrar, or if filing takes place before that date on the date of delivery to 
the Registrar.

146
 For public companies the Act requires that the company ‘must lay before the 

company in general meeting copies of its annual accounts and reports’ and the accounts 
must be sent to persons entitled to receive them no later than 21 days before the meeting.

147
  

The shareholder meeting provides members with an opportunity to discuss and consider the 
accounts and reports but not a vote to approve or disapprove of them. Typically this meeting 
will be the public companies annual general meeting. The Act refers to the meeting that 
involves the laying of accounts as the ‘accounts meeting’.

148
 

 
Finally, the Act requires that quoted companies make their accounts and reports available on 
their website.

149
 The annual and half-yearly reporting requirements set forth in the FSA’s 

Disclosure and Transparency Rules impose more onerous timing rules on companies 
requiring that annual financial reports are made available within four months of the end of the 
financial year and half-annual reports as soon as possible but no later than two months after 
the end of the half year.

150
  

 

III ‘True and fair view’ and the legal status of 
accounting standards 

 

1 The standard setting problem: a depreciation 
example  

 
In Chapter 19 when we considered distribution regulation, we analysed in detail the effects on 
legal capital of the failure to provide for depreciation of the mine in Lee v Neuchatel Asphalte 
Company.

151
 It would be worthwhile re-reading this case and the accompanying commentary 

before continuing.
152

 In that case a central question was who should decide whether 
depreciation should be taken into account and, if taken into account, how should it be taken 

                                                 
144

  Section 423 CA 2006. Note that the Act and accompanying regulations allow 
companies in most instances to deliver ‘summary financial information’ instead of the 
actual financial statements to these specified persons (section 426–429 CA 2006 and 
The Companies (Summary Financial Statement) Regulations 2008/374). 

 
145

  Section 423 CA 2006. 
 
146

  Section 424(2) CA 2006. 
 
147

  Section 424(3) CA 2006. 
 
148

  Section 437 CA 2006.  
 
149

  Section 430 CA 2006. 
 
150

  DTR 4.1.3 and 4.2.2(2). 
 
151

  (1889) LR 41 Ch D 1. 
 
152

  pp 757–761. 
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into account?  In the accompanying Worked Example B
153

 to the Neuchatel Case we 
considered the depreciation of a mine’s coal resources of 1000 tons as 100 tons had been 
mined and sold in the previous financial year. In this Worked Example depreciation 
corresponded to the amount of coal actually used. However, in the real world the amount by 
which assets are used up in production is rarely so precise. How should a company decide 
how much of an asset is used up each year in production? The simplest way would be to 
decide on the life span of the company and divide the value of the asset by the lifespan of the 
asset. A mine worth £1000 which will be fully mined in 10 years would have a depreciation of 
£100 a year.  But of course, this raises further difficulties, how long is the lifespan of an 
asset? For some people a delivery van has a lifespan of 10 years, but we all know people 
who keep motor vehicles running for twenty years or more. The decision is an important one 
from the perspective of the company’s apparent financial well-being. In the profit and loss 
account set forth in Hypothetical A above we assumed depreciation on a straight line basis 
over 10 years. If we had assumed a 20 year life span for the assets then profitability would 
have increased from £246,000 to £283,000, an increase of 15%.  
 
However, a straight line basis of depreciation, although easily implemented, may bear little 
relationship to the actual depreciation in value of that asset. A new car or delivery van, for 
example, depreciates very rapidly in the first few years following its purchase but maintains 
more of its value thereafter. Perhaps then a tailored form of depreciation – more in the first 
few years – less later, may be appropriate. Again, however, this may significantly affect the 
presentation of the company’s profit. But although a non-straight line basis of depreciation 
may be a more proximate measure of how certain assets are ‘used-up’ in the production 
process, it remains a very rough approximation of the deterioration in the value of the asset. 
Perhaps a more accurate mechanism would be to value the asset at the end of the year and 
include this figure as the asset figure: the extent of the deterioration in the value of the asset 
would amount to depreciation which would then be recorded in the respective asset account 
and in the profit and loss account as an expense. However, such an approach also raises the 
possibility that although the asset is used in production that it need not necessarily decline in 
value. In Worked Example B in Chapter 19 we assumed that the value of the mine remained 
constant regardless of how much a ton of coal was worth in the market place. In our 
discussion in Worked Example B we assumed that using-up 100 tons of coal meant a 
reduction in the value of a £1000 (1000 ton) mine to £900. But, of course, if the value of coal 
in the market place had doubled in that year then although there would only be 900 tons left, it 
would be a strange system of accounting that said the asset was worth less and failed to take 
account of these market changes.  However, such an actual-value or fair-market value 
system of accounting raises several concerns. First, the valuation of every asset used by the 
company in production would be a costly process whether carried out by the company itself or 
an outside third party. Secondly, valuation is more an art than a science allowing for a 
considerable range of interpretations as to fair market value. Thirdly, this approach has the 
potential to generate the strange result of inflating the profit and loss account if, instead of a 
depreciation expense, the annual valuation recorded an increase in value which would be 
recorded as revenue – even though no person has an obligation to pay cash relating to that 
revenue. 
 
From the above discussion, we see that two basic options present themselves for accounting 
for the value of a company’s assets as they are used in production in the context of ever 
changing markets for these assets. Option 1 is to provide for different but fixed time line rules 
on depreciation over the life span of an asset; option 2 is to provide for annual market 
valuations of the assets in question. These different options have, as we have seen, very 
different implications for the profit and loss account and very different implications for one’s 
approach to accounting. Option 1 is the more conservative option: it ignores changes in 
market value and assumes that part of the value of the asset enters the costs of production 
each year. In no circumstances could option 1 result in a paper-accounting income for the 
company. However, option 1 promotes conservatism at the expense of accuracy and the 
relationship of accounting information to the actual financial status of the company.  
 

                                                 
153

  pp 759–760. 
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This is just one example of the multiple problems that are raised when one considers in 
greater detail how companies should account for the transactions they enter into and the 
events that affect their financial well-being. These problems raise two central issues: first, how 
should these transactions be recorded in the accounts: what should be the standards, rules, 
and conventions that apply to such accounting problems; and second, who should decide 
what the accounting rules should be: the company itself; a state regulator; or a professional 
body of accountants who engage with these issues on a daily basis?  

 

2 The standards and the standard setter 

 
2.1 The legal status of accounting standards 

 
At the time of the early distribution cases, such as Lee v Neuchatel Asphalte Company, whilst 
there were established professional accounting practices for reporting a company’s financial 
position, these practices had not been distilled into a set of written standards which were 
generally applicable to the preparation of financial statements. Nor at this time were there any 
specific legal requirements as regards the preparation of accounts. In Neuchatel, Lindley LJ 
observed that ‘as regards the mode of keeping accounts, there is no law prescribing how they 
shall be kept’. This enabled Lindley LJ to defer to management’s decision about whether or 
not to account for the depreciation of the mine in the accounts.  Today this discretion has 
been removed from management’s control. There is regulatory fusion of legal prescription set 
forth in the Companies Act 2006 and detailed accounting standards produced by accounting 
regulators about how to report financial transactions.   
 
The Companies Act 2006 sets forth the core accounting standard: namely, that the accounts 
must provide a ‘true and fair view’. It provides in section 393 that ‘the directors of a company 
must not approve accounts for the purposes of this Chapter unless they are satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss’ of the 
company’s individual or group accounts. The true and fair view requirement, which was first 
introduced in the Companies Act of 1948,

154
 applies to all company accounts, private or 

public, listed or unlisted. 
 
In addition to providing for the fundamental accounting standard of the ‘true and fair view,’ the 
Companies Act 2006 provides directly for the application of accounting standards in two 
different ways. First, it provides in relation to individual company accounts that they can either 
be prepared in accordance with the requirements of section 396 of the Act or in accordance 
with ‘international accounting standards’, as defined by the Act.

155
 In relation to Group 

Accounts of listed companies, EU Regulation 1606/2002 on the application of International 
Accounting Standards (the ‘IAS Regulation’) provides directly for the application of IFRS 
adopted by the European Union for the Group accounts of listed companies for financial years 
starting after 1 January 2005.

156
 Section 403(1) of the Act acknowledges the application of the 

IAS Regulation. For those companies not subject to the IAS Regulation, section 403(2) 

                                                 
154

  Section 149(1) CA 1948. It is also contained in Article 2 of the Fourth Company Law 
Directive (78/660/EEC). This means that although the ‘true and fair view’ requirement 
in English Law pre-dates the Directive, the requirement now implements the Directive 
and must be construed in accordance with the Directive. Discussing the EU cases 
that have considered the consistency of the Directive with accounting rules see M. 
Moore QC’s Opinion: ‘The True and Fair View Requirement Revisited’ (21 April 2008) 
paras 10-21 and appendix. 

  
155

  Section 395 CA 2006. ‘International accounting standards’ is defined in Section 474 
CA 2006; considered in 2.1.2 below.  

 
156

  Article 4 IAS Regulation.  
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provides the option of preparing the Group Accounts in accordance with provisions set forth in 
section 404 of the Act or in accordance with ‘international accounting standards’.  Accounts 
prepared in accordance with section 396 or 404 of the Act are referred to by the Act as 
‘Companies Act accounts’; accounts prepared in accordance with international accounting 
standards, as ’IAS accounts’.  

 

 

2.1.1 Companies Act Accounts: UK GAAP accounts 
 
For companies that prepare their accounts in accordance with section 396 (individual 
accounts) and section 404 (Group Accounts), rather than in accordance with international 
accounting standards, the Act: first, explicitly reaffirms that such accounts must provide a true 
and fair view;

157
 and second, requires that the accounts must comply with regulations issued 

by the Secretary of State for Business relating to the form and content of the accounts. Today 
these regulations are set forth in Small Companies and Groups (accounts and directors’ 
report) Regulations 2008 and The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups 
(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008.

158
 The regulations provide required formats for the 

accounts and certain, although very limited, substantive standards. For example, the Large 
and Medium-Sized Company regulations provide that a company’s accounting policies must 
be applied consistently from year to year,

159
 preventing a company from changing its policies 

in different years to obtain the most favourable presentation of its results.  The Act also 
provides that companies must provide for depreciation of fixed assets that have a ‘limited 
useful economic life,’ although it provides no guidance on how the depreciation is to be 
effected apart from the fact that it must be ‘systematic’.

160
 In addition, The Large and Medium-

sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 require that 
companies state whether the accounts have been compiled in accordance with the applicable 
accounting standards, to provide particulars for any material departures and to give reasons 
for the departures.

161
  ‘Accounting standards’ in this regard consist primarily of the standards 

issued by the Financial Reporting Council (FRC).
162

  Note, however, that the Act and 
secondary legislation do not require that accounts are prepared in accordance with the 
standards issued by the FRC, only that the notes to the accounts state whether they are 

                                                 
157

  Section 396(2) and 404(2) CA 2006. 
  
158

  The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008 No. 410, as amended by The Large and Medium-Sized Companies 
and Groups (Accounts and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 No. 1981.  

 
159

  The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008/410, Schedule 1; Part 2, Section A, regulation 12. 

 
160

  The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008/410, Schedule 1; Part 2, Section B, para. 18. Other substantive 
guidelines relate to, amongst others, provisioning for permanent reduction in the 
value of an asset (para. 19); the use of ‘development costs’ (para. 21); goodwill (para. 
22); and the calculation of production cost, or purchase price (para. 27). 

 
161

  Ibid Schedule 1, Part 3, para. 45. This is not required in relation to small companies 
by the Small Companies and Groups (accounts and directors’ report) Regulations 
2008.  

 
162

  Section 464 CA 2006 and The Accounting Standards (Prescribed Body) Regulations 
2008/651, regulation 2 designating the Accounting Standards Board (read FRC- see 
footnote below) as the prescribed body pursuant to section 464. 
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prepared in accordance with those standards and provide particulars and reasons for material 
departures.

163
 

 
UK accounting standards are sometimes called UK generally accepted accounting principles, 
or UK GAAP.

164
 UK GAAP includes the accounting requirements of the Act and secondary 

legislation as well as the specific accounting standards addressing multiple accounting 
issues, including the Financial Reporting Standards (FRSs) produced by the FRC, 
Statements of Standards Accounting Practice (SSAPs) produced by the Accounting Standard 
Board's (ASB)

165
 predecessor, the Accounting Standards Committee, and adopted by the 

ASB (now the FRC). 

 

2.1.2 International Accounting Standard accounts 
 
UK listed companies that are required to prepare their Group consolidated accounts, or for 
companies that elect to prepare their individual or Group accounts in accordance with 
‘international accounting standards’, must prepare their accounts in accordance with the IAS 
Regulation that requires compliance with the accounting standards issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board which, pursuant to Articles 3 and 6 of the IAS Regulation, have 
been adopted by the European Commission.  
 
The IASB is the independent standard setting body of the International Accounting Standards 
Committee.  The IASB board members are appointed by Trustees of the IASC who are in turn 
appointed by monitors of the IASC, who include appointees from the main international 
securities regulators

166
 as well as the European Commission.

167
 The IASB standards consist 

of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) produced by the IASB and the 
International Accounting Standards (IAS) produced by the IASB’s predecessor body, the 
International Accounting Standards Committee, and adopted by the IASB (we shall refer to all 
of these standards as IFRS). Pursuant to the IAS Regulation consolidated accounts must not 
be prepared in accordance with IFRSs but only those IFRSs that have been adopted by the 
Commission.

168
 In practice this requires compliance with virtually all IFRSs although some 

                                                 
163

  The structure of the Financial Reporting Council was subject to significant reform in 
July 2012. Prior to this date, the Accounting Regulator was a body called the 
Accounting Standards Board (ASB) which was a subsidiary of the FRC. This body 
has now been abolished and has been replaced by the Accounting Council of the 
FRC which reports into the Codes and Standards Committee of the FRC. Formally, 
after July 2012 it is the FRC that is responsible for Accounting Standards not the 
ASB. For details of the new FRC structure see: http://www.frc.org.uk/About-the-
FRC.aspx. Note that many of the documents dealing with accounting standards were 
produced by the ASB and until all applicable standards and documents are restated 
they will contain references to the ASB. All references to the ASB in these 
documents, or in this chapter, should be read as the FRC. 

 
164

  Note that also included in UK GAAP are the form and content requirements set forth 
in The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008/410 discussed above.  

 
165

  See above n. 163 on the ASB and the new FRC structure. 
 
166

  Including the chairman of the US SEC and the Commissioner of the Japanese 
Financial Services Agency (IASC Constitution 2009, para. 21). 

 
167

  For a full list of the members see IASC Constitution 2009 para. 21.  
 
168

  Article 4 IAS Regulation. 
 

http://www.frc.org.uk/About-the-FRC.aspx
http://www.frc.org.uk/About-the-FRC.aspx
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standards have not been adopted in full.
169

 We shall refer to these standards as EU adopted 
IFRS.   
 
Companies that elect to prepare their individual accounts in accordance with EU adopted 
IFRS must, pursuant to section 397, state in a note to the accounts that they have been 
prepared in accordance with international accounting standards.

170
 Similarly, section 406 of 

the Act provides that where company group accounts are required to be, or are by election, 
prepared in accordance with international accounting standards, the notes to the account 
must say that they are so prepared. This contrasts to UK GAAP individual and group 
accounts that, as discussed above, are required to state whether they have been prepared in 
accordance with UK GAAP and to provide particulars and reasons for departures from UK 
GAAP.

171
 However, as we shall see in the discussion below, this difference is of no 

significance as a result of the received meaning of the ‘true and fair view’ requirement. In this 
regard, note also that in contrast to ‘Companies Act accounts’,

172
 where accounts are 

prepared in accordance with international accounting standards the Act does not repeat the 
requirement that the accounts provide a true and fair view. Nevertheless, by virtue of the 
generally applicable requirement in section 393, such accounts are required by the Act to 
provide a true and fair view. It is to the meaning of true and fair view that we turn. 

 

 

 

2.2 The meaning of the true and fair view requirement 
 
The overarching legal requirement imposed on all company accounts, whether individual or 
group accounts, is that they provide a true and fair view of the company’s, or group of 
companies’, financial position.

173
 However, no definition of what amounts to a ‘true and fair 

view’ is provided by the Act. The importance of the ‘true and fair’ requirement is that although 
it is the legal standard for financial information, it creates a portal for the incorporation of 
accounting standards into law and a legal requirement to comply with those standards. It is, 
as we shall see below, the compliance with these standards which in turn determines whether 
a set of accounts provides a true and fair view.   
 
The Act does not, however, explicitly state that compliance with the ‘true and fair view 
requirement’ requires compliance with the accounting standards produced by the FRC. 
However, this is both implied by the statute and supported by the weight of authority and 
opinion. It is implied in general by the 2006 Act’s provisions addressing accounting standards 
discussed in 2.1 above and more particular by sections 396 and 404 of the Act, which provide 
what is known as ‘the true and fair override’ in relation to Companies Act accounts. Section 
396 provides as follows:

174
 

 

                                                 
169

  IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 
 
170

  The term ‘international accounting standards’ is defined in the Act to mean EU 
adopted IFRS – section 474 CA 2006. 

 
171

  The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008/410, Schedule 1, Part 2, para. 45. 

 
172

  Section 396(2) and 404(2) CA 2006. 
 
173

  Section 393 CA 2006. The Fourth (78/660/EEC) and Seventh (83/349/EEC) 
Company Law Directives provide also for a 'true and fair view'. 

 
174

   Section 404(5) is identical. 
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Section 396(5) Companies Act 2006 
 

If in special circumstances compliance with any of those provisions
175

 is inconsistent 

with the requirement to give a true and fair view, the directors must depart from that 

provision to the extent necessary to give a true and fair view. 

 

Particulars of any such departure, the reasons for it and its effect must be given in a 

note to the accounts. 
 
These sections clearly place the burden on the directors to justify a departure from the 
applicable accounting standards by its reference to special circumstances. The implication is 
that, in most cases, accounts that comply with the applicable accounting standards will be 
accounts that ‘give a true and fair view’. Support for the proposition that the ‘true and fair view’ 
requirement requires compliance with accounting standards is available from case law and 
also from very authoritative legal opinions from Queen's Council (Leonard Hoffmann QC (now 
Lord Hoffmann) and Mary Arden (now Lady Justice Arden)) when they were both barristers 
and, more recently, from Martin Moore QC). In this regard consider the following extracts. 
 

L. Hoffmann QC and M. Arden’s Opinion obtained by the 
Accounting Standards Committee on the True and Fair View with 
particular reference to the role of Accounting Standards (13 
September 1983) 
 

The question whether accounts give a true and fair view in compliance with the 

Companies Acts must be decided by a judge. But the courts look to guidance on this 

question to the ordinary practices of professional accountants. This is not merely 

because accounts are expressed in which judges find difficult to understand.  This 

may sometimes be true but it is a minor reason for the importance which the courts 

attach to evidence of accountancy practice.  The important reason is inherent in the 

nature of the ‘true and fair’ concept.  Accounts will not be true and fair unless the 

information they contain is sufficient in quantity and quality to satisfy the reasonable 

expectations of the readers to whom they are addressed. [These] expectations of the 

readers will have been moulded by the practices of accountants because by [and] 

large they will expect [to] get what they ordinarily get and that in turn will depend on 

the normal practices of accountants. 
 
For these reasons the courts will treat compliance with accepted accounting principles as 
prima facie evidence that the accounts are true and fair. Equally deviation from accepted 
principles will be prima facie evidence that they are not. 
 

 
M. Arden QC, Opinion on the Accounting Standards Board: The 
True and Fair View Requirement (1993) 
 

The question whether accounts satisfy the true and fair view requirement is a question 

of law for the Court. However, while the true and fair view which the law requires to 

be given is not qualified in any way, the task of interpreting the true and fair view 

requirement cannot be performed by the Court without evidence as to the practices 

and views of the accountants. The more authoritative those practices and views, the 

                                                 
175

  Referring to the provisions in the Act as well as the Large and Medium-sized 
Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008/410 which as 
noted above include a requirement to state whether the accounts have been 
prepared in accordance with "applicable accounting standards" and to detail "any 
material departures from those standards". 
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more ready the Court will be to follow them.  Those practices and views do not of 

course stand still. They respond to such matters as advances in accounting and 

changes in the economic climate and business practice.  The law will not prevent the 

proper development of the practices and views of accountants but rather, through the 

process of interpretation reflect such developments… 

 

[The opinion considered reforms introduced by the Companies Act 1989, in particular 

the statutory recognition of accounting standards and the requirement to explain non-

compliance with the Act, considered above and the introduction of a process whereby 

the Secretary of State, or a person authorised to do so, can make an application to 

court for a court determination of whether a company’s accounts complies with the 

requirements of the Act, considered further in C.IV.2 of this chapter below]. 

 

The changes brought about by the Companies Act 1989 will in my view affect the 

way in which the Court approaches the question of whether compliance with an 

accounting standard is necessary to satisfy the true and fair view requirement.  The 

Court will infer from Section 256
176

 that statutory policy favours both the issue of 

accounting standards (by a body prescribed by regulation) and compliance with 

them…The Court will also infer in my view from [what today is paragraph 45 of the 

Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 

2008] that (since the requirement is to disclose particulars of non-compliance rather 

than of compliance) accounts that meet the true and fair requirement will in general 

follow rather than depart from standards and that departure is sufficiently abnormal to 

require to be justified,  These factors increase the likelihood…that the Courts will 

hold that in general compliance with accounting standards is necessary to meet the 

true and fair requirement.
177

 
 
This view has been affirmed by case law and opinion. In Bairstow v Queen’s Moat House 
Plc,

178
 Nelson J observes: 

 

In their joint opinion to the Accounting Standards Committee, Leonard Hoffmann QC 

and Mary H Arden (as they then were)…rightly anticipated that the courts 

would…treat compliance with accepted accounting principles as prima facie evidence 

that the accounts were true and fair, and equally that deviation from accepted 

principles would be prima facie evidence that they were not. This view has been 

strengthened by the Companies Act 1989… 
 
In a more recent opinion on instruction from the Financial Reporting Council to consider this 
and other law and accounting issues, Martin Moore QC observed that the opinions provided 
by Lord Hoffmann and Lady Justice Arden on the true and fair view requirement have ‘been 
affirmed by the English courts’.

179
 

                                                 
176

  This section of the Act defined ‘accounting standards’ as the standards issued by the 
prescribed body – the Accounting Standards Board (now the FRC). 

 
177

  Mary Arden QC also observed that compliance with the abstracts issued by the 
ASB’s Urgent Issues Task Force, which addresses problems with and developments 
arising from the existing standards, would also be ‘necessary to meet the true and fair 
requirement’ (para. 12). 

 
178

  (19
th
 July 1999) Unreported; quoted in M. Moore QC’s Opinion: ‘The True and Fair 

View Requirement Revisited’ (21 April 2008), para. 15. 
 
179

  Citing the following cases in support of this view: Gallagher v Jones (Inspector of 
Taxes) [1994] Ch. 107; HMRC v William & Sons Distillers Limited [2007] UKHL 15. 
CF Balloon Promotions Limited v Wilson (Inspector of Taxes) 2006 SPC00524 
questioning the adequacy of the accounting standard on goodwill (SSAP 22). The 
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The Hoffmann and Arden opinions were given prior to the IAS Regulation coming into effect 
and the option of preparing company accounts in accordance with international accounting 
standards. Accordingly, the accounting standards applicable to determine whether accounts 
provided a true and fair view in accordance with the Companies Acts were UK accounting 
standards.  It seems clear that the true and fair view requirement will flexibly adjust to the new 
regime to require UK GAAP compliance for Companies Act accounts and IFRS adopted by 
the EU compliance with IAS accounts. 
 
Whilst the ‘true and fair view’ concept results in the incorporation of accounting standards into 
law and in most instances compliance with accounting standards will be required for accounts 
to comply with the ‘true and fair’ requirement, it is important to note that the ‘true and fair’ 
requirement and accounting standards are not synonymous. In an important respect the true 
and fair concept is more than compliance with accounting standards. One sees this  in the 
‘true and fair override’ provided by sections 396(5) and 404(5) which, in relation to Companies 
Act accounts, provides that compliance with the provisions set forth in the Act and in 
secondary legislation may be departed from if compliance with those requirements is 
necessary to provide a true and fair view. This provision recognizes that the application of 
accounting rules may not always present the clearest and truest picture of a company’s 
financial position and in some circumstances an alternative presentation, even if unorthodox, 
is required. Note, however, that such a non-application of specific accounting standards is UK 
GAAP and IFRS compliant, as both provide for such an override in ‘exceptional’

180
 or 

‘extremely rare’
181

 circumstances.
182

 

 
2.3 True and fair view versus ‘fairly present’ 
 
The true and fair view requirement has long been viewed as the core component of UK 
accounting standards, set forth not only in the Act but in the Accounting standards 
themselves. For example, in 1999 the Accounting Standards Board (now the FRC) issued its 
Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting that aims to set forth the principles that 
underpin UK accounting standards. In this Statement of Principles the ASB present the ‘true 
and fair view’ as at ‘the heart’ of financial reporting and the accounting principles, and 
accounting standards as representing the development of the ‘true and fair view’ concept. 
Consider the following extract from the Statement of Principles in this regard: 
 
 

Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting (ASB, 1999) 
 

10. The concept of true and fair view lies at the heart of financial reporting in the UK 

and the Republic of Ireland.  It is the ultimate test for financial statements and, as 

such, has a powerful, direct effect on accounting practice.  No matter how skilled the 

standard-setters and law-makers are, it is the need to show a true and fair view that 

puts their requirements in perspective… 

 

12. It is inherent in the nature of the true and fair view concept that financial 

statements will not give a true and fair view unless the information they contain is 

                                                                                                                                            
position of these courts was implicitly affirmed in Macquarie Internationale 
Investments Ltd v Glencore UK Ltd [2010] EWCA Civ 697 [51-52] 

 
180

  UK: see ASB Forward to Accounting Statements (ASB, 2012) para. 18 and FRS 18: 
Accounting Policies (ASB, 2000) para 15. 

 
181

  IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements (IASB, 2008) para 19. 
 
182

  See also FRC, 'True and Fair' (FRC, 2011) encouraging auditors "to be prepared, 
albeit in extremely rare circumstances, to consider using the true and fair override'. 
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sufficient in quantity and quality to satisfy the reasonable expectations of the readers 

to whom they are addressed.  Such expectations change over time and the board 

seeks, through its accounting standards and other authoritative pronouncements, both 

to respond to those expectations and to influence them.  
 

The adoption of EU adopted IFRS for listed company group accounts and the availability of 
this option for other UK companies, created some concern that this was inconsistent with the 
Fourth and Seventh Directive’s and the Companies Act’s requirement that the accounts 
present a true and fair view. The reason for this was that although the IAS Regulation 
provided that IFRSs could only be adopted if consistent with the Fourth and Seventh 
Directives,

183
 and therefore by implication with the true and fair requirement, the IFRSs 

themselves do not deploy the true and fair concept or view the standards as a development of 
those standards. Rather IFRS requires that accounts ‘fairly present’ the financial information.  
IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements requires that: 
 

Financial statements shall present fairly the financial position, financial performance 

and cash flows of an entity. Fair presentation requires the faithful representation of 

the effects of the transactions, other events and conditions in accordance with the 

definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, income and expenses set out 

in the IFRS Framework. The application of IFRSs, with additional disclosure when 

necessary, is presumed to result in financial statements that achieve a fair 

presentation.  
 

As we see from this statement ‘fair presentation’ requires compliance with the IFRS 
Framework - which is the IASB’s equivalent to the ASB’s statement of principles – and the 
IFRSs themselves. This, as we have seen, is effectively what is required by the true and fair 
view requirement in section 393 in relation to IAS accounts. There would appear, therefore, to 
be no difference between true and fair view and fairly present. However, the concern about 
the consistency between ‘true and fair’ and ‘fairly present’ requirements led the Financial 
Reporting Council to obtain a legal opinion from Michael Moore QC addressing this issue. In 
this regard he reached the following conclusions: 
 

The [IASB] Framework does not emphasise the true and fair concept [in the way it is 

emphasised in the ASB’s Statement of Principles for financial reporting].  It does, 

however, contain a passage which in my view makes it clear that ‘true and fair’ and 

‘present fairly’ do not describe two different concepts, but are simply articulations of 

the same concept. It says at paragraph 46: 

 

‘Financial statements are frequently described as showing a true and fair view of, or 

as presenting fairly, the financial position, performance and changes in the financial 

position of an entity. Although the framework does not deal directly with such 

concepts, the application of the principle qualitative characteristics and of appropriate 

accounting standards normally results in financial statements that convey what is 

generally understood as true and fair of, or as presenting fairly such information.’ 

… 

[My] conclusion would be that ‘true and fair’ and ‘present fairly’ were synonymous, 

even if it [is] left unexpressed in the Framework. It is noteworthy that ‘present fairly’ 

is very similar to ‘quadro fedele’ or ‘image fidele’ which are respectively the Italian 

and French translations of true and fair in the Fourth and Seventh Directives. 

 

                                                 
183

  The Fourth (78/660/EEC) and Seventh (83/349/EEC) Company Law Directives 
provide also for a 'true and fair view'. 
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3  The standards 
 
Under the new structure of the Financial Reporting Council, the FRC has taken over the role 
as accounting standard setter from the ASB. The UK accounting standards are set forth in 
Financial Reporting Statements

184
 and Statements of Standard Accounting Practice dealing 

with different aspects of accounting for a company’s transactions and financial statements.
185

 
The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) produce the statements that are 
generally referred to as 'international accounting standards', which, more precisely consist of 
the International Financial Reporting Standards

186
 and the International Accounting Standards 

that have been issued or adopted by the IASB.
187

 There is considerable overlap between the 
FRC’s and the IASB’s standards and principles. 
 
In addition to this, both the FRC (through the former ASB) and the IASB have issued a 
statement of the principles that underpin the issued and adopted accounting standards and 
which provide principled guidance for the preparers of financial statements when applying 
those standards: the FRC’s Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting and the IASB’s 
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements.   
 
The objective of this section is twofold: (i) to provide the reader with an understanding of the 
core accounting principles which are the basis of all accounting standards and their 
application; and (ii) to give a sense of the nature and effect of accounting standards. To do 
this we will use extracts form the FRC’s Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting and 
extracts from two standards which are connected to our analysis in this chapter and 
elsewhere in the book: namely on depreciation and provisioning. 

 
3.1 Accounting Principles  
 

Statement of Accounting Principles (ASB, 1999) Chapter 3: The 
Qualitative Characteristics of Financial Information 
 

In deciding which information to include in financial statements, when to include it 

and how to present it, the aim is to ensure that financial statements yield information 

that is useful.  This chapter considers the qualities of financial information that make 

it useful. 

 

Principles 

 

Information provided by financial statements needs to be relevant and reliable and, if 

a choice exists between relevant and reliable approaches that are mutually exclusive, 

the approach chosen needs to be the one that results in the relevance of the 

information provided being maximised. 

 

Information is relevant if it has the ability to influence the economic decisions of 

users and is provided in time to influence those decisions. Information is reliable if: 

                                                 
184

  Including FRSSE, the reporting standard for smaller entities.  
 
185

  For a list of these standards as well as the standard themselves see: 
http://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Codes-Standards/Accounting-and-Reporting-
Policy/Standards-in-Issue.aspx. 

 
186

  Including IFRS for SMEs, the reporting standard for smaller entities.  
 
187

  For a list of these standards see http://www.iasplus.com/en/standards. 
 

http://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Codes-Standards/Accounting-and-Reporting-Policy/Standards-in-Issue.aspx
http://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Codes-Standards/Accounting-and-Reporting-Policy/Standards-in-Issue.aspx
http://www.iasplus.com/en/standards
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- it can be depended upon by issuers to represent faithfully what it either 

purports to represent or could reasonably be expected to represent, and 

therefore reflects the substance of transactions and other events that have 

taken place; 

- it is free from deliberate or systematic bias and material error and is 

complete; 

- in its preparation under conditions of uncertainty, a degree of caution has 

been applied in exercising necessary judgements. 

 

Information in financial statements needs to be comparable. As an aid to 

comparability, information in financial statements needs to be prepared and presented 

in a way that enables users to discern and evaluate similarities in, and differences 

between, the nature and effects of transactions and other events over time and across 

different [companies]. 

 

Information provided by financial statements needs to be understandable… 

Information is understandable if its significance can be perceived by users that have a 

reasonable knowledge of business and economic activities and accounting and a 

willingness to study with reasonable diligence the information provided.  

 

Information that is material needs to be given in the financial statements… 

Information is material to the financial statements if its misstatement or omission 

might reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users.  
 

Commenting on the status and role of the Statement of Principles consider the following 
extract. 

 

D. Kershaw, ‘Evading Enron: Taking Accounting Regulation too 
Seriously’ (2005) 68 MLR 594 611-614 
 

The Statement of Principles is not an accounting standard, rather it sets forth a 

coherent frame of reference to be used by the ASB in formulating accounting 

standards. The ASB also recognises, however, that it will assist preparers of financial 

statements and auditors to understand the ASB’s approach to standard setting and will 

act as a useful guide in the absence of applicable standards. From the perspective of 

principles which can guide accounting decision makers in making judgments about 

accounting treatments, chapters one and three of the Statement are most relevant. 

Chapter one sets forth the objectives of financial statements, which it identifies as 

information that is useful to present to potential investors ‘for assessing the 

stewardship of the entity’s management and for making economic decisions’. Chapter 

three sets out ‘The Qualitative Characteristics of Financial Information’. The central 

characteristics are identified as relevance, reliability, comparability, understandability 

and materiality. Information is relevant if it is capable of influencing economic 

decisions by the users of the information. It is particularly relevant if it has predictive 

value in relation to the company’s future operations and if it confirms, or indeed 

contradicts, previous understandings and assumptions about the company’s financial 

position and operations. Information is reliable if it faithfully represents what it 

purports to represent and if it is neutral, free from error, complete and is recorded on 

a prudent basis which ensures that assets are not overstated and liabilities are not 

understated. Comparability emphasises the increased value of information where it 

can be compared with the company’s own previous activities but also the activities of 

other entities. Encouraging comparability therefore requires consistent accounting 

policies from one period to the next. Understandability speaks for itself: information 

is of no value if it cannot be understood. Materiality requires the inclusion of 



D. Kershaw: Company Law in Context: Text and Materials, 2
nd

 edition 

 

© Oxford University Press, 2013. All rights reserved. 

48 

information that is significant to understanding the company’s financial position. 

Information which if misstated or omitted could affect the economic decision taken 

by users of the information is deemed material. 
 

 
3.2 Accounting standards on depreciation and provisioning 
 
Two extracts from two Financial Reporting Standards are set forth below. The first extract is 
from FRS 15 Tangible Fixed Assets which provides some answers to the issues identified and 
the questions raised in section B.III.1 regarding the appropriate way of depreciating assets 
such as buildings, equipment, or a mine. The second extract is from FRS Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. This accounting standard was considered in 
Chapter 19 when we looked at the effect of involuntary creditor liabilities on the balance sheet 
and, in turn, on the effect of such liabilities on the ability of a company to pay a dividend in 
accordance with the accounting-based distribution tests set forth in sections 830 and 831 of 
the Companies Act 2006.  ‘Provisions’ represent potential liabilities where the probability of 
payment is deemed high enough to include a liability amount in the balance sheet and to 
record that amount as an expense in the profit and loss account. Where there is a possibility 
of a liability but the probability of its incurrence is not deemed high enough, accountants treat 
such a possible liability as a ‘contingent liability’ which, currently,

188
 does not affect the entries 

in the balance sheet or the profit and loss account. The question of central importance in this 
regard is what is the level of likelihood or probability above which a possible liability is 
‘provisioned’ and below which it is treated as a contingent liability? The extract from FRS 12 
below provides us with UK GAAP’s answer to this question. 
  
 

Financial Reporting Standard 15: Tangible Fixed Assets (ASB, 
1999) 
 
Depreciation 
 

77. The depreciable amount of a tangible fixed asset
189

 should be allocated on a 

systematic basis over its useful economic life. The depreciation method used should 

reflect as fairly as possible the pattern in which the asset’s economic benefits are 

consumed by the entity. The depreciation charge for each period should be recognised 

as an expense in the profit and loss account… 

 

78. The fundamental objective of depreciation is to reflect in operating profit the cost 

of use of the tangible fixed assets (i.e. amount of economic benefits consumed) in the 

period. This requires a charge to operating profit even if the asset has risen in value or 

been revalued. 

 

                                                 
188

  Current reform proposals, if implemented, would result in contingent liabilities being 
recorded in the balance sheet and the profit and loss account, discounted by the 
probability of payment: see Financial Exposure Reporting Draft (FRED) 39: 
Amendments to FRS 12 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.  

 
189

  ‘Tangible fixed asset’ is defined in FRS 15 to mean ‘assets that have physical 
substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, for 
rental to others, or for administrative purposes on continuing basis in the [company’s] 
activities’ (para. 2). This would clearly include all the depreciated assets in the 
examples set forth in Hypotheticals A and B above. 
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79. Where an asset has been revalued the current period’s depreciation charge is 

based on the revalued amount and the remaining useful economic life.
190

 Ideally, the 

average value of the asset for the period should be used to calculate the depreciation 

charge. In practice, however, either the opening or closing balance may be used 

instead, provided that it is used consistently each period. 

 

80. The economic benefits embodied in a tangible fixed asset are consumed by the 

entity principally through the use of the asset. However, other factors often also result 

in the diminution of the economic benefits that might have been expected to be 

available from the asset. Consequently, all the following factors need to be 

considered in determining the useful economic life, residual value and depreciation 

method of an asset: 

 

- the expected usage of the asset by the entity, assessed by reference to the 

asset’s expected capacity or physical output; 

- the expected physical deterioration of the asset through use or effluxion of 

time; this will depend upon the repair and maintenance programme of the 

entity both when the asset is in use and when it is idle; 

- economic or technological obsolescence, for example arising from changes or 

improvements in production, or a change in the market demand for the 

product or service output of that asset; 

- legal or similar limits on the use of the asset, such as the expiry dates of 

related leases. 

 

81. A variety of methods can be used to allocate the depreciable amount of a tangible 

fixed asset on a systematic basis over its useful economic life. The method chosen 

should result in a depreciation charge throughout the asset’s useful economic life and 

not just towards the end of its useful economic life or when the asset is falling in 

value. Two of the more common methods are: 

 

- straight-line. Here it is assumed that equal amounts of the asset's economic 

benefits are consumed in each year of the asset's estimated useful economic 

life. Therefore the asset is written off in equal installments over its estimated 

useful economic life; 

- reducing balance. This method more closely reflects the pattern of 

consumption of the economic benefits of assets that clearly provide greater 

benefits when new than as they become older-perhaps as a result of general 

wear causing them to become more prone to breakdown, or less capable of 

producing a high-quality product, or because they will necessarily be less 

technologically advanced than the latest model. 

 

Where the pattern of consumption of an asset's economic benefits is uncertain, a 

straight-line method of depreciation is usually adopted. 

 

82. A change from one method of providing depreciation to another is permissible 

only on the grounds that the new method will give a fairer presentation of the results 

and of the financial position. Such a change does not, however, constitute a change of 

accounting policy; the carrying amount of the tangible fixed asset is depreciated using 

the revised method over the remaining useful economic life, beginning in the period 

in which the change is made. 

 

                                                 
190

  ‘Useful economic life’ is defined in FRS 15 to mean ‘the period over which the entity 
expects to derive economic benefits from that asset’. 
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83. Where the tangible fixed asset comprises two or more major components with 

substantially different useful economic lives, each component should be accounted 

for separately for depreciation purposes and depreciated over its individual useful 

economic life. 

 

84. Land and buildings are separable components and are dealt with separately for 

accounting purposes, even when they are acquired together. With certain exceptions, 

such as sites used for extractive purposes or landfill, land has an unlimited life and 

therefore is not depreciated. Buildings have a limited life and therefore are 

depreciated. An increase in the existing use value of the land on which a building 

stands does not affect the determination of the useful economic life or residual value 

of the building. Another example of separable components that may have 

substantially different useful economic lives is the structure of a building and items 

within the structure such as general fittings… 

 

93. The useful economic life of a tangible fixed asset should be reviewed at the end of 

each reporting period and revised if expectations are significantly different from 

previous estimates. If a useful economic life is revised, the carrying amount of the 

tangible fixed asset at the date of revision should be depreciated over the revised 

remaining useful economic life. 
 

 

Financial Reporting Standard 12: Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
 

Recognition:  

Provisions
191

 

14. A provision should be recognised
192

 when: 

(a) an entity has a present obligation (legal
193

 or constructive
194

) as a result of a past 

event; 

(b) it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle the 

obligation; and 

(c) a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

If these conditions are not met, no provision should be recognised… 

 

Present obligation 

15. In rare cases it is not clear whether there is a present obligation. In these cases, a 

past event is deemed to give rise to a present obligation if, taking account of all 

                                                 
191

  ‘Provision’ is defined in FRS 12 as ‘a liability of uncertain timing or amount’ (para. 2). 
 
192

  ‘Recognition’ means that the depreciated amount is taken account of in both the 
balance sheet respective asset entry and the profit and loss account. 

  
193

  A ‘legal obligation’ is defined in FRS 12 to mean ‘an obligation that derives from: (a) a 
contract (through its explicit or implicit terms); (b) legislation; or (c) other operation of 
law’ (para. 2). 

 
194

  A ‘constructive obligation’ is defined in FRS 12 to mean ‘An obligation that derives 
from an entity's actions where: (a) by an established pattern of past practice, 
published policies or a sufficiently specific current statement, the entity has indicated 
to other parties that it will accept certain responsibilities; and (b) as a result, the entity 
has created a valid expectation on the part of those other parties that it will discharge 
those responsibilities.’ 
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available evidence, it is more likely than not that a present obligation exists at the 

balance sheet date. 

 

16. In almost all cases it will be clear whether a past event has given rise to a present 

obligation. In rare cases, for example in a lawsuit, it may be disputed whether certain 

events have occurred or whether those events result in a present obligation. In such a 

case, an entity determines whether a present obligation exists at the balance sheet date 

by taking account of all available evidence, including, for example, the opinion of 

experts. The evidence considered includes any additional evidence provided by 

events occurring after the balance sheet date. On the basis of such evidence: 

(a) where it is more likely than not that a present obligation exists at the balance sheet 

date, the entity recognises a provision (if the recognition criteria are met); and 

(b) where it is more likely that no present obligation exists at the balance sheet date, 

the entity discloses a contingent liability, unless the possibility of a transfer of 

economic resources is remote… 

 

Past event 

17. A past event that leads to a present obligation is called an obligating event. For an 

event to be an obligating event, it is necessary that the entity has no realistic 

alternative to settling the obligation created by the event. This is the case only: 

(a) where the settlement of the obligation can be enforced by law; or 

(b) in the case of a constructive obligation, where the event (which may be an action 

of the entity) creates valid expectations in other parties that the entity will discharge 

the obligation. 

 

18. Financial statements deal with the financial position of an entity at the end of its 

reporting period and not its possible position in the future. Therefore no provision is 

recognised for costs that need to be incurred to operate in the future. The only 

liabilities recognised in an entity’s balance sheet are those that exist at the balance 

sheet date. 

 

19. It is only those obligations arising from past events existing independently of an 

entity's future actions (i.e. the future conduct of its business) that are recognised as 

provisions. Examples of such obligations are penalties or clean-up costs for unlawful 

environmental damage, both of which would lead to a transfer of economic benefits 

in settlement regardless of the future actions of the entity. Similarly, an entity 

recognises a provision for the decommissioning costs of an oil installation or a 

nuclear power station to the extent that the entity is obliged to rectify damage already 

caused. In contrast, because of commercial pressures or legal requirements, an entity 

may intend or need to carry out expenditure to operate in a particular way in the 

future (for example, by fitting smoke filters in a certain type of factory). Because the 

entity can avoid the future expenditure by its future actions, for example by changing 

its method of operation, it has no present obligation for that future expenditure and no 

provision is recognised. 

 

20. An obligation always involves another party to whom the obligation is owed. It is 

not necessary, however, to know the identity of the party to whom the obligation is 

owed–indeed the obligation may be to the public at large. Because an obligation 

always involves a commitment to another party, it follows that a management or 

board decision does not give rise to a constructive obligation at the balance sheet date 

unless the decision has been communicated before the balance sheet date to those 

affected by it in a sufficiently specific manner to raise a valid expectation in them that 

the entity will discharge its responsibilities. 

 



D. Kershaw: Company Law in Context: Text and Materials, 2
nd

 edition 

 

© Oxford University Press, 2013. All rights reserved. 

52 

21. An event that does not give rise to an obligation immediately may do so at a later 

date, because of changes in the law or because an act (for example, a sufficiently 

specific public statement) by the entity gives rise to a constructive obligation. For 

example, when environmental damage is caused there may be no obligation to 

remedy the consequences. However, the causing of the damage will become an 

obligating event when a new law requires the existing damage to be rectified or when 

the entity publicly accepts responsibility for rectification in a way that creates a 

constructive obligation… 

 

23. For a liability to qualify for recognition there must be not only a present 

obligation but also the probability of a transfer of economic benefits to settle that 

obligation. For the purpose of the FRS, a transfer of economic benefits or other event 

is regarded as probable if the event is more likely than not to occur, i.e. the 

probability that the event will occur is greater than the probability that it will not. 

Where it is not probable that a present obligation exists, an entity discloses a 

contingent liability, unless the possibility of a transfer of economic resources is 

remote. 

 

24. Where there are a number of similar obligations (e.g., product warranties or 

similar contracts) the probability that a transfer will be required in settlement is 

determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. Although the 

likelihood of outflow for any one item may be small, it may well be probable that 

some transfer of economic benefits will be needed to settle the class of obligations as 

a whole. If that is the case, a provision is recognised (if the other recognition criteria 

are met). 

 

Reliable estimate of the obligation 

25. The use of estimates is an essential part of the preparation of financial statements 

and does not undermine their reliability. This is especially true in the case of 

provisions, which by their nature are more uncertain than most other balance sheet 

items. Except in extremely rare cases, an entity will be able to determine a range of 

possible outcomes and can therefore make an estimate of the obligation that is 

sufficiently reliable to use in recognising a provision. 

 

26. In the extremely rare case where no reliable estimate can be made, a liability 

exists that cannot be recognised. That liability is disclosed as a contingent liability. 

 

Contingent liabilities
195

 

27. An entity should not recognise a contingent liability. 

 

28. A contingent liability is disclosed…unless the possibility of a transfer of 

economic benefits is remote. 

 
 

The function of setting forth these accounting standards in this Chapter is not to provide an 
analysis of these accounting standards: their detailed requirements and an evaluation thereof. 

                                                 
195

  A ‘contingent obligation’ is defined in FRS 12 as:  ‘(a) a possible obligation that arises 
from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of 
one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the entity's control; or (b) a 
present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognized because: (i) it is 
not probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation; or (ii) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient 
reliability’. 
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Rather the function of their inclusion here is to give a legal audience a flavour of the nature of 
an accounting standard: how they are written, structured, and how they might be applied in 
practice. In this regard consider the following observations: 
 

 Lawyers unfamiliar with accounting standards may be surprised to find on reading the 
above extracts that they ‘feel’ very law-like. They provide detailed rules on how to 
record accounting events. Those rules refer to detailed definitions. In the extract from 
FRS 12, for example, to determine whether a provision must be recognized the 
standard requires that we consider definitions of ‘legal and constructive obligation’ in 
relation to ‘past events’. It provides a workable definition of ‘probable’ - ‘more likely 
than not’ – and guidance on how to determine a ‘reliable estimate of the obligation’. 
Anyone applying this standard would need to pay continual and close regard to the 
text of the standard. 

  

 People unfamiliar with accounting often view it as a clear science in which financially 
determinate events and outcomes are inputted into categories in the accounts. 
Accounting, viewed as a science of financial numbers, is readily seen as involving the 
dull and unimaginative practice of finding and inputting determinate and available 
numbers. Hopefully, anyone reading this chapter with such a perception of 
accounting will now have cast it aside. We see from these standards that although 
they provide many rules providing detailed guidance, in application there remains 
considerable scope to account for transactions in many different ways that are wholly 
consistent with the guidance given in the standards. Accounting is an art requiring the 
informed professional judgement of those applying the standards. Consider FRS 15 
for example. It provides for two decisions to be made by the preparer of the accounts: 
to decide the basis for depreciation (a straight-line or reducing balance basis); and to 
decide the asset’s useful economic life. The nature of the asset and its use in 
production should determine the accounting decisions that are made. Guidance is 
given in each regard, but only in the form of a list of factors that the preparer of the 
accounts must weigh and, where he deems them relevant, apply. In relation to 
provisioning, considerable scope for the exercise of judgment is given by FRS 12 to 
the preparer of the accounts in determining whether there is a more-likely-than-not 
probability that the obligation exists; a more-likely-than-not probability that payment 
will have to be made, and in relation to which a reliable estimate of the payment can 
be made. 

  

 Clearly there is considerable scope for judgment in the application of these standards 
and, therefore considerable scope for preparers of the accounts to apply the 
standards and present the financial statements in a way that is ‘favourable’ from the 
preparer’s perspective. This problem is the focus of multiple regulatory strategies 
which we consider in the following Part C of this chapter. However, in the accounting 
standards themselves we see an attempt to ensure that the discretion that is 
necessarily contained within the standard is not abused. For example, in the specific 
standards themselves we may find principled statements of what the recording of the 
accounting event is supposed to achieve. FRS 15 observes that ‘the fundamental 
objective of depreciation is to reflect in operating profit the cost of use of the tangible 
fixed assets (i.e., amount of economic benefits consumed) in the period’. 
Furthermore, as we have seen above, the exercise of accounting discretion should 
take place in accordance with the accounting principles that underpin the standards 
themselves and should guide preparers of financial statements when applying the 
statements. In relation to UK GAAP these core principles include the principles set 
forth in the ASB’s Statement of Accounting Principles such as relevance and 
reliability as well as the statutory exhortation that the accounts should provide a ‘true 
and fair view’.  Nevertheless, a principled framework within which decision-making is 
to operate, no matter how clear and compelling it is, may not on its own be sufficient 
to ensure that the discretion given to the preparers of accounts is correctly exercised 
where it remains in the interests of the preparers to exercise their discretion in a self-
serving way. It is to this problem that we now turn in Part C. 
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C: REGULATING FINANCIAL STATEMENT 
RELIABILITY 

 

I Introduction 
 

Applying accounting standards to a company’s transactions and assets requires considerable 
skill and good judgment.  We have seen above that recording and presenting financial 
information is not a determinate science.  The preparer of the financial statements when 
applying accounting standards will regularly have to make judgment calls about how to record 
transactions and assets, and there may be several ‘judgment-options’ which fall within the 
range of legitimate and plausible ‘judgment calls,’ but which have very different effects on the 
company’s accounting good health.  For example, the selection of a long life span for a 
tangible fixed asset which overstates its useful economic life will lower the depreciation entry 
and result in a more favourable view of the company’s profitability in the early years of the use 
of the asset. A decision that the probability of having to make a payment in relation to a 
possible liability is 48% rather than 51% results in the possible liability having no direct impact 
on the financial statements. Challenging the judgment call made by the preparer of the 
financial statements - that the chosen useful economic life of the asset is too long or the 
probability of payment is higher than assessed - is likely to be very difficult because these 
types of judgment can legitimately and plausibly be made within a range of options: perhaps 
10-15 years for the asset’s economic life or 40-60% in relation to the probability of payment in 
relation to the possible liability.       
 
Behavioural psychologists have empirically established what we have long known. That when 
we exercise discretion in a context where we have a personal interest in the outcome of the 
decision - put more broadly, a preference of some form that can be satisfied to some extent 
by a particular outcome – the decision will serve that interest or preference. They have 
labelled this ‘self-serving bias’.

196
 This self-serving bias may operate crudely where the 

decision-maker consciously calculates the extent to which his preferences can be satisfied by 
a decision and makes the decision which, to the extent possible, maximizes the satisfaction of 
his preferences.  More subtly, self-serving bias may be operable sub-consciously even in 
relation to the most upstanding and honest of decision-makers who consciously tries to 
ensure that his interests are not taken into account when making the decision.  
 
The company is the preparer of the financial statements. The Chief Financial Officer in the 
company, who typically in the UK will also be an executive director in the company, is the 
senior officer in the company who is responsible for preparing the financial statements. 
Depending on the size of the company, he will be assisted in this process by a number of 
qualified management accountants. The company, the board as a whole, the executive 
directors, and more junior accounting company employees all have a personal interest in 
providing the most favourable presentation of the company’s financial position as is possible. 
An accounting decision that makes a company look more profitable will make it easier and 
cheaper for the company to raise debt and equity finance from new investors.  The healthier 
the company looks, the more the board and managers are likely to keep their jobs and easier 
it is to deter any predatory control entrepreneurs. Management will benefit directly through 
performance related pay if this pay is linked to accounting profitability targets, and if the value 
of the shares rises in response to enhanced profitability directors and managers can make 
more personal wealth by exercising their options and selling their shares. The pay and career 
path of junior company accounting employees is within the gift of senior management. For 

                                                 
196

  See for example, C. Sedikides et al ‘The Self-Serving Bias in Relational Context’ 
(1998) 74 Journal of Personality and Social Psychology’ 378. 
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these employees their personal interests are for a large part aligned with their bosses’ 
personal interests.  
 
Accordingly, the company, its management and employees’ ‘personal interests’ may not be 
wholly aligned with the interests of investors and society at large in ensuring that company 
financial information is as reliable, representative, and accurate as possible.  If self-serving 
bias is a real phenomenon then these interests will at some level, which will vary from 
company to company, manager to manager, and employee to employee, infect the financial 
information produced by the company, its managers, and employees.  Telling such individuals 
to ‘behave’ through statements of principle and exhortations to a true and fair view will not 
resolve this problem although it may, in some instances, dampen the effects of the self-
serving bias. Other regulatory solutions are required and it is to these that we now turn.  
 
There are four strategies used in the UK to ensure that financial statements are accurate and 
reliable. First, and most importantly, is the requirement to obtain verification of the accounts 
by an external independent third party auditor. A second strategy is to provide internal and 
independent (of management) oversight of the financial statement production process through 
a company audit committee. A third strategy is to provide for the review of the accounts 
themselves by the accounting regulator. This is carried out by a subsidiary of the Financial 
Reporting Council, The Financial Reporting Review Panel. A fourth strategy involves the 
imposition, in certain circumstances, of liability on directors for misleading and inaccurate 
financial disclosures. These strategies are addressed in turn in sections C.II, III, and IV below.  
 
An additional mechanism, which we will not address here but may have some regulatory 
impact on both the preparation of accounts by the company and the effective verification of 
those accounts by auditors, is the idea and identified formation capacity of ‘accountancy’ as a 
profession, with a public regarding responsibility above and beyond the accountant’s 
responsibility to employer or client. This idea of ‘the profession’ has the capacity to re-align 
the company’s accounting employees and their auditors’ commitment to accuracy and 
reliability away from the distorting effect of the incentives to accommodate management’s 
interests. Fostering and measuring this cultural effect is beyond the scope of this book, 
however, the extent of its effectiveness determines the importance in practice of the 
strategies we address below.  

 

II Auditors: The gatekeepers of reliable financial 
information 

 

1 The Audit requirement and auditor appointment 
 
As a result of the self-serving bias problems identified above, investors would rightly feel 
concerned if asked to rely upon financial information produced only by the company’s 
management and employees. The concern that managerial self-interest may have distorted 
the presentation of financial information will lead investors either not to invest at all or to 
require an addition risk premium for investing in the company. Any jurisdiction that relies only 
upon the company itself to produce financial information will systematically raise its 
companies’ cost of capital unless the regulators or the companies themselves can credibly 
convey to investors that the accounting information is reliable.  
 
The mechanism used in all advanced economy jurisdictions to convince investors that 
accounting information is reliable is the independent third party audit. This involves 
companies employing an independent third party specialized in accounting to review the 
company’s preparation of accounts and to verify that they have been prepared in accordance 
with the applicable accounting standards. For this reason auditors are sometimes referred to 
as a ‘gatekeeper’ of the financial system: they are a means of ensuring that the information 
that passes through the gates of the capital market is accurate and can be relied upon by 
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investors. In the UK well known audit firms include firms such as Ernst & Young, KPMG, 
PWC, and Deloitte. These four firms are known as the ‘Big Four’ as they are substantially 
larger, both in the UK and internationally, than other audit competitors.   
 
Section 475 of the Companies Act 2006 requires all companies, unless they qualify as ‘small 
companies’

197
 or ‘dormant companies,’

198
 to be audited.  The Act provides that subject to 

certain limited rights of the directors to appoint auditors,
199

 for example, to fill a casual 
vacancy,

200
 the members of the company appoint the auditors by ordinary resolution.

201
 As 

regards the timing of the appointment, the Act distinguishes between private and public 
companies by requiring that an auditor of a public company be reappointed each year

202
 

whereas an auditor of a private company is deemed automatically reappointed if no auditor is 
appointed for the following year, unless the articles require reappointment or 5% of the 
shareholder body object to automatic reappointment.

203
  In addition to requiring an ordinary 

resolution for appointment of the auditors the Act also requires that the shareholders ‘fix’ the 
auditors’ remuneration or determine the process by which it is to be fixed by ordinary 
resolution.

204
 In practice, of course, rationally apathetic members in widely-held companies 

will not actively participate in scrutinizing the auditor who is proposed to the members for 
reappointment or in determining whether his remuneration is appropriate. The shareholders 
will, in most instances, simply rubber stamp the board’s proposed appointee

205
 and the 

proposed remuneration. 

 

2 The scope of the audit and the audit report 
 
The Companies Act 2006 provides that the auditors must provide a report to the company’s 
members (an ‘audit report’) on the company’s annual accounts – its profit and loss account 
and balance sheet.

206
 The report must state whether the accounts provide a ‘true and fair 

view’ of the company’s financial position.
207

 Furthermore, the report must state whether the 

                                                 
197

  Section 477 CA 2006. On the definition of small company see Part B section II.2 
above. Note that shareholders who in aggregate hold 10% of a small company’s 
voting share capital may by notice demand that the company obtains an audit 
(section 476 CA 2006). 

 
198

  Dormant from formation or for the whole of the previous financial year (section 480 
CA 2006). 

 
199

  Note that the Act also provides the Secretary of State for Business with a default 
auditor appointment power where the company fails to appoint an auditor (section 
486 CA 2006 for a private company and section 490 CA 2006 for a public company). 

 
200

  Section 485(3) CA 2006 (private company) and section 489(3) CA 2006 (public 
company). 

 
201

  Section 485(4) (private company) and 489(4) (public company) CA 2006. 
 
202

  Section 491 CA 2006. 
 
203

  Section 487 and 488 CA 2006. See section 487(2) for further conditions that prevent 
automatic reappointment. 

 
204

  Section 492 CA 2006. 
 
205

  On the nomination process and the role of audit committees see further C.III.2.3.2 
below. 

 
206

  Section 495 CA 2006. 
 
207

  Section 495(3)(a) CA 2006. 
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accounts have been properly prepared in accordance with the applicable ‘financial reporting 
framework’ – UK GAAP or international accounting standards adopted by the EU – and in 
accordance with the Act.

208
 The Act provides that the audit report must be qualified or 

unqualified.
209

 If the accounts have not been prepared in accordance with the applicable 
accounting standards and do not provide a true and fair view the auditor must ‘qualify’ them to 
that extent.  
 
The Act requires directly, as well as indirectly through the true and fair view requirement, that 
the auditors’ report on whether the accounts have been ‘properly prepared in accordance 
with’ the applicable accounting standards. This could be read to require that the auditors 
verify and check every accounting entry to determine whether the amount recorded has been 
recorded consistently with the applicable accounting standards. Such an obligation would 
require in effect that auditors re-prepare the whole of the financial statements. Whilst such an 
approach would result in a higher level of reliability of the accounts, this is not what the audit 
in practice entails. Such a requirement would, of course, impose a very significant cost 
burden on UK companies. What then is required of auditors in order to be in a position to 
provide the audit report?  Some guidance on the Act’s expectations of the audit process is set 
forth in section 498 of the Act which imposes a duty on auditors to carry out investigations to 
enable them to form an opinion as to whether the company has adequate accounting records 
and that the company’s individual accounts are consistent with these accounting records. 
However, no further guidance is provided by the Act on the extent to which auditors have to 
check and verify whether each accounting entry is accurate and consistent with the applicable 
accounting standards.  
 
What is expected of auditors in this regard is set forth in guidance and auditing standards 
provided by the Financial Reporting Council. Under the pre-2012 FRC structure these 
standards were promulgated by the Auditing Practices Board (APB). The APB's role has now 
been subsumed into the Audit and Assurance Council which reports to the Codes and 
Standards Committee. The AAC in effect will be responsible for the drafting of standards 
which are then adopted by the FRC.   
 
Consider the view of the scope of the audit set forth in FRC's International Standard on 
Auditing 200.  
 

ISA (UK and Ireland) 200 Overall objectives of the independent auditor and 

the conduct of an audit in accordance with International Standards on 

Auditing (UK and Ireland) (APB, 2010) 
 

5  As the basis for the auditor's opinion, ISAs (UK and Ireland) require the 

auditor to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance. It is obtained when the 

auditor has obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence to reduce audit risk 

(that is, the risk that the auditor expresses an inappropriate opinion when the 

financial statements are materially misstated) to an acceptably low level. 

However, reasonable assurance is not an absolute level of assurance, because 

there are inherent limitations of an audit which result in most of the audit 

evidence on which the auditor draws conclusions and bases the auditor's 

opinion being persuasive rather than conclusive. 
 

                                                                                                                                            
 
208

  Section 495(3)(b) and (c) CA 2006.  
 
209

  Section 495(4) CA 2006. 
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A.45 The auditor is not expected to, and cannot, reduce audit risk to zero and 

cannot therefore obtain absolute assurance that the financial statements are free 

from material misstatement due to fraud or error. This is because there are 

inherent limitations of an audit, which result in most of the audit evidence on 

which the auditor draws conclusions and bases the auditor's opinion being 

persuasive rather than conclusive. The inherent limitations of an audit arise 

from: 

•The nature of financial reporting; 

•The nature of audit procedures; and 

•The need for the audit to be conducted within a reasonable period of time and 

at a reasonable cost. 
 

The nature of financial reporting 

 

A.46  The preparation of financial statements involves judgment by 

management in applying the requirements of the entity's applicable financial 

reporting framework to the facts and circumstances of the entity. In addition, 

many financial statement items involve subjective decisions or assessments or 

a degree of uncertainty, and there may be a range of acceptable interpretations 

or judgments that may be made. Consequently, some financial statement items 

are subject to an inherent level of variability which cannot be eliminated by 

the application of additional auditing procedures… 

 

Timeliness of financial reporting and the balance between benefit and cost 

 

A.48  The matter of difficulty, time, or cost involved is not in itself a valid 

basis for the auditor to omit an audit procedure for which there is no 

alternative or to be satisfied with audit evidence that is less than persuasive. 

Appropriate planning assists in making sufficient time and resources available 

for the conduct of the audit. Notwithstanding this, the relevance of 

information, and thereby its value, tends to diminish over time, and there is a 

balance to be struck between the reliability of information and its cost. This is 

recognized in certain financial reporting frameworks (see, for example, the 

IASB's “Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial 

Statements”). Therefore, there is an expectation by users of financial 

statements that the auditor will form an opinion on the financial statements 

within a reasonable period of time and at a reasonable cost, recognizing that it 

is impracticable to address all information that may exist or to pursue every 

matter exhaustively on the assumption that information is in error or 

fraudulent until proved otherwise. 

 

A.49  Consequently, it is necessary for the auditor to: 

• Plan the audit so that it will be performed in an effective manner; 

•Direct audit effort to areas most expected to contain risks of material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, with correspondingly less effort 

directed at other areas; and 

•Use testing and other means of examining populations for misstatements 
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Observe, in particular, that the auditor is required to obtain a reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

210
 This Standard provides clearly 

that auditors are not expected to check every single accounting entry made by the company 
or to look in detail at every transaction that resulted in each accounting entry. Auditors 
perform a set of tests and checks on the accounts in order to get ‘reasonably’ comfortable 
that the accounts are not ‘materially’ inaccurate.  These tests and checks are carefully 
designed to ensure that management does not determine what is checked by the auditors 
and that more rigorous testing and checks take place in relation to more significant entries. In 
this regard consider the audit standard on audit sampling, ISA 530, which provides auditors 
with detailed guidelines on the design and implementation processes to ensure rigorous 
sampling of transactions 'to provide a reasonable basis for the auditor to draw conclusions 
about the population from which the sample is selected.'

211
 

 
There is often said to be an ‘expectations gap’ between what the public thinks an audit 
represents and what an audit actually provides.  An unqualified or ‘clean’ audit report is 
viewed by many as a form of guarantee that the accounting information contained in the 
financial statements is accurate and reliable. A clean audit report does not provide this 
guarantee; rather a competent and independent audit operates to significantly increase the 
likelihood that the information is accurate and reliable.  A competent audit involving rigorous 
testing and sampling of a company’s accounting information cannot guarantee that important 
errors and manipulations have not been inadvertently missed or hidden away by 
management.

212
 

 
In order to assist the auditor in ensuring that all relevant accounting information has been 
considered and sampled the Act provides the auditor with information rights. Section 499 
gives the auditor the right to ‘access at all times’ the company’s books and accounts and the 
right to request from company officers and employees, and any officers and employees of any 
subsidiary company,

213
 ‘information or explanations’ the auditor thinks necessary for the 

performance of their duties.
214

  Any person who ‘knowingly or recklessly’ provides 
‘misleading, false or deceptive’ information commits a criminal offence punishable by fine or 
imprisonment.

215
  

 

                                                 
210

  ‘Materiality’ is defined in the IASB ‘Framework for the preparation and presentation of 
financial statements’ as ‘information is material if its omission or misstatement could 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial 
statements. Materiality depends on the size of the item or error judged in the 
particular circumstances of its omission or misstatement. Thus, materiality provides a 
threshold or cut-off point rather than being a primary qualitative characteristic which 
information must have if it is to be useful.’ This definition is used in ISA 320: 
Materiality (APB). 

 
211

  International Standard on Auditing (UK and Ireland) 530: Audit Sampling (APB, 
2010), [4]. 

 
212

  ISA 200 at [47]. 
 
213

  Section 500 provides specifically for information rights in relation to overseas 
subsidiaries. 

 
214

  The Act also provides that the auditor is entitled to obtain all notices and 
communications relating to a general meeting and is also to attend and be heard at 
the meeting – section 502 CA 2006. 

 
215

  Section 501 CA 2006. 
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The audit report must be filed with the Companies Registrar
216

 along with a company’s 
accounts and other reports and must be distributed and made available to the shareholders in 
accordance with the provisions discussed in B.II.3.

217
  

 

3  Auditing narrative reporting 
 
Audit as traditionally conceived and employed in relation to UK companies relates to the 
verification, on a test basis, that financial information has been appropriately recorded and 
presented in accordance with the applicable accounting standard regime. It involves, 
effectively, internal accountants being checked and reviewed by external accountants: a 
process that involves internal and external participants that belong to the same professional 
community (of accountants) and speak the same accounting language. With regard to 
narrative/non-financial/numerical disclosures made by the company there is not the same 
symmetry of community, language, and skill between information producer and verifier. 
Narrative reporting provides management’s ‘account’ of company developments and their 
view of the company’s strategy and the risks that such a strategy entails. Auditors have a 
limited-to-no natural comparative advantage as against any other business analyst regarding 
whether managements’ view is reasonable or accurate, although clearly where the narrative 
reports rely on historical financial information they are well placed to say whether accurate 
use of that information has been made. Arguably, of course, so is any other person who reads 
the financial statements carefully. Nevertheless, the logic of audit as a regulatory technique is 
seductive in relation to narrative reporting: these reports are produced by managers whose 
self-serving bias may result in the misrepresentation of actual facts and an unrealistic 
assessment both of the company’s future direction and the risks it faces. An informed and 
independent third party could serve as a valuable check on that self serving bias.  
 
In this regard the Companies Act 2006 finds itself stuck between the attraction of deploying 
audit in relation to narrative reporting and the disconnect between the auditor’s skill set and 
the experience and the skill set required to produce and verify narrative reports. In relation to 
the director’s report, section 496 of the Act requires that the auditors include in the audit 
report on the company’s accounts only their opinion as to whether ‘the information given in 
the directors’ report for the financial year for which the accounts are prepared is consistent 
with those accounts’.

218
  In relation to the directors’ remuneration report, which we considered 

in Chapter 8, section 497 of the Act goes a step further, requiring both a report on the 
‘auditable part’ of the remuneration report and a statement of the auditor’s opinion as to 
whether the report has been prepared in accordance with the Act’s requirements.

219
  

                                                 
216

  Sections 445(2) (medium-sized companies), 446(2) (unquoted companies), 447(2) 
(quoted companies) CA 2006. 

 
217

  Section 471(2)(c) CA 2006 defines ‘report’ to include the audit report. 
 
218

  Note that the mandatory operating and financial review which was abolished by the 
Government as explained in Part B, section II.2 above, contained a more demanding 
audit requirement which imposed a soft whistle-blowing obligation on the auditor of 
quoted companies.  This required in addition to the consistency statement that the 
auditor state ‘whether any matters have come to their attention, in the performance of 
their functions as auditors of the company, which in their opinion are inconsistent with 
the information given in the operating and financial review’ (The Companies Act 1985 
(Operating and Financial Review and Directors’ Report etc.) Regulations 2005, para. 
10). Under the new narrative reporting regime involving the Strategic Report and 
Directors Report (see above text to notes [112] – [126]) the audit obligation will be 
unaltered, namely to report on the consistency of the financial statements with the 
reports. 

 
219

  Note that the 2006 Act, as amended, now requires that the auditors state that the 
information about internal controls and risk management systems given in the quoted 
companies corporate governance statements (see text to note 141) is consistent with 
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The audit, therefore, plays a very limited role with regard to narrative reporting. Auditors are 
not required to provide third-party verification that the information contained in these reports 
is, on a test basis, either correct or, for example, within a range of reasonable opinions on the 
company’s state and development. The connection of these reports to the auditor as 
independent verifier may contribute an air of reliability and accuracy, but it is not clear that this 
connection in fact provides anything other than a regulatory and financial comfort blanket.

220
  

 

III Regulating audit quality 

 

1 Regulating competence 
 
There are two key components of audit quality: auditor competence and auditor 
independence, both of which are subject to significant regulation in the UK. Competence is 
self explanatory: in order to verify that the company’s financial activities have been correctly 
recorded and presented in accordance with the applicable accounting framework, auditors 
need to be able to understand the company’s business and its activities, its accounting 
procedures and its accounting and control systems, and to have expertise in the application of 
accounting standards to the audited company’s transactions, assets, and liabilities. They 
need to be able to identify and require rectification of accounting errors and mistakes and be 
inquisitive and demanding if there are indications of fraudulent accounting.   
 
There are four components to the regulation of audit competence in the UK, which space 
constraints only allow us to consider in outline here: first, the imposition of qualification 
barriers to entering the audit profession and continuing education requirements for qualified 
auditors; second, the imposition of detailed audit standards regarding audit process, 
procedures, and quality control; third, regulatory review and oversight of actual audits; fourth, 
disciplinary sanctions and liability exposure for an incompetent auditor. Liability exposure is 
addressed separately in section C.III.3 below.   

 
1.1 Professional qualifications and continuing education 
 
The Companies Act 2006 sets forth the conditions for being eligible for serving as a ‘statutory 
auditor’.

221
 A statutory auditor is defined in the Act to include, amongst others, an audit firm 

appointed to audit a company’s accounts.
222

 Section 1212 of the Act provides that a person is 
eligible to be appointed as a statutory auditor if they are a member of a ‘recognised 
supervisory body’

223
 and pursuant to the rules of that body they are eligible for appointment. 

                                                                                                                                            
the accounts: section 497A CA 2006, as amended by The Companies Act 2006 
(Accounts, Reports and Audit) Regulations 2009/1581. 

 
220

  On the audit and legitimacy see M. Power, The Audit Society: Rituals of Verification  
(OUP, 1997). 

 
221

  Part 42 of the Act implements the Statutory Audit Directive 2006/43/EC (OJ L 157) 
which, amongst others, repealed Council Directive 84/253/EEC (OJ L 126) (known as 
the 8th Company Law Directive on Audit). 

 
222

  Section 1210 CA 2006. 
 
223

  There are currently five recognized supervisory bodies: the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW); the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in Scotland (ICIS); the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland (ICAI); the 
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The Act provides detailed procedures for obtaining recognition as a ‘recognised supervisory 
body’

224
 as well as detailed minimum standards which must be complied with in order to 

obtain recognition.
225

  These minimum standards include that the supervisory bodies have in 
place: (i) rules providing that members of the body can only act as auditors if they have a 
recognized professional qualification;

226
 and (ii) rules to provide for the continuing education 

of their members to ensure that they ‘continue to maintain an appropriate level of competence 
in the conduct of statutory audits’.

227
 The body responsible for the oversight of the recognized 

supervisory bodies is the Conduct Committee of the Financial Reporting Council, which has 
taken over the responsibilities of the Professional Oversight Board of the FRC under the pre-
2012 FRC structure. The FRC has delegated authority to perform this role from the Secretary 
of State for Business.

228
 

 

1.2 Audit standards 
 

Both the Financial Reporting Council (through its Auidt and Assurance Council – previously 
the  Auditing Practices Board) and the individual Recognized Supervisory Bodies provide 
rules and guidance on the conduct of the audit

229
 and the internal firm procedures for 

ensuring a high standard of audit quality. Membership of a recognized professional body such 
as the ICAEW requires compliance with these standards.

230
  The ISAs cover a broad range of 

audit activities, for example, the auditor’s responsibility to consider fraud;
231

 understanding the 
entity and its environment, and assessing the risks of material misstatement;

232
 auditing 

accounting estimates;
233

 and auditing related party transactions.
234

 In addition the FRC has 
issued International Standard on Quality Control (UK and Ireland) 1: Quality control for firms 
that perform audits and reviews of historical financial information, which requires an audit firm 

                                                                                                                                            
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA); and the Association of 
Authorised Public Accountants (AAPA). 

 
224

  Schedule 10 Part 1 CA 2006.  The Secretary of State is empowered by Schedule 10 
to recognize a supervisory body.  

 
225

  Schedule 10 Part 2 CA 2006. 
 
226

  Schedule 10 paras 6–7 CA 2006. 
 
227

  Schedule 10 para. 11 CA 2006. 
 
228

  Section 1252 CA 2006. 
  
229

  ISA 200: Objective and general principles governing an audit of financial statements, 
para. 7 provides that: ‘the audit procedures required to conduct an audit in 
accordance with ISAs (UK and Ireland) should be determined by the auditor having 
regard to the requirements of ISAs (UK and Ireland), relevant professional bodies, 
legislation, regulations and, where appropriate, the terms of the audit engagement 
and reporting requirements.’ 

 
230

  This is a precondition to obtaining ‘recognised supervisory body’ status. 
 
231

  ISA 240: The auditor's responsibilities relating to fraud in an audit of financial 
statements (2010). 

 
232

  ISA 315: Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement through 
understanding the entity and its environment (2010). 

 
233

  ISA 540: Auditing accounting estimates including fair value accounting estimates and 
related disclosures (2010). 

 
234

  ISA 550: Related parties (2010).  
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to have a system of quality control in place, including procedures for carrying out internal firm 
monitoring and review of actual audits.  
 

1.3 Regulatory review of audit: the Audit Quality Review 
 
The audits of listed companies and other ‘major public interest entities’

235
 are subject to 

monitoring and review by the Audit Quality Review (AQR) team of the FRC's Conduct 
Committee. Prior to the 2012 restructuring of the FRC this work was carried out by the FRC's 
Audit Inspection Unit. The AQR annually inspects a selection of audits from the ‘Big Four’ 
accounting firms on an annual basis as well as other major audit firms which are responsible 
for at least more than 10 listed company audits on a three year cycle. In addition, for smaller 
audit firms who carry out listed company audits, the AQR will periodically review at least one 
audit from these firms. The reviews carried out by the AQR cover all aspects of the audit 
including audit procedures as well as the actual judgments made by the auditors. 

 

1.4 Disciplinary sanctions  
 
An auditor may be subject to a disciplinary process through the respective supervisory 
body.

236
 However, if the matter in question raises issues which affect the ‘public interest’ then 

the matter will be dealt with by the FRC’s Conduct Committee.
237

 Whether the matter in 
question affects the ‘public interest’ shall be determined by the Conduct Committee. In this 
regard the Conduct Committee will consider whether the matter gives rise to a ‘serious public 
concern’ or may ‘damage public confidence in the accountancy profession’.

238
 In practice, this 

means that the Conduct Committee will take control over a disciplinary investigation where 
the matter has received significant media attention.  An auditor (whether individual or firm) 
found to have committed professional misconduct by the Conduct Committee or a supervisory 
bodies' disciplinary unit may be subject to a reprimand, a fine, a suspension, or even loss of 
the licence to practice as an auditor.

239
   

                                                 
235

  For a full list of the entities subject to review by the AQR see Scope of Independent 
Inspection 2012/13 (Referring to the Audit Inspection Unit but applicable to the AQR, 
available at: http://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/1226b444-b850-428e-9051-
18177aed1d79/AIU-Scope-of-Independent-Inspection-2012-13.aspx). Such entities 
include, for example: AIM or Plus quoted companies with a greater than $50 million 
market capitalization; unquoted companies with a turnover of more than £500 million; 
and charities with an income of more than £100 million. 

 
236

  The disciplinary bye-laws of the supervisory bodies, for example, the ICAEW, are 
more specific than the Conduct Committee standard in relation to the standards of 
misconduct. The ICAEW’s disciplinary bye-laws for example, provide for disciplinary 
sanctions where the audit firm has committed an act or behaved with such 
incompetence as to bring discredit on himself, the ICAEW, or the profession (ICAEW, 
Disciplinary Bye-Laws [4] and [5]) (available at: 
http://www.icaew.com/en/members/regulations-standards-and-guidance/bye-
laws/disciplinary-bye-laws). 

 
237

  Prior to the reform of the FRC's structure in 2012 the disciplinary matters now dealt 
with by the Conduct Committee were dealt with by the Accountancy and Actuarial 
Discipline Board. The FRC’s approach to disciplining auditors is set forth in The 
Accountancy Scheme (FRC, 2013) at  2(1) (http://www.frc.org.uk/Our-

Work/Publications/Professional-Discipline/The-Accountancy-Scheme-(Effective-1-July-

2013).aspx) 

 
238

   The Accountancy Scheme (FRC, 2013) at [5(2)]. 
 
239

  The Accounting Scheme (FRC, 2013), Appendix 1; ICAEW, Disciplinary Bye-Laws 
para. 22.   

 

http://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/1226b444-b850-428e-9051-18177aed1d79/AIU-Scope-of-Independent-Inspection-2012-13.aspx
http://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/1226b444-b850-428e-9051-18177aed1d79/AIU-Scope-of-Independent-Inspection-2012-13.aspx
http://www.icaew.com/en/members/regulations-standards-and-guidance/bye-laws/disciplinary-bye-laws
http://www.icaew.com/en/members/regulations-standards-and-guidance/bye-laws/disciplinary-bye-laws
http://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Publications/Professional-Discipline/The-Accountancy-Scheme-(Effective-1-July-2013).aspx
http://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Publications/Professional-Discipline/The-Accountancy-Scheme-(Effective-1-July-2013).aspx
http://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Publications/Professional-Discipline/The-Accountancy-Scheme-(Effective-1-July-2013).aspx
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2 Auditor independence regulation 
 
The regulatory function of the audit rests on the independence of the auditor from the 
company, its management, and its employees. The theory of the audit is that managerial self-
serving biases, that we identified in C.I above, are neutralized by an auditor whose interests 
and preferences are completely unconnected to the interests and preferences of the 
company’s management and employees. Importantly, however, the appointment of an auditor 
to provide an audit report on the financial statements does not dissolve the interests that 
company managers and employees may have in interpreting and applying accounting 
standards, and presenting the financial statements, in a way that is favourable to their 
interests. As this author has argued elsewhere: ‘the incentives to place a company-favourable 
spin on the financial statements do not evaporate on the appointment of an independent 
auditor. These incentives are transformed into pressure directed by management at the 
auditors to encourage them to acquiesce to management's interpretation of the standards.’

240
 

An auditor’s independence from management needs, therefore, to be sufficiently robust to 
resist direct and indirect pressure from management to acquiesce to management’s preferred 
accounting approach.  An audit from an audit firm whose independence has been 
compromised is of little value. 
 
Audit firm independence may be compromised in two distinct ways which, again given the 
space constraints of a book of this nature, we can only deal with in outline here.  First, auditor 
independence may be compromised by relationships between the company’s management 
and its employees and the audit firm’s partners and employees; and secondly, it may be 
compromised by direct or indirect financial conflicts of interest. 

 

2.1 Relationships  
 
Personal relationships between company managers and employees and audit firm partners 
and employees can blur the clear boundaries of a truly independent state of mind. Personal 
relationships introduce bonds of fidelity and duty-like obligations. Such bonds may interfere 
with the objective and neutral stance of the auditor.  Many relationships in our society create 
such bonds of fidelity and interpersonal obligation, however, common sense tells us that 
some types of relationship present greater risks that others: close family members typically 
have closer bonds of fidelity than distant family members; current spouses more than ex-
spouses; current employees more than former employees etc.  Of course there are no 
absolute and clear rules: current members of an immediate family may despise each other; a 
current spouse may yearn for separation and ex-spouse for reconciliation; and there are 
many current dissatisfied employees who wish little favour on their employer.  Furthermore, 
particular individuals may have strong personal bonds of fidelity through relationships that 
many would view as low-risk relationships. For example, the membership of a religious 
community or a club, or shared school or hobby may, for some individuals, create strong 
bonds of group fidelity and obligation. The problem for auditor independence regulation is 
how to identify and proscribe a relationship-threat to independence from this morass of real 
life personal bonds and relationships. Should regulation attempt to focus on the reality of 
threats to independence or accept that reliable assessment of actual independence is 
inaccessible and focus instead on proscribing those relationships that entail a high likelihood 
of compromised independence?    
 
We saw in our discussion of the role of the independent non-executive director in Chapter 7, 
that regulators in providing rules on the independence of non-executive directors needed to 
be cognizant of the fact that too broad a definition of independence may have the negative 
side effect of rendering the pool of available non-executive director talent too shallow. 
Arguably this concern should also be taken account of in the regulation of auditor 

                                                 
240

  D. Kershaw, ‘Waiting for Enron: the Unstable Equilibrium of Auditor Independence 
Regulation’ (2006) 33 Journal of Law and Society 388. 
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independence. If auditor independence regulation rendered to pool of audit firms too shallow, 
it would become difficult for companies to find a suitable auditor and the restrictions on supply 
could render the audit very expensive. Of course, this concern is clearly less pressing if a 
proscribed relationship would prevent particular audit partners and employees of an instructed 
firm from being involved in the actual audit rather than preventing a firm from acting as the 
auditor. Auditor independence regulation, therefore, needs to carefully consider the effect of 
proscribing particular types of relationship. 
 
Relationships that may compromise the independence of an auditor consist not only of 
exogenous relationships that exist prior to or separate from the company-audit firm 
relationship, such as familial relationships or prior employment with the audit firm. In addition, 
the company-audit firm relationship creates endogenous personal relationships that may 
compromise independence. Audit team members and company managers and employees 
may become friends. They may like each others’ company, spend time together outside of 
work. Such relationships will always develop and cannot be prevented through regulation. 
Clearly, the audit cannot be performed without communication and personal contact between 
company managers and employees and audit firm personnel. However, typically such 
relationships take time to build up and are strengthened over time. One available regulatory 
response would therefore be to limit the opportunity for these relationships to develop by 
prescribing a maximum period of time for an audit firm partner or employee to work on a 
particular audit;

241
 or indeed the maximum amount of time that an audit firm could serve as 

the company’s auditor. This type of regulation, however, involves a clear trade off: 
independence may be bolstered at the expense of losing specific audit personnel, or an audit 
firm, that have built-up considerable company-specific expertise.   

 

2.2 Financial conflicts of interest 
 
Auditor independence may be compromised by direct and indirect financial conflicts of 
interest. Direct conflicts of interest arise where the auditor has a financial or economic 
relationship with the company; the value of which is enhanced by more favourable financial 
information. This would include most obviously where the auditor owns shares in the 
company.  
 
However, financial conflicts of interest which compromise auditor independence may be far 
more subtle than this and arise from the business relationship between the company and the 
auditor. Where it is in the audit firm’s or the audit firm partner’s overall financial interests to 
acquiesce to management’s preferred accounting approach - that is the benefits of so doing 
outweigh the costs – the auditor is incentivized to compromise his independence.  Audit firms 
are appointed by and paid by the company. Typically audit firms have a relationship with the 
company for many years. This long-term relationship generates an expectation on the part of 
the audit firm that the audit fee revenue stream will continue into the future.  In addition, audit 
firms in the UK today typically provide other services in addition to the audit services, 
although these services are provided by the non-audit divisions of the audit firm. Large audit 
firms offer, for example, corporate finance advice, IT systems advice, tax advice, and 
executive remuneration consulting services. These services will often be provided to the 
audited company by the audit firm. These services are known as ‘non-audit services’.  If 
management could credibly threaten the auditor with the loss of any of these revenue streams 
if the auditor refuses to accept management’s preferred accounting approach – by terminating 
the audit mandate or by refusing to award non-audit services contracts to the auditor – this 
potential financial cost to the auditor could incentivize the auditor to compromise his 
independence. Whether it does so depends, amongst other things, on whether the 
managements’ threat to withdraw these revenue streams is a credible one and whether the 

                                                 
241

  Such an approach is taken by the Corporate Governance Code in relation to non-
executive directors that views directors who have served for nine years or more as 
presumptively not independent: Corporate Governance Code B.1.1. 
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likely loss of revenue exceeds the possible costs that could be incurred by the auditor as a 
result of compromising its independence.

242
   

 
 
 
 
 

2.3 The independence requirement  
 
There are multiple regulatory tools that operate in some way to bolster auditor independence.  
We consider these below. One important strategy – auditor liability for negligent auditing – is 
addressed in section IV below. 
 
The regulatory requirement for auditor independence is only indirectly found in the 2006 Act.   
The heading for section 1214 of the 2006 Act is ‘independence requirement’. However, 
section 1214 does not provide a general requirement that an auditor is ‘independent’. Rather 
it prohibits the auditor or the audit firm from serving as the auditor where a very limited set of 
circumstances exist, which we discuss in 2.3.1 below. The general requirement of auditor 
independence is found in the FRC, Ethical Standard 1 which sets forth requirements for 
auditor Integrity, Objectivity and Independence.  
 

Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) Integrity, Objectivity and 
Independence (APB,243 2011) 
 

6. Auditors shall conduct the audit of the financial statements of an entity with 

integrity, objectivity and independence.  

 

Integrity 

7. Integrity is a prerequisite for all those who act in the public interest. It is essential 

that auditors act, and are seen to act, with integrity, which requires not only honesty 

but a broad range of related qualities such as fairness, candour, courage, intellectual 

honesty and confidentiality…  

 

Objectivity.  

10. Objectivity is a state of mind that excludes bias, prejudice and compromise and 

that gives fair and impartial consideration to all matters that are relevant to the task in 

hand, disregarding those that are not. Like integrity, objectivity is a fundamental 

ethical principle and requires that the auditor’s judgment is not affected by conflicts 

of interest. 

 

Independence 

13. Independence is freedom from situations and relationships which make it 

probable that a reasonable and informed third party would conclude that objectivity 

either is impaired or could be impaired. Independence is related to and underpins 

objectivity. However, whereas objectivity is a personal behavioural characteristic 

concerning the auditor's state of mind, independence relates to the circumstances 

surrounding the audit, including the financial, employment, business and personal 

relationships between the auditor and the audited entity and its connected parties...  

 

                                                 
242

  Professional identity and firm culture will, of course, in many instances operate to 
prevent acquiescence even whether the threat is real and the financial costs of 
maintaining independence exceed the benefits.  

243
  Strictly speaking the current standards were issued by the FRC’s Audit and 

Assurance Council. These standards have not been updated as of the time of writing 
to take account of the new structure. We refer here to these standards as the FRC’s 
standards.. 



D. Kershaw: Company Law in Context: Text and Materials, 2
nd

 edition 

 

© Oxford University Press, 2013. All rights reserved. 

68 

14. The need for independence arises because, in most cases, users of the financial 

statements and other third parties do not have all the information necessary for 

judging whether the auditor is, in fact, objective. Although the auditor may be 

satisfied that the auditor's objectivity is not impaired by a particular situation, a third 

party may reach a different conclusion. For example, if a third party were aware that 

the auditor had certain financial, employment, business or personal relationships with 

the audited entity, that individual might reasonably conclude that the auditor could be 

subject to undue influence from the directors or would not be impartial or unbiased. 

Public confidence in the auditor's objectivity could therefore suffer as a result of this 

perception, irrespective of whether there is any actual impairment.  

 

15. Accordingly, in evaluating the likely consequences of such situations and 

relationships, the test to be applied is not whether the auditor considers that the 

auditor's objectivity is impaired but whether it is probable that a reasonable and 

informed third party would conclude that the auditor's objectivity either is impaired or 

is likely to be impaired.   As a result of the influence that the board of directors and 

management have over the appointment and remuneration of the auditor absolute 

independence cannot be achieved or maintained. The audit engagement partner 

considers the application of safeguards where there are threats to auditor 

independence (both actual and perceived). 
 
Of central importance to the independence requirement is not whether in fact the auditor is 
independent but whether a ‘reasonable and informed’ third party would conclude that the 
auditor’s ‘objectivity is impaired’. The function of the audit depends on such third party’s trust 
in the auditor. If that trust is lost because the auditor, in the third-party’s view, may have 
compromised his impartiality, whether or not it has done so, the audit loses its value.  
 
To determine whether, in a reasonably informed third-party view, the financial, employment, 
business and personal relationships surrounding the audit would compromise the auditor’s 
independence the FRC’ss Ethical Standards provide for an auditor self-assessment ‘threat 
review process’. This involves the lead audit partner on an audit mandate (the engagement 
partner) identifying and assessing any threats – or perceptions of threats – to the 
independence of the audit. Ethical Standard 1 identifies the principal, but not an exhaustive 
list of, categories of threats to independence. 
 

Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) Integrity, Objectivity and 
Independence (APB, 2011) 
 

35. The principal types of threats to the auditor’s objectivity and independence are as 

follows.  

 

Self-interest threat  

A self-interest threat arises when the auditor has financial or other interests which 

might cause it to be reluctant to take actions that would be adverse to the interests of 

the audit firm or any individual in a position to influence the conduct or outcome of 

the audit (for example, where the auditor has an investment in the audited entity, is 

seeking to provide additional services to the audited entity or needs to recover long-

outstanding fees from the audited entity).  

 

Self-review threat  

A self-review threat arises when the results of a non-audit service performed by the 

auditor or by others within the audit firm are reflected in the amounts included or 

disclosed in the financial statements (for example, where the audit firm has been 

involved in maintaining the accounting records, or undertaking valuations that are 

incorporated in the financial statements). In the course of the audit, the auditor may 

need to re-evaluate the work performed in the non-audit service. As, by virtue of 
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providing the non-audit service, the audit firm is associated with aspects of the 

preparation of the financial statements, it may be (or may be perceived to be) unable 

to take an impartial view of relevant aspects of those financial statements.  

 

Management threat  

Paragraph 33 prohibits partners and employees of the audit firm from taking 

decisions on behalf of the management of the audited entity. A management threat 

can also arise when the audit firm undertakes an engagement to provide non-audit 

services in relation to which management are required to make judgments and take 

decisions based on that work (for example, the design, selection and implementation 

of a financial information technology system). In such work, the audit firm may 

become closely aligned with the views and interests of management and the auditor's 

objectivity and independence may be impaired, or may be perceived to be, impaired.  

 

Advocacy threat  

An advocacy threat arises when the audit firm undertakes work that involves acting as 

an advocate for an audited entity and supporting a position taken by management in 

an adversarial context (for example, by acting as a legal advocate for the audited 

entity in litigation or a regulatory investigation). In order to act in an advocacy role, 

the audit firm has to adopt a position closely aligned to that of management. This 

creates both actual and perceived threats to the auditor's objectivity and 

independence.  

 

Familiarity (or trust) threat  

A familiarity (or trust) threat arises when the auditor is predisposed to accept or is 

insufficiently questioning of the audited entity’s point of view (for example, where 

close personal relationships are developed with the audited entity’s personnel through 

long association with the audited entity).  

 

Intimidation threat  

An intimidation threat arises when the auditor’s conduct is influenced by fear or 

threats (for example, where the auditor encounters an aggressive and dominating 

individual).  
 
When a threat to the auditor's objectivity and independence or the perception of such a threat 
is identified,

244
 the engagement partner must put in place appropriate safeguards to reduce 

the threat ‘to an acceptable level’.
245

 If such safeguards are not available the audit mandate 
must be rejected or terminated.

246
  Considerable discretion is therefore provided to audit firms 

and their partners to determine: whether a reasonable and informed third party would 
perceive the existence of a threat; its extent; and the safeguard necessary to eliminate or 
acceptably manage the threat. As we shall see below, in certain threat contexts other ethical 
standards are more prescriptive, in some instances prohibiting certain types of relationships 
and activity. Nevertheless, a strong regulatory commitment to auditor self-assessment 
remains at the centre of UK auditor independence regulation. 

 

2.3.1 Company-auditor relationships 
 

                                                 
244

  ‘Insignificant’ threats may be ignored: Ethical Standard 1 (FRC, 2011), para. 44. 
 
245

  Ibid para. 43. 
 
246

  Ibid para. 45. 
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As noted above, section 1214 of the 2006 Act although purporting to provide an 
‘independence requirement’, in fact does not provide a general requirement that the auditor 
should be independent. Section 1214 merely provides that where the auditor is an officer or 
employee or the audited company or its subsidiaries, or if one of its subsidiaries ’ officers is a 
partner in the firm the auditor is deemed to be not-independent and ineligible to Act as the 
company’s auditor. This is the only auditor-company relationship which the Act proscribes.

247
 

However, as we observed above there are multiple types of relationship between company 
management and employees and audit firm partners and members that may compromise an 
auditor’s independence. Such relationships are of course subject to the threat-based self-
assessment regulation outlined above as they represent, in particular, a familiarity and/or a 
trust threat. In addition, Ethical Standard 2: Financial, Business, Employment and Personal 
Relationships provides more detailed regulation of auditor-company relationships, including 
both several relationship prohibitions and specific guidance on how relationships can create 
self-interest and familiarity threats and steps that should be taken where such threats exist. 
Where a prohibited relationship exists the auditor must refuse, or resign, the audit mandate. 
To obtain a flavour of the detailed relationship regulation in Ethical Standard 2 consider the 
following requirements. 
 

 With regard to exogenous financial interests of the audit firm or the audit partner in 
the audited company, Ethical Standard 2 proscribes amongst others: a material direct 
or indirect financial interest

248
 in the audited company held by an audit partner or their 

immediate family members;
249

 a financial interest in the audited entity held by the 
audit firm’s pension fund where the firm has influence over the pension trustee's 
investment decisions;

250
 loans or guarantees made by the audit firm or audit partners 

to the audited company.
251

  
 

 With regard to exogenous personal relationships Ethical Standard 2 distinguishes 
between 'immediate family members' – spouses and dependents – and 'close family 
members' – non-dependent parents, children, or siblings. Where an immediate family 
member of an audit partner works for the audited company in a role that is capable of 
having an influence on the accounting records then the audit partner must cease 
working on the audit.

252
 If the person working for the company is a ‘close family 

member’ then appropriate action must be decided upon with the audit engagement 
partner or the audit firm’s ethics partner if the person is a close family member of the 
engagement partner.

253
  

 

                                                 
247

  The Secretary of State is empowered to issue regulations specifying other prohibited 
relationships. This power has been delegated to the FRC, but to date no regulations 
have been issued.  

 
248

  A ‘financial interest’ is defined in the Ethical Standard’s Glossary of Terms and in 
Ethical Standard 2: Financial, Business, Employment and Personal Relationships 
(FRC 2011) as ‘an equity or other security, debenture, loan or other debt instrument 
of an entity, including rights and obligations to acquire such an interest and 
derivatives directly related to such an interest’. 

 
249

  Ethical Standard 2: Financial, Business, Employment and Personal Relationships 
(FRC 2011) [8]. This prohibition is subject to certain limited exceptions. See, for 
example, paras. 9, 10, and 17 of Ethical Standard 2. 

 
250

  Ibid [22]. 
 
251

  Ibid [23–27]. 
 
252

  Ibid [52(a)]. 
 
253

  Ibid [52(b)]. 
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 Audit firm partners or employees may not accept appointment to the board or board 
committee of an audited company or any entity which owns a 20% or more stake in 
the audited company or an entity in which the audited company owns a 20% or more 
stake.

254
 

 

 Where a former director or employee of an audited company joins the audit firm that 
person may not participate in the audit of that company for two years.

255
  

 
The FRC's ethical standards are also cognizant of the threat to independence that can arise 
as a result of long-term endogenous relationships formed as a result of the audit mandate. 
These concerns are addressed directly in Ethical Standard 3: Long Association with the Audit 
Client.  Most importantly, in this regard Ethical Standard 3 provides that an audit engagement 
partner may not serve for a period of more than five years on a company’s audit and may not 
serve as an engagement partner again for a period of five years thereafter.

256
 Other ‘key 

partners’
257

 maximum tenure on any one audit is set at seven years.
258

  Other non-key 
partners are not subject to specific service time limits but the firm is required to keep under 
review any independence threats arising from more than seven years service.

259
   

 
Note, however, that audit independence regulation does not currently impose mandatory 
limits on the time period for which an audit firm can act as a company’s auditor. However, at 
the time of writing such limits appear to be under serious consideration by the European 
Commission. In November 2011, the European Commission published a draft regulation that 
recommends auditor rotation for major companies in order to address the 'familiarity threat' 
outlined above.

260
  The Proposal sets out maximum terms of appointment of nine years for 

any company traded on a regulated market, such as the main market of the London Stock 
Exchange.

261
 It also proposes that the audit firm could not be reappointed as auditor for four 

years following the expiration of the nine year period.
262

  The audit industry has vociferously 
resisted this proposal. At the time of writing, it seems unlikely that the European political 
process will generate a mandatory auditor rotation requirement.

263
 The possibility of 

mandatory rotation also recently arose from a review of competition in the audit marker by the 
UK's Competition Commission. However, following the review the Competition Commission 

                                                 
254

  Ibid [54]. 
 
255

  Ibid [58]. 
 
256

  Ethical Standard 3: (revised) Long Association with the Audit Client (FRC, 2011), [12]. 
 
257

  Ethical Standards Glossary (APB, 2011) defines a ‘key partner’ as ‘a partner, or other 
person in the engagement team…who either: is involved at the group level and is 
responsible for key decisions or judgments on significant matters or risk factors that 
relate to the audit of that audited entity, or is primarily responsible for the audit of a 
significant affiliate or division of the audited entity’. 

 
258

  Ethical Standard 3: (revised) Long Association with the Audit Client (APB, 2011), [19]. 
 
259

  Ibid [20].  Note also that the Ethical Standards attempt to regulate the threats to 
independence arising from corporate hospitality and gifts: Ethical Standard 4: Fees, 
Remuneration and Evaluation Policies. Litigation Gifts and Hospitality (FRC, 2010) 
paras. 51–59. 

 
260

  European Commission Proposal, 'On specific requirements regarding statutory audit 
of public-interest entities' COM (2011)779 at [27]. 

  
261

  Ibid Article 33(1). 
 
262

  Ibid Article 33(2). 
263

  Rotating Auditors, Financial Times (3 May, 2013). 
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recommended only mandatory re-tendering (in which the existing auditor can re-tender for the 
work) at least once every five years.

264
  

 

2.3.2 Regulating the audit mandate  
 
If management and the auditor disagree about how to present the financial statements, 
management may exert direct and indirect pressure on the auditor to acquiesce to 
management’s preferred accounting approach. One form of pressure that may be implicitly or 
explicitly deployed is a threat from management that if the auditor does not acquiesce then it 
may lose the audit mandate. Can management credibly make this threat? We observed 
above that the auditor is appointed by the shareholders acting in general meeting. Formally, 
therefore, the audit mandate is not within the gift of management. However, in practice in 
most large companies, rationally apathetic shareholders play no role in assessing the quality 
of the auditor and making an informed appointment choice. The auditor who is nominated by 
the board will, in the vast majority of cases, be appointed by a ‘rubber stamping’ shareholder 
vote. If the board as a whole makes the nomination/reappointment decision then 
management may indeed have the audit mandate effectively within their gift as the board will 
be heavily reliant on the views of management as to the performance and effectiveness of the 
auditor.  
 
Concern over excessive managerial influence over the granting of the audit mandate resulted 
in the UK in a board composition response through the UK Corporate Governance Code.

265
 

The Code recommends that listed companies have board audit committees staffed wholly 
with independent non-executive directors and that at least one of those members has recent 
and relevant financial experience.

266
 Audit committees serve, in theory, alongside the audit 

process as an additional regulatory check on financial statement quality, which we discuss 
further below. In regard to auditor appointment, the Corporate Governance Code 
recommends that the audit committee should make a recommendation to the board regarding 
the appointment or reappointment of the auditor, and if this recommendation is not followed 
by the board an explanation of the board’s decision must be provided in the annual report.

267
 

Whilst the audit committee will, of course, obtain significant executive director input, 
particularly from the finance director, on the quality, performance, and the appropriateness of 
the reappointment of the auditor, this recommendation/appointment structure significantly 
disempowers management in relation to the appointment decision. 
 
However, even in companies where managers are capable of directly or indirectly influencing 
the auditor appointment process, there are good reasons to doubt that the audit mandate can 
be used as a credible threat to generate acquiescent auditing.    Professor Coffee has argued 
persuasively that a threat by management to terminate an audit relationship suffers from 
certain credibility problems.

268
 This is because although losing the audit mandate would result 

                                                 
264

  See http://www.competition-commission.org.uk/media-centre/latest-news/2013/jul/cc-
outlines-measures-for-audit-market.  
 
265

  More generally on the UK Corporate Governance Code and its predecessor the 
Combined Code see Chapter 7. 

 
266

  UK Corporate Governance Code, C.3.1. The Corporate Governance Code is a 
comply and explain code. A less onerous mandatory obligation is set forth in DTR 7.1 
requiring that listed companies have an audit committee with at least one 
independent member and at least one member with competence in accounting and 
audit (implementing Article 41 of the European Union’s Eighth Company Law 
Directive 2006/43/EC). 

 
267

  UK Corporate Governance Code C.3.6. 
 
268

  J. Coffee, ‘Understanding Enron: “It's About the Gatekeepers, Stupid”’ (2002) 57 
Business Lawyer 1403 at 1411. 

http://www.competition-commission.org.uk/media-centre/latest-news/2013/jul/cc-outlines-measures-for-audit-market
http://www.competition-commission.org.uk/media-centre/latest-news/2013/jul/cc-outlines-measures-for-audit-market
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in financial loss for the audit firm, it may also damage the company and its management. If 
the market learns or infers that the auditor was not reappointed because it resisted 
management pressure with regard to the presentation of the financial information, this could 
impact negatively on the market’s view of the reliability of the financial statements under the 
new (and more compliant) auditor as well as on management's individual reputations. This 
analysis is consistent with empirical evidence that suggests that companies change auditors 
relatively rarely.

269
 This market deterrent is supported by Chapter 4 part 16 of the Companies 

Act 2006. Where the auditor, for whatever reason, ceases to hold office he is required to 
deposit with the company a ‘statement of the circumstances connected with his ceasing to 
hold office’.

270
 However, for an unquoted company,

271
 where the auditor considers that there 

are no such circumstances then such a statement does not have to be deposited.
272

 A quoted 
company,

273
 such as a company listed on the main market of the London Stock Exchange, 

does not have this option and must deposit such a statement.
274

 This statement must be 
provided by the company to the company’s shareholders

275
 and delivered to the Company’s 

Registrar. Furthermore, the Act requires that an auditor that ceases to act as an auditor for a 
listed company

276
 must inform the FRC

277
 of this fact and provide the FRC with the copy of 

the statement delivered to the company in accordance with section 519 of the Act.
278

 Whilst 

                                                                                                                                            
 
269

  For example, P. Grout, I. Jewitt, C. Pong, and G. Whittington, `Auditor Professional 
Judgment: Implications for Regulation and the Law' (1994) 9 Economic Policy 308, 
324 looked at 577 listed companies in the Times 1000 companies between 1980 and 
1988 (resulting in 3,349 observations) and found that there were only 82 changes of 
auditor and 3,267 cases in which there was no change. 

 
270

  Section 519 CA 2006. 
 
271

  See above, footnote 33. 
 
272

  Section 519(1) CA 2006.  
 
273

  See above, note 33. 
 
274

  Section 519(3) CA 2006. 
 
275

  Section 520 CA 2006. The Act provides a procedure for the company to object to the 
distribution if they can demonstrate to a court that the auditor is using the statement 
to ‘secure needless publicity for defamatory matter’ – section 520 CA 2006. For 
detailed consideration of this provision from this author see Oxford Annotated 
Companies Acts (OUP, 2011). 

 
276

  The term used in section 522 is ‘major audit’ which includes the audit of listed 
companies or audits of other companies ‘in whose financial condition there is a major 
public interest’ (section 525 CA 2006). 

 
277

  Section 522 CA 2006. This obligation also applies to non-major company audits 
where the audit relationship is terminated before the term expires. The FRC, through 
its Conduct Committee, is responsible for recognising accounting bodies such as the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants for England and Wales (ICEAW) and for carrying 
out certain oversight functions in relation to the audit profession, including through its 
Audit Quality Review, monitoring the quality of large company audits. Prior to the 
restructuring of the FRC in 2012 this role was performed by the Professional 
Oversight Board.  

 
278

  Note that the Act also provides the auditor with the right to make representations to 
the general meeting where the auditor is removed (ss 511–13 CA 2006) or is not 
reappointed (ss 514–515 CA 2006) and a right to require the board to call a general 
meeting where the auditor has resigned and where the resignation is accompanied by 
a statement of circumstances (ss 516–518 CA 2006). 
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managers who implicitly or explicitly threaten the auditor with the loss of the mandate if they 
fail to acquiesce will be aware that the auditor will be wary of publicly revealing the reasons 
why they have lost the mandate – for fear of developing a reputation in the market place for 
being uncooperative – the Act forces the auditor to do so. Failure to comply with these 
provisions by the auditor is a criminal offence.

279
 The effect of these provisions is, therefore, 

to increase the likelihood that where managers follow-through on a threat to deprive the 
auditor of the audit mandate the market will find out why and be able to sanction the company 
and its management. This decreases the credibility of any threat that the auditor will lose the 
audit mandate as a result of the robust assertion of its independence. 

 

2.3.3 Regulating non-audit services 
 
Non-audit service revenue from services, such as corporate finance, tax, or information 
technology services, provided by a different division of the audit firm to the audited company 
represent a more significant threat to auditor independence than audit fee revenue. The 
reason for this is, as Professor Coffee has argued, that non-audit service fees provide 
management with a ‘low visibility’

280
 sanction which can be used against the ‘uncooperative’ 

auditor. The decision to award or not to award non-audit service fee contracts to the auditors 
is an operational decision in relation to which management plays a leading role. If auditors do 
not comply with management demands, management can retain them as auditors but ensure 
that the audit firm is not awarded future lucrative non-audit fee service contracts. However, in 
contrast to the risks for the company and management arising from the failure to reappoint 
the auditor, management can easily explain to the market and the company’s audit committee 
the selection of other providers who tendered to provide the service on plausibly legitimate 
grounds, for example, better product, pricing or, ironically, independence. Accordingly, a 
threat by management to reduce future non-audit service income is very credible. 
 
The rise and partial fall of non-audit service fee income for audit firms is well documented.

281
 

Today, non-audit service fee revenue remains a significant component of audit firm revenue. 
In 2012 non-audit fee income from audit clients as a percentage of audit fee income for the 
Big Four accounting firms PwC, KPMG, Deloitte, and Ernst and Young was 66%, 72%, 40%, 
and 66% respectively.

282
  

 
The potential detrimental effect of non-audit service fees on auditor independence is more 
complex, however, than the financial stick given to management as a result of their overall 
value to the audit firm. Two factors, in particular, are of regulatory importance. First, if an 
individual audit partner’s share of the audit firm income is simply a piece of the overall audit 
and non-audit fee income pie, then the audit firm partner’s personal financial calculation when 
pressurised by management to acquiesce to management’s preferred accounting treatments 
will involve taking into account his reduction of income as a result of the loss of these fees. In 
a large firm such a reduction although regrettable is likely to be insignificant for the audit firm 
and the partner.  However, if the audit partners’ income is more directly tied to his ability to 
generate non-audit fee income from his audit clients – or less directly, to the income 
generated from clients for which he act as the engagement or lead partner – then the 
incentive to acquiesce generated by these fees may be multiplied.  Secondly, the 
independence threat generated by non-audit service fees is not limited to the overall value of 
these fees, their effects on partner income and the ability of management to deploy the 
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  Section 519(6) and (7) CA 2006. 
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  Coffee at note 268 above. 
 
281

  See D. Kershaw, ‘Waiting for Enron: the Unstable Equilibrium of Auditor 
Independence Regulation’ (2006) 33 Journal of Law and Society 388, 394–396.  

 
282

  See Professional Oversight Board, Key Facts and Trends in the Accountancy 
Profession (FRC, 2012), 46.  Percentage figures are rounded up. 

 



D. Kershaw: Company Law in Context: Text and Materials, 2
nd

 edition 

 

© Oxford University Press, 2013. All rights reserved. 

75 

revenue stream as a threat to ensure acquiescence. The nature of the service itself, 
regardless of the amount paid for it, may in certain instances generate an independence 
threat. For example, consider the threat to auditor independence if: the audit firm provided 
accounting services to the audit firm; or if the audit firm provided valuation services to value 
assets that form a material part of the company’s balance sheet. In these instances the audit 
firm would be involved in the preparation of the very accounts that it is employed to audit.  
 
UK audit independence regulation deploys three primary strategies

283
 to address the threat to 

independence posed by non-audit services: disclosure by category of the amount of non-audit 
service fees; auditor threat-based self assessment including partial prohibition and limits on 
remuneration from individual clients; and partial audit committee control of a company’s non-
audit service policy.  
 
Pursuant to the Companies (Disclosure of Auditor Remuneration and Liability Limitation 
Agreements) Regulations 2008 companies

284
 are required to disclose both the remuneration 

received by the auditor to perform the audit but also the amounts received for non-audit 
services in specified areas, including, amongst others, taxation, IT services, internal audit,

285
 

corporate finance, valuation services, and recruitment and remuneration services.
286

 This 
enables the market to assess whether the value or the nature of the non-audit services 
appears to threaten the auditors’ independence and, therefore, the reliability of the financial 
statements.  
 
The Financial Reporting Council addresses the independence threat generated by non-audit 
services directly through Ethical Standard 5: Non-audit services provided to audited entities. 
The primary regulatory focus of Ethical Standard 5 is to require audit firms to put in place firm-
based procedures for applying self-assessment review to a non-audit service engagement, 
including the identification of the nature of any threat and any safeguards required to address 
the threat.

287
  In addition to this general guidance the Standard also addresses the threats 

created by specific non-audit services and provides that in certain instances the threat is so 
great that the only safeguard is either the refusal of the non-audit engagement or the 
withdrawal from the audit. For example, the Standard provides, amongst others, that: the 
audit firm must not undertake valuation work where the valuation of the asset ‘would have a 
material effect on [a] listed company’s financial statements either separately or in aggregate 
with other valuations’;

288
 internal audit work should not be undertaken where the auditor 

would place significant reliance on the internal audit work;
289

 and IT services should not be 

                                                 
283

  Again this analysis ignores the disciplinary and civil liability sanctions addressed in 
section IV below. 

 
284

  This requirement does not apply to small and medium-sized companies – Companies 
(Disclosure of Auditor Remuneration and Liability Limitation Agreements) Regulations 
2008/489, regulation 4. 

 
285

  The Institute of Internal auditors defines internal audit as follows: ‘Internal Auditing is 
an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value 
and improve an organization's operations. It helps an organization accomplish its 
objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the 
effectiveness of risk management, control, and governance processes’ 
(http://www.theiia.org/). 
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  Ibid regulation 5 and Schedule 2. 
 
287

  See Ethical Standard 5: Non-audited services provided to audited entities (FRC, 
2011) [5–47]. 

 
288

  Ibid [77(a)]. More flexibility is provided in relation to non-listed entities where the audit 
firm is only prohibited from valuing the asset, where in addition to it being material the 
valuation involves a ‘significant degree of subjective judgment’ ([56(b)]. 
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provided where the IT services would be ‘important to any significant part of the accounting 
system… and the auditor would place significant reliance upon them’.

290
  

 
Whilst this Ethical Standard 5 recognizes that there is a self-interest threat generated by non-
audit service fee income,

291
 neither this standard nor any other imposes a threshold limit on 

the amount of non-audit service fees as a percentage of the audit fee. The Standard provides 
only that for listed companies where the non-audit fees are greater than the audit fees that 
this issue should be discussed with the Ethics Partner.  However, Ethical Standard 4: Fees, 
Remuneration and Evaluation Policies, Litigation, Gifts and Hospitality does impose a limit on 
the extent to which an audit firm can be economically dependent on one audit client: for a 
listed company overall audit firm revenue cannot exceed 10% of the audit firm’s annual fee 
income; and for a non-listed company the threshold amount is 15%.

292
 Finally, Ethical 

Standard 4 also provides for the independence threat that could be generated if an audit 
partner’s remuneration was a direct function of non-audit service fee revenue. It does so by 
requiring that audit firm policies and procedures are in place to ensure that the audit team’s 
objectives are not to sell non-audit service fees and that audit partner and staff remuneration, 
promotion, and performance evaluations are not directly linked to the selling of non-audit 
service fees.

293
 

 
The ability of management to use the loss of non-audit services fees as a low-visibility threat 
is, to a limited extent, also addressed by the UK Corporate Governance Code’s 
recommendations on the role of the audit committee of independent non-executive directors 
in relation to non-audit services. The Code recommends that the audit committee is 
responsible for monitoring the auditor’s independence and objectivity in accordance with the 
applicable ethical guidelines. In this regard the audit committee has the potential to serve as 
an external check on the auditor’s self-assessment judgments regarding the impact of non-
audit service provision on the auditor’s independence. Furthermore, provision C.3.2 of the 
Code provides that one of the roles and responsibilities of the audit committee should include: 
 

To develop and implement policy on the engagement of the external auditor to supply 

non-audit services, taking into account relevant ethical guidance regarding the 

provision of non-audit services by the external audit firm; and to report to the board. 
 
Such non-audit service fee guidelines have resulted in some companies imposing caps on the 
amount of non-audit services fees as a percentage of audit fees.  Nevertheless, it is important 
to stress that although the audit committee may develop general policies and limits on non-
audit service provision by the auditor, the decision as to which provider should be awarded a 
service contract is clearly a management decision, or a decision in relation to which the board 
will typically take a very deferential stance towards management’s assessment of the 
company’s operational needs.  There are limits in practice, therefore, of the extent to which 
audit committee control over general non-audit service fee policy can limit the availability of 
this low-visibility threat to auditor independence generated by these services. 
 
This regulatory story has not run its course. The question of whether auditors should be 
allowed to provide non-audit services subject to the above regulation, or whether auditing 
would be more robust and effective if auditors were simply prevented from providing these 
services, has risen to the surface and then dissipated at several points over the past two 
decades. The European Commission's recent proposed regulation has brought the issue 
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back to the boil. The Commission proposes prohibiting the provision of these services
294

 by 
auditors of companies traded on an EU regulated market such as the Main Market of the 
London Stock Exchange. We can expect vociferous objection and lobbying from the audit 
industry whose financial interests are very clearly at stake from such a move. The contours of 
the debate are familiar and will repeat themselves. On the one hand, proponents consider the 
existing controls on conflicts of interest to be inadequate. In their view, independence will 
often be overborne when auditors' financial incentives are not aligned with the maintenance of 
independence. For proponents of prohibition the only way of ensuring a robustly independent 
auditor is to remove these compromising incentives. Opponents of prohibition, on the other 
hand, argue that existing regulation is sufficient, and that there are clear costs in prohibiting 
the provision of these services by the audit firm. They argue, for example, that by providing 
tax services the audit firm generates an understanding of the company that is useful for 
providing an effective audit more cost effectively. Or that in order to attract talent to the audit 
profession it is necessary to offer alternative career paths within the audit firm. Thus far (at 
least prior to the Commission's proposal) the audit profession in the UK and the EU has 
succeeded in persuading regulators to accept these counterarguments. One might harbour 
real scepticism, however, as to whether these arguments, in of themselves, are compelling. 

 

3 Auditor liability for breach of the duty of care 

 
3.1 Who is owed a duty of care by the auditors? 
 
In theory, the possibility of liability for negligent auditing arising from incompetence or 
acquiescence represents a significant deterrent to careless auditing or compromised 
independence. It is a trite but important observation that whether the law of negligence 
operates as a deterrent is a function of the rules that proscribe liability. Although we read 
periodic headlines about large scale auditor liability litigation, one cannot extrapolate from 
these headlines the conclusion that the law of tort makes a significant contribution to ensuring 
auditor competence and robust independence. In this regard consider the following extract.  
 

D. Kershaw, ‘Waiting for Enron: the Unstable Equilibrium of 
Auditor Independence Regulation’ (2006) 33 Journal of Law and 
Society 388 
 

Acquiescent auditing may expose an audit firm to litigation for failing to take 

reasonable care. In this regard available private law remedies in contract and tort can 

be viewed as having the regulatory function of deterring acquiescent behaviour. 

However, one has to be careful to distinguish private law’s regulatory effects from its 

autonomous internal logics. The attribution of a regulatory function to contract or tort 

law in the context of auditor independence regulation is an external attribution which 

the internal operations of tort and contract law may not take account of in their 

development. Indeed these autonomous developments may distort, even extinguish, 

this regulatory function. Although, as accounting scholarship confirms, private law 

litigation has the potential to act as a deterrent to acquiescent auditing, we need to 

understand the key drivers of such a deterrent effect and the extent to which private 

law accommodates such drivers.
295

 The primary driver of a litigation deterrent effect 
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  European Commission Proposal, 'On specific requirements regarding statutory audit 
of public-interest entities' COM (2011)779 at [11] and Article 10. Note that the audit 
firm would be allowed to provide related "financial audit services' which would include 
the provision of assurances on corporate governance statements, corporate social 
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are the rules which structure the probability of suit and the liability exposure where 

suit against the audit firm is successful. These, in turn, are a function of which parties 

benefit from a legal duty of care owed by the auditors; whether such beneficiaries are 

likely to suffer loss as a result of the breach of duty; and whether that loss is a type of 

loss for which auditors will be held responsible.  

 

(a) Who benefits from an auditor's duty of care? 

 

That a duty of care could be owed to third parties who suffered pure economic loss as 

a result of negligent misstatement by a professional advisor was established by 

Hedley Byrne & Co Limited v. Heller & Partners Ltd
296

 which approved of Lord 

Denning’s dissenting judgment in Candler v. Crane, Christmas & Co.,
297

 a case 

involving accounting negligence. However, Lord Denning's judgment took a 

restrictive view of the parties to whom a duty of care could be owed. A duty could 

only be owed where the accountants knew that a third party would be showed the 

accounts and only in relation to the specific transactions for which they knew the 

third party would use the accounts. In the late 1970s, an extension of the categories of 

financial statement users who could benefit from an auditor’s duty of care was 

threatened as a result of Lord Wilberforce’s judgment in Anns v. Merton Borough 

Council
298

 in which he set forth a general foreseeability principle for determining 

whether a person was owed a duty of care. Woolf J’s judgment in JEB Fasteners v. 

Marks,
299

 the Outer House's decision in Twomax Ltd. v. Dickson,
300

 and the New 

Zealand Court of Appeal’s decision in Scott Group Ltd. v. McFarlane
301

 took steps 

towards realizing this threat. These cases represented a substantial litigation deterrent 

to acquiescent auditing as their reliance on the foreseeability principle held out the 

possibility of further extensions of duties of care to other parties, including existing 

shareholders or investors, who foreseeably rely on audited financial statements. 

Importantly, however, the deterrent effect provided by these cases was not the 

product of a regulatory concern to ensure independent auditing. It was the product of 

lower courts’ attempts to apply the House of Lords’ short-lived dalliance with a 

general principle of foreseeability in the context of economic loss. By the mid 1980s 
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  See, for example, H. Falk, B. Lynn, S. Mestelman and M. Shehata, ‘Auditor 
Independence, Self-interested Behaviour and Ethics: Some Experimental Evidence’ 
(1999) 18 Journal of Accounting and Public Policy 395; L.A. Ponemon and D.R.L. 
Gabhart, ‘Auditor Independence Judgments: A Cognitive-Development Model and 
Experimental Evidence’ (1990) 7 Contemporary Accounting Research 227. 
Accounting scholarship dealing with the deterrence effect of litigation tells us that 
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the House of Lords had expressed concern about the approach adopted in Anns v. 

Merton Borough Council. It was not until Caparo Industries plc v. Dickman
302

 that 

the House of Lords had an opportunity to address these concerns in the context of 

alleged auditor negligence. 
 
Consider below the leading case on liability for economic loss arising from accounting 
malpractice. Note that whether the accounting failings which were alleged in this case 
resulted from auditor incompetence or compromised independence is wholly opaque from the 
record. Indeed compromised independence in most instances is impossible to parse from 
evidence of audit failure that may equally be explained in terms of either carelessness or lack 
of independence. However, the cause of audit failure is in principle unimportant to a 
determination of negligence as in either event it amounts to a failure to take the care that a 
reasonable professional auditor would take.   
 

Caparo Industries plc v. Dickman [1990] 2 AC 605 
 
Lord Bridge of Harwich. 
 

My Lords, the appellants are a well-known firm of chartered accountants [Touche 

Ross which is today a predecessor firm to the Big Four accounting firm Deloitte]. At 

all times material to this appeal, they were the auditors of a public limited company, 

Fidelity plc (Fidelity), which carried on business as manufacturers and vendors of 

electrical equipment of various kinds and whose shares were quoted on the London 

Stock Exchange. On 22 May 1984 the directors of Fidelity announced the results for 

the year ended 31 March 1984. These revealed that profits for the year fell well short 

of the figure which had been predicted, and this resulted in a dramatic drop in the 

quoted price of the shares which had stood at 143p per share on 1 March 1984 and 

which, by the beginning of June 1984, had fallen to 63p. Fidelity’s accounts for the 

year to 31 March 1984 had been audited by the appellants and had been approved by 

the directors on the day before the results were announced. On 12 June 1984 they 

were issued to the shareholders, with notice of the annual general meeting, which 

took place on 4 July 1984 and at which the auditors' report was read and the accounts 

were adopted. 

 

Following the announcement of the results, the respondents Caparo Industries plc 

(Caparo) began to purchase shares of Fidelity in the market. On 8 June 1984 they 

purchased 100,000 shares but they were not registered as members of Fidelity until 

after 12 June 1984 when the accounts were sent to shareholders although they had 

been registered in respect of at least some of the shares which they purchased by the 

date of the annual general meeting, which they did not attend. On 12 June 1984 they 

purchased a further 50,000 shares, and by 6 July 1984 they had increased their 

holding in Fidelity to 29.9% of the issued capital. On 4 September 1984 they made a 

bid for the remainder at 120p per share, that offer being increased to 125p per share 

on 24 September 1984. The offer was declared unconditional on 23 October 1984, 

and two days later Caparo announced that it had acquired 91.8% of the issued shares 

and proposed to acquire the balance compulsorily, which it subsequently did. 

 

The action in which this appeal arises is one in which Caparo alleges that the 

purchases of shares which took place after 12 June 1984 and the subsequent bid were 

all made in reliance on the accounts and that those accounts were inaccurate and 

misleading in a number of respects and, in particular, in overvaluing stock and under-

providing for after-sales credits, with the result that an apparent pre-tax profit of some 

£1.3m should in fact have been shown as a loss of over £400,000. Had the true facts 

been known, it is alleged, Caparo would not have made a bid at the price paid or 
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indeed at all. Caparo accordingly commenced proceedings on 24 July 1985 against 

two of the persons who were directors at the material time, claiming that the 

overvaluations were made fraudulently, and against the appellants (the auditors), 

claiming that they were negligent in certifying, as they did, that the accounts showed 

a true and fair view of Fidelity's position at the date to which they related… 

 

On the trial of this preliminary issue Sir Neil Lawson, sitting as a judge of the 

Queen's Bench Division, held (i) that the auditors owed no duty at common law to 

Caparo as investors and (ii) that, whilst auditors might owe statutory duties to 

shareholders as a class, there was no common law duty to individual shareholders 

such as would enable an individual shareholder to recover damages for loss sustained 

by him in acting in reliance on the audited accounts (see [1988] BCLC 387). 

 

Caparo appealed to the Court of Appeal, which, by a majority (O'Connor LJ 

dissenting) allowed the appeal holding that, whilst there was no relationship between 

an auditor and a potential investor sufficiently proximate to give rise to a duty of care 

at common law, there was such a relationship with individual shareholders, so that an 

individual shareholder who suffered loss by acting in reliance on negligently prepared 

accounts, whether by selling or retaining his shares or by purchasing additional 

shares, was entitled to recover in tort (see [1989] BCLC 154). From that decision the 

auditors now appeal to your Lordships’ House with the leave of the Court of Appeal, 

and Caparo cross-appeal against the rejection by the Court of Appeal of their claim 

that the auditors owed them a duty of care as potential investors. 

 

In determining the existence and scope of the duty of care which one person may owe 

to another in the infinitely varied circumstances of human relationships there has long 

been a tension between two different approaches. Traditionally the law finds the 

existence of the duty in different specific situations each exhibiting its own particular 

characteristics. In this way the law has identified a wide variety of duty situations, all 

falling within the ambit of the tort of negligence, but sufficiently distinct to require 

separate definition of the essential ingredients by which the existence of the duty is to 

be recognised. [Since Lord Atkin’s] seminal speech in Donoghue v Stevenson [1932] 

AC 562 [the courts have attempted to identify a] more modern approach of seeking a 

single general principle which may be applied in all circumstances to determine the 

existence of a duty of care… The most comprehensive attempt to articulate a single 

general principle is reached in the well-known passage from the speech of Lord 

Wilberforce in Anns v Merton London Borough [1977] 2 All ER 492: 

 

‘Through the trilogy of cases in this House, Donoghue v Stevenson [1932] AC 562, 

Hedley Byrne & Co Ltd v Heller & Partners Ltd [1964] AC 465, and Home Office v 

Dorset Yacht Co Ltd [1970] AC 1004, the position has now been reached that in order 

to establish that a duty of care arises in a particular situation, it is not necessary to 

bring the facts of that situation within those of previous situations in which a duty of 

care has been held to exist. Rather the question has to be approached in two stages. 

First one has to ask whether, as between the alleged wrongdoer and the person who 

has suffered damage there is a sufficient relationship of proximity or neighbourhood 

such that, in the reasonable contemplation of the former, carelessness on his part may 

be likely to cause damage to the latter, in which case a prima facie duty of care arises. 

Secondly, if the first question is answered affirmatively, it is necessary to consider 

whether there are any considerations which ought to negative, or to reduce or limit 

the scope of the duty or the class of person to whom it is owed or the damages to 

which a breach of it may give rise (see the Dorset Yacht case [1970] 2 All ER 294 per 

Lord Reid).’ 
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But since Anns case a series of decisions of the Privy Council and of your Lordships’ 

House, notably in judgments and speeches delivered by Lord Keith, have emphasised 

the inability of any single general principle to provide a practical test which can be 

applied to every situation to determine whether a duty of care is owed and, if so, what 

is its scope.
303

 What emerges is that, in addition to the foreseeability of damage, 

necessary ingredients in any situation giving rise to a duty of care are that there 

should exist between the party owing the duty and the party to whom it is owed a 

relationship characterised by the law as one of ‘proximity’ or ‘neighbourhood’ and 

that the situation should be one in which the court considers it fair, just and 

reasonable that the law should impose a duty of a given scope on the one party for the 

benefit of the other. But it is implicit in the passages referred to that the concepts of 

proximity and fairness embodied in these additional ingredients are not susceptible of 

any such precise definition as would be necessary to give them utility as practical 

tests, but amount in effect to little more than convenient labels to attach to the 

features of different specific situations which, on a detailed examination of all the 

circumstances, the law recognises pragmatically as giving rise to a duty of care of a 

given scope. Whilst recognising, of course, the importance of the underlying general 

principles common to the whole field of negligence, I think the law has now moved 

in the direction of attaching greater significance to the more traditional categorisation 

of distinct and recognisable situations as guides to the existence, the scope and the 

limits of the varied duties of care which the law imposes… 

 

One of the most important distinctions always to be observed lies in the law’s 

essentially different approach to the different kinds of damage which one party may 

have suffered in consequence of the acts or omissions of another. It is one thing to 

owe a duty of care to avoid causing injury to the person or property of others. It is 

quite another to avoid causing others to suffer purely economic loss… 

 

The damage which may be caused by the negligently spoken or written word will 

normally be confined to economic loss sustained by those who rely on the accuracy 

of the information or advice they receive as a basis for action. The question what, if 

any, duty is owed by the maker of a statement to exercise due care to ensure its 

accuracy arises typically in relation to statements made by a person in the exercise of 

his calling or profession. In advising the client who employs him the professional 

man owes a duty to exercise that standard of skill and care appropriate to his 

professional status and will be liable both in contract and in tort for all losses which 

his client may suffer by reason of any breach of that duty. But the possibility of any 

duty of care being owed to third parties with whom the professional man was in no 

contractual relationship was for long denied because of the wrong turning taken by 

the law in Le Lievre v Gould [1893] 1 QB 491 in overruling Cann v Willson (1888) 

39 Ch D 39. In Candler v Crane Christmas & Co [1951] 1 All ER 426 Denning LJ, in 

his dissenting judgment, made a valiant attempt to correct the error. But it was not 

until the decision of this House in Hedley Byrne & Co Ltd v Heller & Partners Ltd 

[1964] AC 465 that the law was once more set on the right path. 

 

Consistently with the traditional approach it is to these authorities and to subsequent 

decisions directly relevant to this relatively narrow corner of the field that we should 

look to determine the essential characteristics of a situation giving rise, independently 

of any contractual or fiduciary relationship, to a duty of care owed by one party to 
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another to ensure that the accuracy of any statement which the one party makes and 

on which the other party may foreseeably rely to his economic detriment… 

 

In Candler v Crane Christmas & Co [1951] 1 All ER 426 the plaintiff invested 

money in a limited company in reliance on accounts of the company prepared by the 

company's accountants at the request of the managing director, which were shown to 

the plaintiff and discussed with him by the accountants in the knowledge that he was 

interested as a potential investor in the company. The accounts were inaccurate and 

misleading and the plaintiff, having invested in the company in reliance on them, lost 

his money. Denning LJ, in his dissenting judgment, held the plaintiff entitled to 

recover damages for the accountants' negligence. 

 

In the Hedley Byrne case [1963] 2 All ER 575, [1964] AC 465 bankers were asked 

about the financial stability of a customer of the bank. They gave a favourable 

reference, albeit with a disclaimer of responsibility. The circumstances of the inquiry 

made it clear to the bankers that the party on whose behalf the inquiry was made 

wanted to know if they could safely extend credit to the bank's customer in a 

substantial sum. Acting on the reference given, the plaintiffs extended credit to the 

bank's customer who in due course defaulted. Although the House held that the 

bankers were protected by the disclaimer of responsibility, the case provided the 

opportunity to review the law, which led to the reinstatement of Cann v Willson, the 

overruling of the majority decision in the Candler case and the approbation of the 

dissenting judgment of Denning LJ in that case… 

 

The salient feature of all these cases is that the defendant giving advice or 

information was fully aware of the nature of the transaction which the plaintiff had in 

contemplation, knew that the advice or information would be communicated to him 

directly or indirectly and knew that it was very likely that the plaintiff would rely on 

that advice or information in deciding whether or not to engage in the transaction in 

contemplation. In these circumstances the defendant could clearly be expected, 

subject always to the effect of any disclaimer of responsibility, specifically to 

anticipate that the plaintiff would rely on the advice or information given by the 

defendant for the very purpose for which he did in the event rely on it. So also the 

plaintiff, subject again to the effect of any disclaimer, would in that situation 

reasonably suppose that he was entitled to rely on the advice or information 

communicated to him for the very purpose for which he required it. The situation is 

entirely different where a statement is put into more or less general circulation and 

may foreseeably be relied on by strangers to the maker of the statement for any one of 

a variety of different purposes which the maker of the statement has no specific 

reason to anticipate. To hold the maker of the statement to be under a duty of care in 

respect of the accuracy of the statement to all and sundry for any purpose for which 

they may choose to rely on it is not only to subject him, in the classic words of 

Cardozo CJ, to ‘liability in an indeterminate amount for an indeterminate time to an 

indeterminate class’ (see Ultramares Corp v Touche (1931) 255 NY 170), it is also to 

confer on the world at large a quite unwarranted entitlement to appropriate for their 

own purposes the benefit of the expert knowledge or professional expertise attributed 

to the maker of the statement. Hence, looking only at the circumstances of these 

decided cases where a duty of care in respect of negligent statements had been held to 

exist, I should expect to find that the ‘limit or control mechanism...imposed on the 

liability of a wrongdoer towards those who have suffered economic damage in 

consequence of his negligence’ (see the Candlewood case, [1986] AC 1 at 25) rested 

on the necessity to prove, in this category of the tort of negligence, as an essential 

ingredient of the ‘proximity’ between the plaintiff and the defendant, that the 

defendant knew that his statement would be communicated to the plaintiff, either as 
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an individual or as a member of an identifiable class, specifically in connection with a 

particular transaction or transactions of a particular kind (e.g. in a prospectus inviting 

investment) and that the plaintiff would be very likely to rely on it for the purpose of 

deciding whether or not to enter on that transaction or on a transaction of that kind… 

 

The main submissions for Caparo are that the necessary nexus of proximity between 

it and the auditors giving rise to a duty of care stems from (1) the pleaded 

circumstances indicating the vulnerability of Fidelity to a take-over bid and from the 

consequent probability that another company, such as Caparo, would rely on the 

audited accounts in deciding to launch a take-over bid or (2) the circumstances that 

Caparo was already a shareholder in Fidelity when it decided to launch its take-over 

bid in reliance on the accounts… 

 

[In relation to the vulnerability to take-over claim His Lordship then considered and 

rejected the authority which the plaintiffs claimed supported the claimant’s position 

including the JEB Fasteners and Scott Group v Mcfarlane. He concluded:] 

 

I should in any event be extremely reluctant to hold that the question whether or not 

an auditor owes a duty of care to an investor buying shares in a public company 

depends on the degree of probability that the shares will prove attractive either en 

bloc to a take-over bidder or piecemeal to individual investors. It would be equally 

wrong, in my opinion, to hold an auditor under a duty of care to anyone who might 

lend money to a company by reason only that it was foreseeable as highly probable 

that the company would borrow money at some time in the year following publication 

of its audited accounts and that lenders might rely on those accounts in deciding to 

lend. I am content to assume the high probability of a take-over bid in reliance on the 

accounts which the proposed amendment of the statement of claim would assert but I 

do not think it assists Caparo's case. 

 

[Lord Bridge then proceeded to address the duty to shareholders commencing with a 

quote from Lord Bingham’s judgment in the Court of Appeal on the position of 

auditors in relation to shareholders which referred to the statutory provisions relating 

to the production and distribution of accounts to shareholders, in particular the fact 

that the members appoint the auditor and that the auditor’s report is made to the 

members].
304

  

 

No doubt these [statutory] provisions establish a relationship between the auditors 

and the shareholders of a company on which the shareholder is entitled to rely for the 

protection of his interest. But the crucial question concerns the extent of the 

shareholder’s interest which the auditor has a duty to protect. The shareholders of a 

company have a collective interest in the company’s proper management and in so far 

as a negligent failure of the auditor to report accurately on the state of the company's 

finances deprives the shareholders of the opportunity to exercise their powers in 

general meeting to call the directors to book and to ensure that errors in management 

are corrected, the shareholders ought to be entitled to a remedy. But in practice no 

problem arises in this regard since the interest of the shareholders in the proper 

management of the company's affairs is indistinguishable from the interest of the 

company itself and any loss suffered by the shareholders, for example, by the 

negligent failure of the auditor to discover and expose a misappropriation of funds by 

a director of the company, will be recouped by a claim against the auditor in the name 

of the company, not by individual shareholders. 

 

                                                 
304

  See p 55. 
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I find it difficult to visualise a situation arising in the real world in which the 

individual shareholder could claim to have sustained a loss in respect of his existing 

shareholding referable to the negligence of the auditor which could not be recouped 

by the company.
305

 But on this part of the case your Lordships were much pressed 

with the argument that such a loss might occur by a negligent undervaluation of the 

company’s assets in the auditor's report relied on by the individual shareholder in 

deciding to sell his shares at an undervalue. The argument then runs thus. The 

shareholder, qua shareholder, is entitled to rely on the auditor’s report as the basis of 

his investment decision to sell his existing shareholding. If he sells at an undervalue 

he is entitled to recover the loss from the auditor. There can be no distinction in law 

between the shareholder’s investment decision to sell the shares he has or to buy 

additional shares. It follows, therefore, that the scope of the duty of care owed to him 

by the auditor extends to cover any loss sustained consequently on the purchase of 

additional shares in reliance on the auditor's negligent report. 

 

I believe this argument to be fallacious. Assuming without deciding that a claim by a 

shareholder to recover a loss suffered by selling his shares at an undervalue 

attributable to an undervaluation of the company’s assets in the auditor's report could 

be sustained at all, it would not be by reason of any reliance by the shareholder on the 

auditor’s report in deciding to sell: the loss would be preferable to the depreciatory 

effect of the report on the market value of the shares before ever the decision of the 

shareholder to sell was taken. A claim to recoup a loss alleged to flow from the 

purchase of overvalued shares, on the other hand, can only be sustained on the basis 

of the purchaser’s reliance on the report. The specious equation of ‘investment 

decisions’ to sell or to buy as giving rise to parallel claims thus appears to me to be 

untenable. Moreover, the loss in the case of the sale would be of a loss of part of the 

value of the shareholder's existing holding, which, assuming a duty of care owed to 

individual shareholders, it might sensibly lie within the scope of the auditor’s duty to 

protect. A loss, on the other hand, resulting from the purchase of additional shares 

would result from a wholly independent transaction having no connection with the 

existing shareholding. 

 

I believe it is this last distinction which is of critical importance and which 

demonstrates the unsoundness of the conclusion reached by the majority of the Court 

of Appeal. It is never sufficient to ask simply whether A owes B a duty of care. It is 

always necessary to determine the scope of the duty by reference to the kind of 

damage from which A must take care to save B harmless: ‘The question is always 

whether the defendant was under a duty to avoid or prevent that damage…’ [See 

Sutherland Shire Council v Heyman (1985) 60 ALR 1 at 48 per Brennan J]. 

 

Assuming for the purpose of the argument that the relationship between the auditor of 

a company and individual shareholders is of sufficient proximity to give rise to a duty 

of care, I do not understand how the scope of that duty can possibly extend beyond 

the protection of any individual shareholder from losses in the value of the shares 

which he holds. As a purchaser of additional shares in reliance on the auditor’s report, 

he stands in no different position from any other investing member of the public to 

whom the auditor owes no duty. 

 

I would allow the appeal and dismiss the cross-appeal. 
 
The House of Lords in Caparo clearly ended the creeping possibility of significant tort liability 
exposure for auditors to third-party users of financial statements, such as equity investors or 

                                                 
305

  On the principle of reflective loss see Chapter 15. 
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banks considering lending to a company. After Caparo auditors can control the extent to 
which they owe a duty of care to any party other than the company itself and, to a qualified 
extent, the shareholders acting in general meeting. No duty will be owed to a third party 
unless: (i) the auditor knows

306
 and consents to the financial information being provided to a 

specific party, or class of persons, in relation to a specific transaction or transaction type;
307

 
and (ii) that the third party was likely to rely on that information.

308
 In the absence of such 

knowledge and consent there would be no duty of care owed to the third party and therefore 
no liability exposure arising from negligent auditing.

309
  With regard to a company’s 

shareholders, Caparo clarifies that the auditors do owe a duty to the shareholders, however, 
this is a duty that relates only to facilitating shareholder monitoring and supervision of 
management’s stewardship of the company. That is, it is really a duty owed the shareholders 
acting together in general meeting, as an organ of the company. It is, therefore, one facet of 
the duty owed to the company. This is not a duty that extends to the shareholders’ investment 
decisions in relation to the company. The court places reliance upon the Companies Act 2006 
regulation of audit – in particular the fact that auditors are appointed by the shareholders in 
general meeting and report to shareholders – in understanding the nature of this duty owed to 
shareholders.  
 
This understanding of the basis for the duty has resulted in some commentators expressing 
concerns that the implementation of the EU’s Transparency Directive through the UKLA 
Disclosure and Transparency Rules

310
 altered the basis for the House of Lord’s view in this 

regard, and the alteration of this basis could, therefore, result in change of approach to the 
auditor’s duty of care.  The reason for this is that the Transparency Directive explicitly views 
the purpose of disclosure to be to enable investors to make an informed assessment about 
the company rather than facilitating shareholder monitoring of the stewardship of the 
company.  In this regard, consider the following extract. 
 

Lachlan Burn, ‘Only connect—the importance of considering 
disclosure requirements in the light of their legal consequences’ 
(2007) 2 Capital Markets Law Journal 41 
 

                                                 
306

  Including both actual knowledge and knowledge attributable to a reasonable person 
in such a position (Caparo per Lord Oliver). 

 
307

  Reeman v Department of Transport [1997] 2 Lloyd's Rep. 648, per Lord Bingham, 
685. 

 
308

  See further, Morgan Crucible Co. Plc v. Hill Samuel & Co. Ltd [1991] Ch. 295. 
 
309

  Lord Oliver’s concurring judgment in Caparo reaffirms this view. He observes: ‘the 
necessary relationship between the maker of a statement or giver of advice (the 
adviser) and the recipient who acts in reliance on it (the advisee) may typically be 
held to exist where (1) the advice is required for a purpose, whether particularly 
specified or generally described, which is made known, either actually or inferentially, 
to the adviser at the time when the advice is given, (2) the adviser knows, either 
actually or inferentially, that his advice will be communicated to the advisee, either 
specifically or as a member of an ascertainable class, in order that it should be used 
by the advisee for that purpose, (3) it is known, either actually or inferentially, that the 
advice so communicated is likely to be acted on by the advisee for that purpose 
without independent inquiry and (4) it is so acted on by the advisee to his detriment. 
That is not, of course, to suggest that these conditions are either conclusive or 
exclusive, but merely that the actual decision in the case does not warrant any 
broader propositions’. 

 
310

  On the financial disclosures required by the Disclosure and Transparency Rules see 
p 12 above.  
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The Transparency Directive makes it clear that the purpose of the reports that it 

requires companies to produce is to build confidence in the investment community 

and to inform investment decisions. For example, recital 1 states that ‘the disclosure 

of accurate, comprehensive and timely information about security issuers builds 

sustained investor confidence and allows an informed assessment of their business 

performance and assets’. Recital 2 refers to the objective of ensuring ‘appropriate 

transparency towards investors through a regular flow of information’. Recital 5 

states that ‘greater harmonization of provisions of national law on periodic and 

ongoing information requirements for security issuers should lead to a high level of 

investor protection throughout the Community’. Recital 7 states that ‘a high level of 

investor protection throughout the Community would enable barriers to the admission 

of securities to regulated markets situated or operating within a Member State to be 

removed’. Article 6 adds further weight to this by stating that the Commission will 

examine in future whether the transparency of interim reporting ‘meets the objective 

of allowing investors to make an informed assessment of the financial position of the 

issuer’.  

 

These purposive provisions make it extremely difficult for an English court to 

continue to say, as it did in the Caparo decision, that the purpose of the reports is to 

enable shareholders to exercise their rights. In other words, the provisions destroy the 

first limb of Caparo in relation to TOD reports.
311

 Instead, the court would be likely 

to say that the second limb of Caparo had in effect become the only limb in this 

context and that, as the purpose of the reports is to inform investors’ investment 

decisions, that must be the purpose in the mind of the issuer when it proffers the 

reports to the market by publishing them, thereby creating a duty of care to potential 

investors when they do in fact rely upon them for that purpose. 
 
The logic of Burn’s argument is persuasive. It is correct that in determining the scope of the 
duty owed by the auditors to the shareholders, Caparo lays much store by the Companies 
Act’s accounting and audit requirements and the view that those requirements exist to support 
shareholder monitoring of the stewardship of the company. Logically it follows that if the 
purpose for the statutory provisions changes then the scope of the duty must change 
accordingly. However, several factors weigh against this argument both specifically in relation 
to auditors and more generally.  Most importantly, the discussion of the role of the audit and 
the stewardship of the company in Caparo relies explicitly on the provisions in the Companies 
Act relating to audit that are unaltered by the Transparency Directive.  Of course, one could 
argue that if the purpose of financial statements changes then so too does the function of the 
audit and with it the basis for the scope of an auditor’s duty of care.  Secondly, Burn’s 
argument relies strongly on Lord Oliver’s judgment that is arguably less focused on 
transaction specificity

312
 than some of the other judgments. Lord Bridge for example refers to 

the requirement that the maker of the statement is aware that the statement will be relied 
upon in relation to a ‘particular transaction or transactions of a particular kind’ and he gives as 
an example of a ‘transaction kind’ in the issuance of shares by the company. For Lord Bridge 
‘transactions of a particular kind’ would not extend to any debt or capital market transaction 
simply because the company is aware that the financial statements are issued – as matter of 
law – to facilitate those transactions. As far as investors generally are concerned, there is no 
reason why this requirement would disappear as a result of a change in the purpose of 
financial statements. Thirdly, there are other independent components of the judgment which 
also support taking a narrow approach to the duty of care which remain unaffected by a 
different view of the purpose of financial statement or the audit. In particular, the concern 

                                                 
311

  The first and second limbs referred to here refer to Lord Oliver’s judgment in Caparo 
– the relevant section is extracted at note 309 above. 

 
312

  In this regard Lord Oliver’s observes: ‘the advice is required for a purpose, whether 
particularly specified or generally described, which is made known, either actually or 
inferentially, to the adviser at the time when the advice is given’. 
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expressed in the above extract, and quoted at several other instances in the judgment, that 
broadening the scope of the duty of care could result in auditors being subject to ‘an 
indeterminate amount for an indeterminate time to an indeterminate class’.

313
  In this author's 

view, these factors mean it is highly unlikely that the implementation of the Transparency 
Directive has altered the scope of an auditor’s duty of care to shareholders or investors.  

 

3.2 Damages and the scope of the duty of care 
 
Following Caparo, in most instances the auditors are exposed to liability only from the 
company. It is important to note, however, that audit failure, in particular compromised 
independence, will in many instances not damage the company. Indeed, it may benefit the 
company if the inaccurate accounts present a more favourable financial picture which results 
in a reduction in its cost of equity capital (investors pay more for the shares) or loan capital 
(lower interest rates). Of course, it may damage the company where it results in, or 
contributes to: the company paying damages to a third party as a result of its negligently 
prepared accounts; overpaying the managers when remuneration is paid based upon inflated 
financial information; or when inaccurate accounts result in the payment of a dividend which 
would not be permitted if based on inaccurate accounts. Perhaps most significantly from a 
liability exposure perspective for auditors, are potential losses to the company that arise as a 
result of continued trading when but for the inaccurate accounts and incompetent auditing the 
company would have stopped trading. However, under the current state of English law it is 
unlikely that the auditors would be liable for such 'but for' trading losses. The reason for this is 
contained in a development of a crucial observation set forth at the end of Lord Bridge’s 
judgment in Caparo where he observed that ‘it is always necessary to determine the scope of 
the duty by reference to the kind of damage from which A must take care to save B harmless’. 
The question whether auditors are liable for the limited circumstances in which company’s 
can suffer a loss from auditor malpractice is, therefore, a question of whether the damage in 
question falls within the scope of the auditor’s duty. In this regard consider the following case.  

 
South Australia Asset Management Ltd v York Montague Ltd 
[1997] AC 191 
 
Lord Hoffmann 
 

My Lords, the three appeals before the House raise a common question of principle. 

What is the extent of the liability of a valuer who has provided a lender with a 

negligent overvaluation of the property offered as security for the loan? The facts 

have two common features. The first is that if the lender had known the true value of 

the property, he would not have lent. The second is that a fall in the property market 

after the date of the valuation greatly increased the loss which the lender eventually 

suffered… 

 

In the present case, there is no dispute that the duty was owed to the lenders. The real 

question in this case is the kind of loss in respect of which the duty was owed. How is 

the scope of the duty determined? In the case of a statutory duty, the question is 

answered by deducing the purpose of the duty from the language and context of the 

statute... In the case of tort, it will similarly depend upon the purpose of the rule 

imposing the duty. Most of the judgments in the Caparo case are occupied in 

examining the Companies Act 1985 to ascertain the purpose of the auditor's duty to 

take care that the statutory accounts comply with the Act. In the case of an implied 

contractual duty, the nature and extent of the liability is defined by the term which the 

                                                 
313

   In other areas of tort law we have seen courts recently affirming that the existence of 
a duty of care may be constrained by policy factors that result in a determination that 
it would not be 'fair and reasonable' to impose a duty of care. See, for example, 
Mitchell v Glasgow City Council [2009] UKHL 11 discussed in chapter 4 at 155. 
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law implies. As in the case of any implied term, the process is one of construction of 

the agreement as a whole in its commercial setting. The contractual duty to provide a 

valuation and the known purpose of that valuation compel the conclusion that the 

contract includes a duty of care. The scope of the duty, in the sense of the 

consequences for which the valuer is responsible, is that which the law regards as best 

giving effect to the express obligations assumed by the valuer: neither cutting them 

down so that the lender obtains less than he was reasonably entitled to expect, nor 

extending them so as to impose on the valuer a liability greater than he could 

reasonably have thought he was undertaking. 

 

What therefore should be the extent of the valuer’s liability. The Court of Appeal said 

that he should be liable for the loss which would not have occurred if he had given 

the correct advice… There is no reason in principle why the law should not penalise 

wrongful conduct by shifting on to the wrongdoer the whole risk of consequences 

which would not have happened but for the wrongful act… But that is not the normal 

rule… Rules which make the wrongdoer liable for all the consequences of his 

wrongful conduct are exceptional and need to be justified by some special policy. 

Normally the law limits liability to those consequences which are attributable to that 

which made the act wrongful. In the case of liability in negligence for providing 

inaccurate information, this would mean liability for the consequences of the 

information being inaccurate. 

 

I can illustrate the difference between the ordinary principle and that adopted by the 

Court of Appeal by an example. A mountaineer about to undertake a difficult climb is 

concerned about the fitness of his knee. He goes to a doctor who negligently makes a 

superficial examination and pronounces the knee fit. The climber goes on the 

expedition, which he would not have undertaken if the doctor had told him the true 

state of his knee. He suffers an injury which is an entirely foreseeable consequence of 

mountaineering but has nothing to do with his knee. 

 

On the Court of Appeal's principle, the doctor is responsible for the injury suffered by 

the mountaineer because it is damage which would not have occurred if he had been 

given correct information about his knee. He would not have gone on the expedition 

and would have suffered no injury. On what I have suggested is the more usual 

principle, the doctor is not liable. The injury has not been caused by the doctor's bad 

advice because it would have occurred even if the advice had been correct… 

 

Your Lordships might, I would suggest, think that there was something wrong with a 

principle which, in the example which I have given, produced the result that the 

doctor was liable. What is the reason for this feeling? I think that the Court of 

Appeal's principle offends common sense because it makes the doctor responsible for 

consequences which, though in general terms foreseeable, do not appear to have a 

sufficient causal connection with the subject matter of the duty. The doctor was asked 

for information on only one of the considerations which might affect the safety of the 

mountaineer on the expedition. There seems no reason of policy which requires that 

the negligence of the doctor should require the transfer to him of all the foreseeable 

risks of the expedition. 

 

I think that one can to some extent generalise the principle upon which this response 

depends. It is that a person under a duty to take reasonable care to provide 

information on which someone else will decide upon a course of action is, if 

negligent, not generally regarded as responsible for all the consequences of that 

course of action. He is responsible only for the consequences of the information being 

wrong. A duty of care which imposes upon the informant responsibility for losses 
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which would have occurred even if the information which he gave had been correct is 

not in my view fair and reasonable as between the parties. It is therefore inappropriate 

either as an implied term of a contract or as a tortious duty arising from the 

relationship between them. 

 

The principle thus stated distinguishes between a duty to provide information for the 

purpose of enabling someone else to decide upon a course of action and a duty to 

advise someone as to what course of action he should take. If the duty is to advise 

whether or not a course of action should be taken, the adviser must take reasonable 

care to consider all the potential consequences of that course of action. If he is 

negligent, he will therefore be responsible for all the foreseeable loss which is a 

consequence of that course of action having been taken. If his duty is only to supply 

information, he must take reasonable care to ensure that the information is correct 

and, if he is negligent, will be responsible for all the foreseeable consequences of the 

information being wrong.  

 
Consider the following commentary on the impact of the SAAMCO decision on auditor’s 
exposure to tort liability. 
 
 
 

D. Kershaw, ‘Waiting for Enron: the Unstable Equilibrium of 
Auditor Independence Regulation’ (2006) 33 Journal of Law and 
Society 388 
 

It is clear from SAAMCO that auditors are not exposed to liability but for losses. 

What is less clear from this approach is how to determine what types of loss an 

auditor is responsible for. In this regard, Lord Hoffman held that ‘normally the law 

limits liability to those consequences which are attributable to that which made the 

act wrongful’ which, in the case of negligent misstatement, meant ‘liability for the 

consequences of the information being inaccurate’. This, however, simply 

reformulates the question. There are many direct and indirect consequences of the 

information being inaccurate. What we need to know is which ‘consequences’ is an 

auditor responsible for? Here Lord Hoffman offers two approaches. The first is to 

look for a close and direct causal relation between inaccurate information and 

consequence; what Lord Hoffman refers to as a ‘sufficient causal connection.’ The 

second, of particular relevance for determining the scope of a contractual duty of 

care, is to look at the risks which were assumed by the auditor. Lord Hoffman put it 

as follows: 

 

‘The scope of the duty, in the sense of the consequences for which the [service 

provider] is responsible is that which the law regards as best giving effect to the 

express obligations assumed by the [service provider].’ 

 

It seems highly probable that issuing an illegal dividend would fall within the 

consequences for which the auditor could be held liable. The determination of the 

dividend payment is a direct function of the information in the financial statements. 

Here the loss would amount to the illegal reduction in the company's capital: the 

payments in excess of the amounts that the company could have lawfully distributed. 

However, the extent to which a dividend payment is unlawful is a direct function of 

the extent to which the accounting entries are inaccurate. That is, liability exposure 

for illegal dividends is in the auditor's control. Furthermore, given that directors could 

be held liable for the whole of the dividend not just the extent to which it is illegal, it 

is unlikely that auditors would face resistance from management to ensure that the 

dividend is legal even if any questionable accounting should subsequently be revised. 
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Accordingly, the possibility that acquiescent auditing could result in liability 

exposure for an illegal dividend can be managed by the auditor. 

 

To determine whether an auditor could be held liable for losses arising from 

continued trading or a lost sale opportunity, SAAMCO directs us to an analysis of the 

types of risk of loss which the auditor in fact assumed. These will normally be set 

forth in the audit engagement letter. It seems unlikely that an auditor would assume 

the risk of trading losses that result from the continued existence of the firm or a 

missed sale opportunity. A well-drafted engagement letter is more likely to explicitly 

exclude responsibility for these types of risk of loss. The important point, however, is 

that the assumption of risk is within the auditor's control and where an auditor 

assumes additional risk exposure it can be factored into accounting decisions. 

 

3.3 The company’s contributory negligence 
 
We have seen above that SAAMCO, following Caparo, clarifies that the extent of the auditor’s 
liability is a function of the scope of their duty of care. However, where the auditor’s duty is 
breached and the damages fall within the scope of its duty, should the auditors alone be 
responsible for those losses or should they be entitled to seek contribution, pursuant to the 
Law Reform (Contributory Negligence) Act 1945, from the company whose agents’ own 
negligence produced the flawed accounts that the auditors failed to qualify?

314
 

 
This question is thrown into sharper relief in the context of fraudulent corporate activity where 
the auditor fails to identify the fraud and where competent, robustly independent auditing 
would have identified it.  The common law principle of ex turpi causa non oritur provides a 
defence to a claim where the claim is based on the claimant’s own fraudulent actions. Would 
this rule go further than requiring the company to share in the blame and prevent a company 
in such circumstances from suing the auditor in negligence for the failure to identify the fraud 
that has been attributed to the company? 
 
In relation to contributory negligence, lower courts have held that auditor liability may be 
reduced to take account of the company’s negligence. In Barings plc (in liquidation) v 
Coopers & Lybrand (a firm)

315
 the court held that the nature of the duty owed by the 

defendant was relevant to the determination of whether a contributory negligence claim is 
available and the extent to which it was available. Evans-Lombe J (as he then was) accepted 
that the nature of the auditor’s duty is relevant to the determination of any possible 
contribution. That is, the company’s contributory negligence is limited to the extent that it is 
justified in relying on the auditor to protect it from accounting fraud.

316
 However, the judgment 

                                                 
314

  Law Reform (Contributory Negligence) Act 1945, section 1 provides that ‘where any 
person suffers damage as the result partly of his own fault and partly of the fault of 
any other person or persons, a claim in respect of that damage shall not be defeated 
by reason of the fault of the person suffering the damage, but the damages 
recoverable in respect thereof shall be reduced to such extent as the court thinks just 
and equitable having regard to the claimant’s share in the responsibility for the 
damage.’    

 
315

  [2003] All ER (D) 142. 
 
316

  Evans-Lombe J cites favourably the Australian High Court decision of Astley v 
Austrust [1999] Ll. Rep. (PN) 758) which held that ‘in some cases, the nature of the 
duty may exculpate the plaintiff from a claim of contributory negligence; in other 
cases the nature of that duty may reduce the plaintiff's share of responsibility for the 
damage suffered; and in yet other cases the nature of the duty may not prevent a 
finding that the plaintiff failed to take reasonable care for the safety of his or her 
person or property’ (at [955] ibid). 
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does not detail how this duty itself constrains the contribution, although it does reject the 
claimant’s proposition that the contribution will never be greater than 50%

317
 Indeed, the court 

holds that the liability of the auditor in relation to one claim is reduced by 80% by the 
claimant’s contributory negligence.

318
 

 
The situation with regard to fraud and ex turpi causa non oritur is highly complex and 
somewhat unclear following the recent House of Lords split (3-2) judgment in Moore 
Stephens (a firm) v Stone Rolls Ltd (in liquidation).

319
  Without addressing the intricacies of 

this case, in summary where the company is a ‘one man company,’ as was the case with 
Stone Rolls Ltd, where (i) the fraud is committed by the directing will and mind of the 
company it will be attributed to the company and (ii) where the directing mind and will of the 
company is also the company’s sole shareholder, then the ex turpi rule will prevent any action 
against the auditors. Where all the shareholders are unconnected with the fraud the rule will 
not apply and the company may sue the auditors for breach of duty. Where some of the 
shareholders are complicit in the fraud but others are not the situation is not clear. In all 
likelihood the rule would not apply in such a context.  

 

3.4 Auditor liability limitation agreements   
 
From the above analysis one could argue that auditor liability exposure in the UK for 
incompetent or acquiescent auditing is low: duties are normally owed only to the company 
which may not suffer a loss resulting from the auditor’s negligence, and even where it does so 
the loss incurred may not be in the scope of the auditor’s duty, and, even if it is, a claim of 
contributory negligence against the auditor will often be available to the auditor. Under the 
current state of the common law, the tort of negligence in the UK does not operate as a 
significant deterrent to incompetence or compromised independence. However, what is also 
clear from the above analysis is that the tort of negligence has the potential to impose 
significant liability exposure on auditors and, indeed, pre-Caparo and pre-SAAMCO was 
threatening to do so.   
 
Whilst the 1990s involved significant legal victories for the audit profession in limiting their 
liability exposure, the audit profession continued to lobby the Government vigorously to obtain 
a statutory right to contractually agree with the company on a specified limitation to their 
liability to the company. Prior to 2006, pursuant to section 310 of the Companies Act 1985, 
any such agreements were void. However, although waivers and indemnities were void, the 
Companies Acts have long empowered courts to grant auditors relief from liability where they 
have behaved honestly and reasonably and in the court’s view it is fair to grant such relief. 
This discretion is today set forth in section 1157 of the 2006 Act.

320
 

 
The demise of Arthur Andersen LLP as a result of the collapse of the US corporation, 
Enron,

321
 allowed the audit profession to connect audit firm liability exposure to the significant 

problem that the collapse of another major auditor would render the audit market 
uncompetitive (pre-2001, Arthur Andersen LLP was one of the Big Five accounting firms).

322
 

                                                 
317

  Ibid [957]. 
 
318

  Ibid [1064–65]. 
 
319

  [2009] 2 BCLC 563. 
 
320

  For a more in-depth discussion of section 1157 see Chapter 12 pp 452–454. For an 
example of where this relief was granted to the auditor see Barings Plc v Coopers & 
Lybrand [2003] EWHC 1319. 

 
321

  On Enron see Chapter 7, p243. 
 
322

  ‘PwC seeks litigation protection’ Financial Times (19 April, 2004): ‘PwC has told the 
UK government that one or more of the big four accounting firms could be destroyed 
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This risk, it was argued, was highlighted by then ongoing multi-billion pound law suit brought 
by Equitable Life Assurance Company against its former auditors Ernst & Young.

323
  Although 

liability exposure was in fact low in the UK and the risk of audit firm collapse as a result of UK 
law minimal, the Government accepted this argument and provided for liability limitation 
agreements in sections 534–538A of the 2006 Act. 
 
The Act continues to provide

324
 that any agreement to exempt or indemnify the auditor from 

liability to the company for breach of duty, negligence, default, or breach of trust is void unless 
such agreement relates to the indemnification of the auditor for costs in defending 
proceedings

325
 or is a permitted ‘liability limitation agreement’ in accordance with the Act.

326
  

 
The Act does not specify the ways in which the company and the auditor can agree to limit 
the auditor’s liability.

327
  In theory the auditor and the company could agree: a fixed monetary 

cap; a cap related to a multiple of the audit fee; or a proportionate liability agreement limiting 
the auditor’s liability to its share of the blame for the losses the company suffers.  To qualify 
as a permitted liability limitation agreement the principle terms of the agreement must be 
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

328
 These terms include the acts or 

omissions covered by the agreement, the limit to which the liability is subject, and the 
applicable financial year to which it applies. Any agreement can only relate to one financial 
year. 
 
The Act provides that whatever agreement on liability limitation is reached between the 
auditor and the company, the agreement is not effective to limit the auditor’s liability to less 
than an amount that is ‘fair and reasonable in all the circumstances of the case’. To determine 
what would be ‘fair and reasonable’ a court must have regard, in particular, to: (i) the auditor’s 
responsibilities pursuant to the Act; (ii) the nature of the auditor’s contractual relations to the 
company; and (iii) the professional standards expected of the auditor.

329
 Importantly, if having 

regard to these factors the court determines that the amount of the liability limitation is not fair 
and reasonable, the liability limitation agreement is not void, rather the amount of the liability 

                                                                                                                                            
if no protection was introduced. The UK government last month completed a public 
consultation on whether it should legislate to limit auditor’s liability. The consultation 
was partly prompted by the collapse of Andersen, once the world’s biggest 
accounting firm, in the Enron scandal. In its submission, PwC says the risks involved 
in auditing are "uninsurable, unquantifiable, unmanageable and could at any time 
destroy our firm, or any of our competitors’. 

 
323

  For example, ibidi observing that ‘E&Y's UK partnership could be destroyed if a 
£2.6bn negligence action by Equitable Life, the insurer, is successful. E&Y was 
Equitable's auditor until 2000’. 

 
324

  Section 532 CA 2006. 
 
325

  Section 533 CA 2006. 
 
326

  Section 534–538A CA 2006. 
 
327

  The Act provides only that the agreement must specify the financial year to which it 
applies (section 535(1)) and that the Secretary of State for business may by 
regulation require specific provisions in the agreement (section 535(2)). No such 
regulations have been issued.  Apart from these requirements, that Act provides that 
‘it is immaterial how a liability limitation agreement is framed’ (section 535(4)). 

 
328

  Such approval may be of the principal terms of the agreement before it is entered into 
or of the agreement itself (section 536(2)(b) and (c) for private companies and section 
536(3) for public companies). Private companies may resolve to dispense with the 
approval requirement (section 536(2)(a)). 

 
329

  Section 537(1) CA 2006. 
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is set at what is determined to be fair and reasonable. It seems likely that a court asked to 
assess what is ‘fair and reasonable’ is likely to draw upon an assessment of the auditor’s 
proportionate responsibility for the company’s losses whether or not the liability limitation 
agreement itself provides for a proportionate liability limitation. With regard to the factors that 
the courts are directed to have regard to, consider the following commentary.  
 

Oxford Annotated Companies Acts (OUP, 2011) 16.537.05330 
 

Interestingly, these specified factors mirror certain of the rules/considerations that 

determine the extent of the auditor’s liability in negligence or the breach of the 

contractual duty of skill and care in the first place. For example, failure to comply 

with professional standards may be relevant to whether or not the auditor’s 

contractual duty of skill and care has been breached. Furthermore, as the House of 

Lords in South Australia Asset Management Corp v York Montague Ltd 

(SAAMCO)
331

 clarified, breach of this duty of care does not result in the auditor 

being liable for all the consequences of this breach.
332

 A company may not have 

continued to trade and incur losses but for the auditor’s negligence, but this does not 

mean that the auditor is responsible for all or part of these losses. To determine which 

consequences the auditor would be responsible for, the court must determine what is 

the scope of the auditor’s duty of care. In relation to the contractual duty of care a 

central consideration in this determination is the auditor’s contractual obligations to 

the company. Lord Hoffmann put it as follows: ‘the scope of the duty, in the sense of 

the consequences for which the [service provider] is responsible is that which the law 

regards as best giving effect to the express obligations assumed by the [service 

provider].’
333

 Accordingly, to the extent that the terms of the auditor’s engagement 

delimit the types of risk for which the auditors can be held responsible, for example, 

continued trading losses, the concept of the scope of the duty of care performs a type 

of proportionate liability limitation function. Accordingly, having been taken account 

of in the determination of liability these contractual undertakings will be reconsidered 

by the court in determining whether any liability limitation is ‘fair and reasonable’. 

Given the current state of English duty of care jurisprudence, to the extent that the 

courts place particular weight on this contractual factor one wonders whether the 

impact of liability limitation agreements will be significant. If the contractual 

delimitation of risk is a central factor in the determination of minimum auditor 

liability exposure (that is, what is fair and reasonable) then in many instances this will 

be very similar to the actual liability pursuant to a contractually delimited scope of 

the duty of care. 

 
Whilst liability limitation agreements between the company and auditor are formally available 
subject to the above regulation, in practice we have not seen companies entering into them. 
The reason for this is that many major UK companies who were expected to take the lead in 
fashioning these agreements have not been able to enter in these agreements. The reason 
for this is that the US capital markets regulator, the Securities and Exchange Commission 
(SEC), has refused to accept such agreements for UK companies that are registered with the 
SEC. The UK accounting profession has acknowledged that until the SEC's position changes 

                                                 
330

  This section of the Oxford Annotated Companies Acts was contributed by the author.  
 
331

  [1997] AC 191. 
 
332

  Ibid 214. 
 
333

  [1997] AC 191, 212. See also, Aneco Reinsurance Undertaking v Johnson & Higgins 
[2002] 1 Lloyd’s Rep 157, 163. 
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the door to these agreements has been 'slammed shut'.
334

  Companies not subject to the 
jurisdiction of the SEC can of course enter into these agreements, however, the view of many 
accountants is that companies are unlikely to be responsive to auditors' advances when 
major UK companies have not entered into these agreements.  

 

4 The regulatory effects of audit firm reputation  
   
Arguably an audit firm’s most important asset is its reputation for independence. Whilst 
managers may pressurize the auditor to compromise their independence they are unlikely to 
employ an auditor whose reputation for independence has been damaged. If they do so the 
market will discount the company’s share price to take account of the fact that the financial 
statements have not been subject to a truly independent third-party audit. It is often argued 
that because of the importance of this reputational asset it would never make economic sense 
for an auditor to compromise his independence for one demanding client. This is because, 
although such behaviour could generate immediate financial gain from this client, the loss of 
earnings from the lost mandates of other clients and the inability to gain new mandates would 
completely dwarf the immediate economic gains.  
 
It is commonly assumed by regulators and academics in the UK that this theory of reputation 
operates in practice to ensure independent auditing.

335
 The theory, however, rests upon two 

untested assumptions. First, that there is a high probability that the auditor’s errant behaviour 
will be identified, and secondly, that its identification will be clearly communicated to the 
market. If this is not the case in practice then the effectiveness of an auditor’s reputation for 
independence as a disciplinary device will be undermined. Even if the cost to an auditor of 
damage to its reputation for independence is high, an audit partner will discount this cost by 
the probability that any acquiescent behaviour will be publicly and unequivocally disclosed. As 
Professor DeAngelo has observed, if the probability of being caught is zero there are no 
reputation costs to compromising independence.

 336
 

 
In theory, two of the most important ways in which acquiescent auditing can be identified and 
signalled to the marketplace are: first, law suits arising from the auditing on the basis of the 
tort of negligence; and second, disciplinary sanctions for professional malpractice. However, 
as we have seen above the probability of an auditor being successfully sued for breach of 
duty of care is low. There are other mechanisms that are in theory capable of identifying 
acquiescent auditing and signalling this to the market place. These include disciplinary 
investigation and sanctions as well as, in theory, the findings of accounting regulatory bodies 
such as the FRC’s audit inspection unit and the Financial Reporting Review Panel, which we 
consider below. Space constraints mean that it is not possible to explore the effectiveness of 
these mechanisms here. For a full exposition of the authors’ views on this issue see D. 
Kershaw, ‘Waiting for Enron: the Unstable Equilibrium of Auditor Independence Regulation’ 
(2006) 33 Journal of Law and Society 388. Having considered each of the above 
mechanisms, I conclude as follows: 

                                                 
334

  'SEC blocks auditor liability deals' Financial Times (10 March, 2009) quoting Peter 
Wyman, PwC partner. 

 
335

  In a statement to the House of Commons relating to director and auditor liability on 7 
September 2004, Patricia Hewitt MP, the Secretary of State for Trade and Industry, 
concluded that `no change to the law on financial liability could protect one of an 
auditor's greatest assets, its reputation'. See S. Fearnley and V. Beattie, ‘The Reform 
of the United Kingdom's Auditor Independence Framework after the Enron Collapse: 
An Example of Evidence Based Policy Making’ (2004) 8 International Journal of 
Auditing 117, at 121; and B. Arrunda, ‘The Provision of Non-Audit Services By 
Auditors: Let the Market Evolve and Decide’ (1999) 19 International Review of Law 
and Economics 513, at 523. 

 
336

  L.E. DeAngelo, 'Auditor Size and Audit Quality' (1981) 3 Journal of Accounting and 
Economics 183. 

 



D. Kershaw: Company Law in Context: Text and Materials, 2
nd

 edition 

 

© Oxford University Press, 2013. All rights reserved. 

95 

 

There is no effective public or private mechanism for identifying and signalling 

clearly to the market compromised independence. Accordingly, the informational 

prerequisite to the use of reputation as a mechanism for disciplining auditors who 

acquiesce is not present in the United Kingdom. This analysis is consistent with 

Lennox's work on the role of reputation as a disciplinary device between 1987 and 

1994. Lennox found that where questions were publicly raised about an auditor's 

reputation, this did not have any impact on that auditor's ability to expand its client 

portfolio nor did it result in a decline in its revenue. Lennox concluded that the reason 

for this is that litigation does not provide a signal for market failure.  A conclusion 

that neither litigation nor any other regulatory device provides such a signal is, 

however, more consistent with his empirical findings. As demonstrated in this 

section, post-1994 regulatory developments have not provided the market for 

reputational capital with an effective signal. Any faith placed in an auditor’s 

reputation for independence as a significant disincentive for a rational auditor to 

acquiesce is, therefore, misplaced.
337

 

 

 

 

IV Non-audit strategies for enhancing financial 
statement quality 

 
1 The audit committee 
 
We have already seen how the audit committee’s role in relation to auditor appointment and 
non-audit service fee policy makes an important contribution to ensuring auditor 
independence. However, in addition to its role as internal guardian of the independent audit 
relationship, the audit committee has two quality control functions.  First, it operates as an 
independent internal check on the quality of the financial statements in relation to the 
accounting judgments made by the company’s management and accounting personnel and 
the internal control systems that are central, amongst others, to the reliable production of 
financial information. Provision C.3.2 of the Corporate Governance Code recommends that 
the audit committee: 
 

Monitor the integrity of the financial statements of the company, and any formal 

announcements relating to the company’s financial performance, reviewing 

significant financial reporting judgments contained in them… [and] 

 

Review the company’s internal financial controls and, unless expressly addressed by 

a separate board risk committee composed of independent directors, or by the board 

itself, to review the company’s internal control and risk management systems. 
 
Note, in particular, in this regard the Code’s requirement to review significant financial 
reporting judgments. To be in a position to challenge the judgments made by management 
the audit committee members must be both informed about the company and technically 
capable of understanding the accounting rules. The requisite degree of expertise of audit 

                                                 
337

  C.S. Lennox, 'Audit Quality and Auditor Size: An Evaluation of Reputation and Deep 
Pockets Hypotheses' (1999) 26 J. of Business Finance & Accounting 779. 
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committee members is, therefore, key to the effective performance of this audit committee 
function. One may reasonably harbour doubts as to whether the current Code’s 
recommendation that only one member of the audit committee have ‘recent and relevant 
financial experience’ is adequate to perform this role.  This contrasts with the New York Stock 
Exchange’s requirement that every member of the audit committee is ‘financially literate’ and 
that one member has ‘accounting or related financial management expertise’.

338
  

 
A second quality control function that may be performed by the audit committee is a ‘whistle 
blowing’ function. Company employees may object to the accounting approaches insisted 
upon by management or may have concerns that the company’s financial statements mask 
illegal or fraudulent activity. Employees will not be in a position to report such matters to 
senior management if senior management is complicit in such activity.  An audit committee 
which is Corporate Governance Code compliant

339
 will ensure that there are open and 

confidential channels of communication for such employees to report such concerns to the 
independent members of the audit committee.  

 

2 The Monitoring Committee / The Financial Reporting 
Review Panel 
 
The 2006 Act empowers the Secretary of State for Business, as well as a person who has 
been authorized in this regard by the Secretary of State, to apply to court for an order 
requiring rectification of a company’s accounts which are inconsistent with the requirements 
of the 2006 Act or the IAS Regulation.

340
 The Secretary of State has authorized the 

Monitoring Committee (a sub-committee of the FRC's Code Committee) to carry out this 
function. Previously under the former FRC regime this role was carried out by the Financial 
Reporting Review Panel (FRRP).

341
 In the new structure the FRRP is retained, not as an 

operational unit of the FRC, but as a panel of experts from which the Monitoring Committee 
can compile review teams.  
The role of the Monitoring Committee is an important component in the UK’s regulation of 
financial reporting. It does not carry out behind the scenes reviews and spot checks of 
financial statement production process or, in contrast the FRC’s Audit Quality Review, of the 
audit process and related judgments, rather it focuses upon accounting problems that are 
identifiable from the financial statements themselves. Such problems may be clearly 
highlighted in the financial statements where the audit report is qualified in a specified respect 
or visible from the presentation of, and explanation attached to, specific items.   
 
The Monitoring Committee's review mandate covers all companies.  However, in practice its 
review mandate covers the financial statements produced by public companies and large 
private companies.

342
 The Committee adopts a proactive approach to these company 

financial statements with its staff carrying out reviews of the publicly available financial 
statements. Given the number of financial statements that are produced by public and large 
private companies the Committee necessarily has to be selective in the accounts that it 
reviews. Rather than carry out a review of a random selection of accounts, the Committee 
adopts a risk-based approach that is weighted towards listed companies and listed 

                                                 
338

  Commentary to NYSE Listing Manual Rule 303.A.07(a).  
 
339

  Corporate Governance Code C.3.4. 
 
340

  Sections 456 and 457 CA 2006. 
 
341

  The Supervision of Accounts and Reports (Prescribed Body) and Companies 
(Defective Accounts and Directors’ Reports) (Authorised Person) Order 2012. 

 
342

  For more detail in this regard see the Conduct Committee's  operating procedures 
http://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Publications/FRRP/Operating-procedures.aspx. 
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companies in identified industries.
343

 In 2012 the FRRP reviewed 326 sets of accounts 
primarily from LSE listed and AIM company accounts.

344
  In addition to proactive review, the 

Committee is also provided with information on possible accounting problems from HM 
Revenue and Customs if they identify any such concerns in the course of the review of 
company tax returns.  The transfer of this information from HMRC is authorized by section 
458 of the Act and subject to a memorandum of understanding between the FRRP (assumed 
by the Committee) and HMRC.

345
 

 
The Committee's mandate is to identify and obtain corrections for the company’s accounting 
errors. Upon the identification of a possible accounting error the Committee will communicate 
with the company to obtain further information and to discuss the issue.  The Act empowers 
the Committee to apply to court for an order to force the company to provide this information 
where it is unwilling to do so.

346
 In practice, companies will cooperate with the Monitoring 

Committee’s information request. If following the provision of additional information and 
discussion the Monitoring Committee concludes that the accounts do not comply with the Act 
or the IAS Regulation the Committee will, depending on the nature of the breach, require 
revision of the existing accounts or an amendment to accounting practices for future financial 
statements.  
 
Where the Committee requires revision of the accounts, section 454 of the 2006 Act allows 
for voluntary revision of defective accounts. Such revised accounts must comply with the 
regulations issued by the Secretary of State for Business pursuant to the Act which require, 
amongst others, compliance with the Act’s accounting requirements and that they state 
clearly that they are revised accounts which replace the original accounts.

347
 Where a 

company refuses to comply with the Committee’s request to voluntarily revise the accounts, 
the Committee may apply to court for an order requiring revision.

348
 In such an instance the 

court has within its discretion the power to require the directors of the company to cover the 
costs of the revision.

349
 For this reason the Committee has never been required to have 

recourse to obtaining a court order. 
 
The Monitoring Committee's regulatory mandate is to ensure that companies produce 
accounting information that is consistent with the 2006 Act’s requirements. Its regulatory 
powers are aimed directly at the company and its directors. However, the regulatory effects of 
Monitoring Committee review activity are limited. There are two reasons for this: first the 
limited nature of its review; and second, the low probability of negative publicity for a company 
whose problematic accounting practices are identified. The probability is low because 
companies have an opportunity to adjust their accounts to comply with Committee’s 
requirements without there being any publicity.  However, in one respect there is scope for a 
more significant regulatory impact. This is in relation to audit quality. The FRC views itself as 
a ‘joined-up’ regulator, where the different regulators communicate with each other. Problems 
identified by the Committee may be referred to the Conduct Committee and could, in theory, 

                                                 
343

  In 2009/10, for example, the industrial sectors which receive weighted risk-based 
attention from the FRRP were the: banking, retail, leisure and travel, and commercial 
property and house building  sectors (See FRC 2009.10 Plan (FRC 2009). 

 
344

  See FRRP Annual Activity Report 2012. 
 
345

  For the memorandum of understanding see http://www.frc.org.uk/images/uploaded/ 
documents/250506%20-%20MoU%20with%20HMRC2.pdf.  

 
346

  Section 459 CA 2006. 
 
347

  The Companies (Revision of Defective Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008, SI 
2008/373.  

 
348

  Section 456 CA 2006. 
 
349

  Section 456(5) CA 2006. 
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result in disciplinary steps being taken. The FRC may in turn refer the matter for regulatory 
action to the relevant accounting institute who could also take disciplinary action. In practice, 
however, to date there appears to have been very few disciplinary actions of auditors linked to 
FRRP referral.

350
 

  

3 Company and director liability 
 
In theory the potential liability of the company and, in particular, of its directors for inaccurate 
and misleading financial and narrative information could operate as a significant deterrent to 
such reporting. However, in practice the extent of liability exposure, both at common law and 
imposed by statute is limited. Note that in this section we do not address liability exposure for 
misleading information provided in a prospectus when a company ‘goes public’, which will be 
addressed in Web Chapter B. 
 
Today, at common law, in theory, both the company and directors could be exposed to liability 
for the tort of deceit and the tort of negligence. However, both bases of liability are 
significantly restricted in application and impose very limited liability exposure for companies 
and directors. As established in Derry v Peek, a claim in deceit involving an inaccurate 
statement in a prospectus, must show that the maker of the statement knew the statement 
was inaccurate, that the statement was made to induce a person, or a class of persons, to 
enter into a transaction,

351
 and that the third party relied to his detriment on the inaccurate 

statement. 
 
 
 

 
Derry v Peek (1889) 14 App.Cas. 337 
 
Lord Herschell 
 

I think the authorities establish the following propositions: first, in order to sustain an 

action of deceit, there must be proof of fraud, and nothing short of that will suffice. 

Secondly, fraud is proved when it is shown that a false representation has been made 

(1) knowingly, or (2) without belief in its truth, or (3) recklessly careless whether it 

be true or false. Although I have treated the second and third as distinct cases, I think 

the third is but an instance of the second, for one who makes a statement under such 

circumstances can have no real belief in the truth of what he states. To prevent a false 

statement being fraudulent, there must, I think, always be an honest belief in its truth. 

And this probably covers the whole ground, for one who knowingly alleges that 

which is false, has obviously no such honest belief. Thirdly, if fraud be proved, the 

                                                 
350

  In the first seven years of the FRRP’s existence no disciplinary action was taken in 
relation to FRRP referrals. The first disciplinary action took place in 1999 in relation to 
FRRP referrals relating to Concentric, H&C Furnishings, and Stratagem - see S. 
Fearnley, T. Hines, K. McBride and R. Brandt, ‘The Problems and Politics of 
Regulatory Fragmentation: the Case of the Financial Reporting Review Panel and the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales’ (2000) 8 Journal of 
Financial Regulation and Compliance.  

 
351

  In the Court of Appeal in Derry v Peek Cotton LJ observed that ‘he is liable in an 
action of deceit at the suit of anyone to whom it was addressed or anyone of the class 
to whom it was addressed and who was materially induced by the misstatement to do 
an act to his prejudice’. Note that although the House of Lords overruled the Court of 
Appeal this was on the question of whether the belief had to be reasonable even if 
honestly held, which the House of Lords held it did not.  
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motive of the person guilty of it is immaterial. It matters not that there was no 

intention to cheat or injure the person to whom the statement was made… 

 

In my opinion making a false statement through want of care falls far short of, and is 

a very different thing from, fraud, and the same may be said of a false representation 

honestly believed though on insufficient grounds… But the whole current of 

authorities, with which I have so long detained your Lordships, shows to my mind 

conclusively that fraud is essential to found an action of deceit, and that it cannot be 

maintained where the acts proved cannot properly be so termed…  

 

At the same time I desire to say distinctly that when a false statement has been made 

the questions whether there were reasonable grounds for believing it, and what were 

the means of knowledge in the possession of the person making it, are most weighty 

matters for consideration. The ground upon which an alleged belief was founded is a 

most important test of its reality. I can conceive many cases where the fact that an 

alleged belief was destitute of all reasonable foundation would suffice of itself to 

convince the Court that it was not really entertained, and that the representation was a 

fraudulent one. So, too…if I thought that a person making a false statement had shut 

his eyes to the facts, or purposely abstained from inquiring into them, I should hold 

that honest belief was absent, and that he was just as fraudulent as if he had 

knowingly stated that which was false. 
 
Liability in the tort of deceit requires actual dishonesty or recklessness as to the truth of the 
statement. The unreasonableness of the statement may be relevant to the maker of the 
statement’s state of mind, but is not alone a basis of liability. In addition to the difficult burden 
of proving dishonesty, other components of the tort of deceit profoundly limit the tort’s 
deterrent effect. These include: first, that the tort does not apply in relation to the failure to 
make a statement ‘although a half truth will sometimes amount to a real falsehood’;

352
 

second, that the statement must be made to induce a person or class of persons to act in a 
particular way or enter into a transaction, which is a conceptually poor fit for periodic 
accounting and narrative disclosures that are not themselves – initially at least – required or 
made in relation to specific transactions. 
 
Liability for the company

353
 in tort for negligent misstatement is also subject to significant 

limitations. As we noted above when we considered auditor liability, the leading House of 
Lords case of Caparo Industries Plc v Dickman

354
 clarifies that liability for economic loss 

arising from negligent misstatement is limited to circumstances involving person and 
transaction specificity, where the maker of the statement is aware of both the person, or class 
of persons, using and relying upon that statement, and of the transaction or transaction type 
in relation to which the statement is relied upon. This would extend to investors relying on a 
prospectus to buy shares issued by the company (considered in further detail in Web Chapter 
B) but would not apply to secondary market activity in the company’s equity and debt 
securities.  Without the company’s knowledge and consent to the third-party investor relying 
on the financial information in relation to a specific transaction, the company would not be 
exposed to liability for negligent misstatement. Caparo also makes it clear that any duty owed 

                                                 
352

  Peek v Gurney (1861–73) ALL ER Rep 116 where Lord Chelmsford also observed 
that ‘mere concealment will not be sufficient to give a right of action to a person who, 
if the real facts had been known to him, would never have entered into the contract, 
but there must be something actively done to deceive him and draw him into deal with 
the person withholding the truth from him’. See also R v Kylsant [1931] All ER Rep 
179. 

 
353

  On the difficulty of establishing personal liability in negligence for the director see 
Chapter 4  141–144.  
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  [1990] BCLC 273. 
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to shareholders was one related to their stewardship of the company in general meeting not 
to their investment decisions and that this was based on the Companies Act’s view of the role 
of financial information.  As we have noted above, the focus of the Transparency Directive on 
investor protection has led some commentators

355
 to suggest that this alters the scope for 

liability as companies are now clearly aware that the information required by the Directive is to 
assist investors in their investment decisions. However, the Transparency Directive only alters 
the role of accounting information in relation to listed companies and, as we shall see below, 
the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 now excludes liability in tort for listed 
companies.  Given the court’s acute awareness of the policy concerns of extending the scope 
of liability for economic loss in tort, it is highly unlikely that the implementation of the 
Transparency Directive would have any effect on the contemporary courts’ willingness to 
revisit the holding in Caparo for non-listed companies.

356
 

 
Following amendment of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 to implement the EU’s 
Transparency Directive, section 90A and Schedule 10A of FSMA 2000

357
 replaces

358
 and 

addresses some of the limitations of the tort of deceit in relation to information published by 
companies (whether UK or Non-UK companies) that are admitted to trading on a UK 
securities market or by UK companies admitted to trading on a non-UK market.

359
 FSMA 

retains actual dishonesty or recklessness of the truth
360

 by ‘persons discharging managerial 
responsibilities’

361
 as the basis of liability, however, extends liability to omissions and does not 

have a requirement that the statement was made to a person or class of persons to induce an 
act or transaction. The company’s liability extends to any person who acquires securities in 
the company and suffers a loss as a result of the misleading statement or omission,

362
 

provided that such person reasonably relied on the statement or omission.
363

  
 
Importantly, the Act explicitly states that the issuer will not be liable in relation to the 
misstatements or omissions on any other basis.  This includes the torts of deceit and 
negligence. With regard to liability in the tort of negligence, Professor Davies in his Review of 
Issuer Liability viewed, correctly it is submitted, the exclusion of liability in negligence for the 

                                                 
355

  See extracts and commentary on pp [85] – [86]. 
 
356

  See further the discussion of this argument on [86-87] above.  
 
357

  Inserted by section 1270 CA 2006 and The Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 
(Liability of Issuers) Regulations 2010 (S.I. 2010/1192). 

 
358

  Schedule 10A[7] FSMA 2000.  
 
359

  Schedule 10A[1] FSMA 2000. 
 
360

  Schedule 10A[3(2) and (3)] FSMA 2000 requires that the person discharging 
managerial responsibilities either ‘knew the statement to be untrue or misleading or 
was reckless to whether it was untrue or misleading, or 'knew the omission to be a 
dishonest concealment of a material fact’. What amounts to knowledge or awareness 
of concealment raises interesting questions in the context of large organizations 
where information may have been provided to but not read in an unopened email or 
fully digested to understand the misleading nature of the disclosure. See further in 
this regard L. Burn, ‘Only connect—the importance of considering disclosure 
requirements in the light of their legal consequences’ (2007) 2 Capital Markets Law 
Journal 41. 

 
361

  Schedule 10A[8(5)] FSMA 2000 as a director ‘or a person occupying the position of a 
director, by whatever name called’, or a member where the company is managed by 
members, or, in the absence of directors or managerial members, senior executives.  

 
362

  Schedule 10A[3(1)] FSMA 2000. 
 
363

  Schedule 10A[3(4)] FSMA 2000. 
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issuer in Schedule 10A FSMA 2000 as confirming the position in Caparo vis a vis investors 
and shareholders who rely upon the periodic financial statements, but not altering the 
company’s liability in negligence where, following Caparo, the company makes such financial 
information available to a particular person or class of persons in relation to a specific 
transaction where it was understood that such persons would rely on such information.  
 
FSMA also provides that no other person, which clearly includes the directors and senior 
management, shall be liable with regard to the misstatement in or omission from the 
published information apart from in respect of any liability to the company.

364
 This appears not 

only to clarify that the liability imposed by section 90A and Schedule 10A does not apply to 
directors but also to exclude the possibility that the director could be liable in fraud or 
negligence to any person other than the company. However, the Act retains personal liability 
for the directors where, tracking the tort of negligence, that person assumes responsibility for 
the accuracy of the statement in relation to a particular purpose.

365
 As we observed in 

Chapter 4 in relation to Williams v Natural Health Foods Ltd
366

 the circumstances in which a 
director assumes such personal responsibility are likely to be very rare.  
 
With regard to director liability to the company, if the director’s role in the production of 
misleading disclosures or omissions falls below the standard of care set forth in section 174 of 
the Act, a director may be exposed to liability for breach of the duty of care.

367
  Furthermore, 

whilst a director who dishonestly allows for the disclosure of misleading information or 
omissions will not be liable in the tort of deceit to the company - as the company itself has not 
been fraudulently induced to enter into a transaction - the 2006 Act imposes liability on the 
director where, pursuant to section 463 of the Act, the company suffers a loss as a result of 
any untrue or misleading statement or omission contained in either the directors’ report or the 
directors’ remuneration report – that is only in relation to the company’s narrative reporting 
obligations - that the director knew was untrue or was dishonestly concealed.  Similar to 
section Schedule 10A of FSMA 2000, section 463 excludes liability to any third party in 
relation to misstatements or omissions in these narrative reports.

368
 By way of contrast with 

Schedule 10A it does not however contain a carve out for civil liability for a person who 
assumes responsibility for the accuracy of the statement in relation to a particular purpose. 
 
Note, however, in relation to director liability to the company for breach of duty that the case 
of Moore Stephens v Stone & Rolls

369
  has cast a shadow of uncertainty over the extent to 

which a company can sue its own directors for breach of duty where that breach involved 
fraudulent conduct. The reason for this is that the rule ex turpi causa non oritur provides a 
defence to a claim where the claim is based on the claimant’s own fraudulent actions. 
Accordingly, if this rule is applicable and the fraud is attributed

370
 to the company then the 

company cannot sue the director. In Moore Stephens the court held that the ex turpi rule 
applied to prevent suit against an auditor where the company was a ‘one-man’ company. It 
appears that the majority would also view the rule as applicable in relation to suit against a 
fraudulent director in such a company but that the rule would most likely not be applicable 
where there were shareholders in the company that were not complicit in the fraud. With 
regard to the applicable rule of attribution in fraud the court in Moore Stephens was clearly of 

                                                 
364

  Schedule 10A[7(2)] FSMA 2000. 
 
365

  Schedule 10A[7(3)(a)(v)] FSMA 2000. 
 
366

  [1998] 2 All ER 577 
 
367

  For a more detailed discussion of the duty of care, as well as how mechanisms such 
as D&O insurance and the courts discretion to reduce liability pursuant to section 
1157 CA 2006 alleviate that exposure, see Chapter 12. 

 
368

  Section 463(4) CA 2006.  
 
369

  [2009] 2 BCLC 563. 
 
370

  On rules of attribution see Chapter 4. 
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the view that the identification doctrine – the directing mind and will – is the applicable general 
rule of attribution.  
 

 


